THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION. If you are in any doubt about the
contents of this document or the action you should take, you are recommended to seek your own financial advice immediately
from an appropriately authorised stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant or other independent financial adviser who,
if you are taking advice in the United Kingdom, is duly authorised under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (“FSMA”).
This document comprises a prospectus relating to Upland Resources Limited (the “Company”) prepared in accordance with
the Prospectus Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority (the “FCA”) made under section 73A of FSMA and approved by the
FCA under section 87A of FSMA. This document has been filed with the FCA and made available to the public in accordance
with Rule 3.2 of the Prospectus Rules.

LR 2.2.10(2) (a)

All of the existing issued shares of no par value in the Company (the “Existing Ordinary Shares”) are at the date of this document
admitted to the Official List of the UK Listing Authority (the “Official List”) by way of a standard listing under Chapter 14 of the
listing rules published by the UK Listing Authority under section 73A of FSMA as amended from time to time (the “Listing Rules”)
and to trading on the main market of London Stock Exchange plc (the “London Stock Exchange”) for listed securities.
Applications will be made to the UKLA and to the London Stock Exchange for all the new Ordinary Shares proposed to be
issued on completion of the Placing described in this document (the “Placing Shares”) to be admitted to listing on the standard
listing segment of the Official List and to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s main market for listed securities (together
“Admission”). It is expected that Admission will become effective, and that dealings in the Placing Shares will commence, at
8.00 a.m. on 21 June 2018.
Applications will also be made to the UKLA and to the London Stock Exchange for any new Ordinary Shares issued on
conversion of any Convertible Loan Notes which may be issued as described in this document (the “Conversion Shares”) to
be admitted to listing on the standard listing segment of the Official List and to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s main
market for listed securities.
The whole of the text of this document should be read by prospective investors. Your attention is specifically drawn to the
discussion of certain risks and other factors that should be considered in connection with an investment in the Ordinary Shares,
as set out in the section entitled ‘Risk Factors’ beginning on page 13 of this document.
The Directors, whose names appear on page 34, and the Company accept responsibility for the information contained in this
document. To the best of the knowledge of the Directors and the Company (who have taken all reasonable care to ensure that
such is the case), the information contained in this document is in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely
to affect its import.

UPLAND RESOURCES LIMITED
(Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands in accordance with the laws of the British Virgin Islands with company no. 1701436)

Proposed Placing of 120,000,000 Placing Shares
at 2.5p per Placing Share
Potential Issue of New Ordinary Shares on Conversion of Convertible Loan
Notes
Financial Adviser, Broker & Placing Agent

OPTIVA SECURITIES LIMITED
This document does not constitute an offer to sell or an invitation to subscribe for, or the solicitation of an offer or invitation to
buy or subscribe for, Ordinary Shares in any jurisdiction where such an offer or solicitation is unlawful or would impose any
unfulfilled registration, publication or approval requirements on the Company.
Applications will be made for the Placing Shares and also, in due course, any Conversion Shares to be admitted to listing on
the standard listing segment of the Official List. A Standard Listing will afford investors in the Company a lower level of regulatory
protection than that afforded to investors in companies with Premium Listings on the Official List, which are subject to additional
obligations under the Listing Rules.
The Ordinary Shares have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities
Act”), or the securities laws of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States or under applicable securities laws of Australia,
Canada or Japan. Subject to certain exceptions, the Ordinary Shares may not be, offered, sold, resold, transferred or distributed,
directly or indirectly, within, into or in the United States or to or for the account or benefit of persons in the United States, Australia,
Canada, Japan or any other jurisdiction where such offer or sale would violate the relevant securities laws of such jurisdiction.
The Ordinary Shares have not been approved or disapproved by the US Securities Exchange Commission, any State securities
commission in the United States or any other US regulatory authority, nor have any of the foregoing authorities passed comment
upon or endorsed the merits of the Placing or adequacy of this document. Any representations to the contrary is a criminal
offence in the United States.
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PART I
SUMMARY
Summaries are made up of disclosure requirements known as ‘Elements’. These elements are numbered
in Sections A – E (A.1 – E.7).
This summary contains all the Elements required to be included in a summary for this type of securities and
Issuer. Because some Elements are not required to be addressed, there may be gaps in the numbering
sequence of the Elements.
Even though an Element may be required to be inserted in the summary because of the type of securities
and Issuer, it is possible that no relevant information can be given regarding the Element. In this case a short
description of the Element is included in the summary with the mention of ‘not applicable’.

Section A – Introduction and warnings
A.1

Warning to
investors

This summary should be read as an introduction to this document.
Any decision to invest in the Ordinary Shares should be based on
consideration of this document as a whole by the investor.

Annex XXII
(Annex I)
A.1

Where a claim relating to the information contained in this document is
brought before a court the plaintiff investor might, under the national
legislation of the EEA States, have to bear the costs of translating this
document before legal proceedings are initiated.
Civil liability attaches only to those persons who have tabled this summary
including any translation thereof but only if this summary is misleading,
inaccurate or inconsistent when read together with the other parts of this
document or it does not provide, when read together with the other parts
of this document, key information in order to aid investors when
considering whether to invest in such securities.
A.2

Consent for
intermediaries

Not applicable; no consent has been given by the Company or the
Directors, who are the persons responsible for drawing up this document,
to the use of this document for subsequent resale or final placement of
securities by financial intermediaries.

Annex XXII
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Section B – the Issuer
B.1

Legal and
The legal and commercial name of the issuer is Upland Resources
commercial name Limited.

Annex XXII
(Annex I)
B.1

B.2

Domicile and
legal form

The Company was incorporated with limited liability on 14 March 2012
in the BVI under the BVI Companies Act with an indefinite life.

Annex XXII
(Annex I)
B.2

B.3

Current
operations/
Principal activities
and markets

The Company was formed for the purpose of acquiring target
companies, businesses or assets which have operations in the oil & gas
exploration and production sector which the Company will then look to
develop and expand. It may also apply to the relevant governmental
authorities for licences or permits to explore, appraise and/or develop oil
& gas assets. It is not intended that the Company simply acquire minority
stakes in entities operating in the oil & gas sector, but that it acquires and
actively manages oil & gas assets/businesses.
As announced by the OGA on 6 October 2016, the Company’s
wholly-owned subsidiary, Upland UK, together with INEOS Upstream (as
operator), Europa Oil & Gas and Shale Petroleum (UK) Limited, entered into
a petroleum exploration and development licence (“PEDL”) with The
Secretary of State for Energy and Climate Change in respect of Block SK46c
(including parts of Hardstoft Field) in the UK. Upland UK’s participating
3

interest in Block SK46c is 25%. This was the first acquisition in the execution
of the Company’s business plan.
On 29 November 2017, Upland UK entered into the Wick Farm-in
Agreement for the farm-in by Upland UK (by way of assignment from
Corallian Energy) to a 40% interest in UK Offshore Production Licence
P2235. Completion of the Wick Farm-in Agreement took place on
24 May 2018.
On 25 January 2018, following the rejection of various planning appeals,
Upland UK terminated the Wressle Farm-in Agreement - originally entered
into on 24 November 2016 (as varied on 21 February 2017 and then
again on 26 September 2017) and Upland UK’s potential acquisition (by
way of assignment from Europa Oil & Gas) of a 10% interest in each of
PEDL 180 and PEDL 182. As a result of such termination, Upland UK’s
deposit of £160,000 was repaid to it on 25 January 2018.
The Company (including subsequently acquired or incorporated
subsidiaries) will form a trading business/group, rather than an investment
entity. The Company intends to grow this operational oil & gas exploration
and production business both organically and by acquisition. The
Company aims to achieve its objective through the identification and
acquisition of assets, companies or businesses where the existing
owners are attracted to the Company’s proposition, namely the
opportunity to sell for cash or accept undertakings to finance and carry
out work commitments or hold an ownership interest in a company
whose equity securities are listed on the London Stock Exchange, with
cash, access to capital markets and the ‘know-how’ to unlock the value
of their acquired oil & gas assets.
The Company intends to focus on acquiring assets, companies or
businesses where value is trapped by virtue of a lack of capital, technical
expertise or management focus. The Directors believe such trapped
value may often occur in family-controlled businesses and small
companies or where the business or assets are considered to be
non-core by a larger natural resources company.
In terms of geography, the Company will not limit its efforts to identify a
target company, business or assets to any particular geographic regions,
although it is currently looking at onshore opportunities primarily in the
UK, as well as currently appraising additional opportunities in North Africa
and the Far East.
Unless required by applicable law or other regulatory process, no
Shareholder approval will be sought by the Company in relation to any
Acquisition.
The Directors will draw on their experience, in conjunction with their
contacts and advisers, to target suitable Acquisition candidates in the oil
& gas sector.
B.4

Significant trends

The Directors believe that increasing global industrialisation and
urbanisation, particularly in emerging African and Asian markets, plus
increased concern about security of energy supply in some developed
economies is likely to lead to increased local demand for energy
production in the medium to long term. Over the same period, the
Directors believe that the supply of oil and gas in these markets will be
constrained by insufficient investment to keep pace with increased
demand and by exploration and development challenges, which are likely
in each case to generate sustained inflation in commodity pricing.
However, the world has recently experienced an oversupply of oil and
gas that led to a sharp fall in the price of these commodities. Prices have
subsequently recovered somewhat and stabilised.
4

B.5

Group structure

The Company is the holding company for the Group and currently has
three wholly-owned direct subsidiaries and two wholly-owned indirect
subsidiaries.

B.6

Major
shareholders

At the date of this document, the Company has an aggregate of
459,012,060 Ordinary Shares in issue and the following shareholders had
interests in 5% or more of the Company’s existing issued share capital
and immediately following completion of the Placing and Admission, it is
anticipated that the following shareholders will have interests in 5% or
more of the Company’s enlarged issued share capital:-

Shareholder

No. of Percentage of
Ordinary issued ordinary
Shares
share capital
as at
as at
15 June 2018 15 June 2018

Norza Zakaria
120,074,474
Tune Assets Limited
74,579,604
Optiva Securities Limited 34,382,460

B.7

Selected
historical key
financial
information

26.16%
16.25%
7.49%

Percentage of
Percentage of issued ordinary
ordinary shares
share capital
following
following
completion of completion of
the Placing/on the Placing/on
Admission
Admission
120,074,474
74,579,604
34,382,460
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Annex I
18.1
Annex III
5.2.2

20.74%
12.88%
5.94%

The selected historical financial information set out below, which has
been prepared under IFRS, has been extracted without material
adjustment from the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the 3 financial years ended 30 June 2015, 30 June 2016 and
30 June 2017 and the unaudited financial information for the six month
financial periods to 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2017:CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at
30 June
2017
(audited)
£

Assets

Current assets
Debtors
173,542
Cash and cash equivalents 2,250,872
–––––––––
Total Assets
2,424,414
–––––––––
–––––––––
Equity and Liabilities
Share premium
3,751,831
Retained earnings
(1,418,437)
–––––––––
Total Equity
2,333,394
–––––––––
–––––––––
Current Liabilities
Other payables
91,020
–––––––––
Total Equity and
Liabilities
2,424,414
–––––––––
–––––––––

As at
30 June
2016
(audited)
£

As at
As at 31
As at 31
30 June December December
2015
2017
2016
(audited) (unaudited) (unaudited)
£
£
£

1,923
642
178,245 1,100,332
1,039,352
134,184 1,956,057 1,601,318
––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
1,041,275
134,826 2,134,302 2,701,650
––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– –––––––––
–––––––––
–––––––––
1,627,201
392,201 3,751,831 3,744,831
(670,199) (296,783) (1,756,276) (1,086,641)
––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
957,002
95,418 1,995,555 2,658,190
––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– –––––––––
–––––––––
–––––––––
84,273
39,408
138,747
43,460
––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
1,041,275
134,826 2,134,302 2,701,650
––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– –––––––––
–––––––––
–––––––––

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
6 months
Year ended Year ended Year ended ended 31
30 June
30 June
30 June December
2017
2016
2015
2017
(audited)
(audited)
(audited) (unaudited)
£
£
£
£
Revenues
Administrative expenses
Operating Loss
Loss before taxation
Taxation
Loss for the financial year
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6 months
ended 31
December
2016
(unaudited)
£

(763,657) (420,566) (221,069) (337,839) (416,442)
(763,657) (420,566) (221,069) (337,839) (416,442)
(763,657) (420,566) (221,069) (337,839) (416,442)
–
–
–
–
–
––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
(763,657) (420,566) (221,069) (337,839) (416,442)
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6 months
Year ended Year ended Year ended ended 31
30 June
30 June
30 June December
2017
2016
2015
2017
(audited)
(audited)
(audited) (unaudited)
£
£
£
£
Profit/(loss)
attributable to:
Owners of the
parent company
Total comprehensive
income attributable to:
Owners of the
parent company

(763,657)

(420,566)

(221,069)

(337,839)

6 months
ended 31
December
2016
(unaudited)
£

(416,442)

(763,657) (420,566) (221,069) (337,839) (416,442)
––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– –––––––––
–––––––––
–––––––––

The following historic events are considered to be the sole significant
changes in the financial condition or operating results of the Company
during the three year period of financial information presented above:In the year ended 30 June 2015, the Company incurred and expensed
costs on account of the proposed admission of the Company’s share
capital to listing on the UKLA’s Official List (standard listing segment)
totalling £48,695.
In the year ended 30 June 2016, the Company’s share capital was
admitted to listing on the UKLA’s Official List (standard listing segment)
and raised £1,235,000 net of placing fees and incurred and expensed
£98,291 in respect of that listing.
In the year ended 30 June 2017, the Company issued additional shares
and raised £2,117,630 net of placing fees and incurred and expensed
£227,880 in respect of that placement.
In the year ended 30 June 2017, Directors’ fees charged and expensed
totalled £249,271 (£162,902 in the year ended 30 June 2016; £84,000 in
the year ended 30 June 2015).
There has been no significant change in the financial condition or
operating results of the Company subsequent to the three year period
ended 30 June 2017.
On 25 January 2018, following the rejection of various planning appeals,
Upland UK terminated the Wressle Farm-in Agreement and Upland UK’s
potential acquisition (by way of assignment from Europa Oil & Gas) of a
10% interest in each of PEDL 180 and PEDL 182. As a result of such
termination, Upland UK’s deposit of £160,000 was repaid to it on
25 January 2018.
On 31 January 2018, the Company agreed to the subscription of
74,074,074 new shares of no par value in the Company with Tune Assets
Limited at 1.35p per share to raise £1,000,000. These funds, when
combined with the Company’s existing cash reserve will be used to part
fund the obligations of Upland UK under the Wick Farm-in Agreement.
On 7 March 2018, the Company received (and accepted) commitments,
from private and institutional investors to subscribe for £3,500,000
principal of unsecured, interest-free convertible loan notes (with the final
repayment date for any convertible loan notes which may, at the election
of the Company, be issued to such investors being 30 June 2020). The
Company elected to satisfy the aggregate initial commitment fee of
£105,000 as to £40,000 by the issue of an aggregate 1,769,355 new
shares in the Company and as to £65,000 in cash.
On 24 May 2018, Upland UK completed the Wick Farm-in Agreement
for the farm-in by Upland UK (by way of assignment from Corallian Energy)
to a 40% interest in UK Offshore Production Licence P2235.
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B.8

Selected key pro
forma financial
information

The tables below sets out pro forma financial information for the Group
for the period ended 31 December 2017:UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED PRO FORMA STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

Historical
unadjusted Pro forma
Pro form
amounts adjustment adjustment as at 31
- ‘Wick Convertible
December
Farm-in Loan Note
2017 Agreement’
Facility
£
£
£
Current
assets
Debtors
Cash and cash
equivalents

178,245

Total assets

Current
Liabilities
Other payables
Non-current
liabilities
Loan notes
Total equity
and liabilities

Pro forma
net assets
as at 31
December
2017
£

–

–

–

178,245

1,956,057 (2,517,460) 3,398,739
––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
2,134,302 (2,517,460) 3,398,739
––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– –––––––––
–––––––––
–––––––––

2,664,500
–––––––––
2,664,500
–––––––––
–––––––––

975,080
–––––––––
975,080
–––––––––
–––––––––

6,476,916
–––––––––
6,655,161
–––––––––
–––––––––

3,000,000

1,000,000

7,791,836

(2,517,460)
(141,266)
(335,500)
(24,920)
––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
(2,517,460)
(101,261) 2,664,500
975,080
––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– –––––––––
–––––––––
–––––––––

(4,775,422)
–––––––––
3,016,414
–––––––––
–––––––––

Equity and
liabilities
Share premium 3,751,831
Retained
earnings
(1,756,276)
–––––––––
Total Equity
1,995,555
–––––––––
–––––––––

–

Pro forma
Pro forma adjustment adjustment Subscription
- funds
shares
raised at
issued to
Placing,
Tune
net of
Assets
costs
Limited
£
£

–

40,005

138,747

–

–

–

–

138,747

–
–––––––––

–
–––––––––

3,500,000
–––––––––

–
–––––––––

–
–––––––––

3,500,000
–––––––––

2,134,302 (2,517,460) 3,398,739

2,664,500

975,080

6,655,161

––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– –––––––––
–––––––––
–––––––––

UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED PRO FORMA PROFIT AND LOSS
ACCOUNT

Revenues
Administrative
expenses
Operating loss
Loss before
tax
Taxation

Pro forma
Historical
Pro forma adjustment unadjusted
adjustment Subscription
amounts for Pro forma
Pro form
- funds
shares
6 months adjustment adjustment raised at
issued to
to 31
- ‘Wick Convertible
Placing,
Tune
December
Farm-in Loan Note
net of
Assets
2017 Agreement’
Facility
costs
Limited
£
£
£
£
£
–
–
–
–
–

Loss for the
financial year
Total
comprehensive
income
attributable to:
Owners of the
parent company

(337,839) (2,517,460)
(337,839) (2,517,460)

(141,266)
(141,266)

(335,500)
(335,500)

Pro-forma
for the
6 months
to 31
December
2017
£
–

(24,920) (3,356,985)
(24,920) (3,356,985)

(337,839) (2,517,460)
(141,266)
(335,500)
(24,920) (3,356,985)
–
–
–
–
–
–
––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– –––––––––
(337,839) (2,517,460)
(141,266)
(335,500)
(24,920) (3,356,985)
––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– –––––––––
–––––––––
–––––––––

(337,839) (2,517,460)

(141,266)

(335,500)

(24,920) (3,356,985)

––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– –––––––––
––––––––– –––––––––
–––––––––
–––––––––
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Basis of preparation
The pro forma financial information is prepared in a manner consistent
with the accounting policies adopted by the Company in preparing the
interim results for the six month period to 31 December 2017, which
are consistent with the policies adopted in the financial statements for
the year ended 30 June 2017.
Pro forma adjustments
The gross funds to be raised by the Placing are £3,000,000, subject to
the deduction of estimated fees and expenses of £335,500.
The costs of the Placing will not have a continuing effect.
In addition to the effect of the Placing, the pro forma statement has also
been adjusted for:1.

the acquisition of a 40% interest in UK seaward production licence
P2235 pursuant to the Wick Farm-in Agreement, resulting in costs
of £2,517,460;

2.

the acceptance of £3,500,000 unsecured interest-free convertible
loan notes and associated costs of £141,266; and

3.

the issue of 74,074,074 new shares of no par value in the Company
to Tune Assets Limited at 1.35p per share to raise £1,000,000.

The unaudited consolidated pro forma statement of financial position set
out above has been prepared in a manner consistent with the accounting
policies adopted by the Company in preparing the interim results for the
six month period to 31 December 2017, the financial statements for the
year ended 30 June 2017 and in accordance with the requirements of
item 20.2 of Annex I and items 1 to 6 of Annex II of the Prospectus Rules
to illustrate the impact of the Placing on the net assets of the Group as
if the Placing had taken place on 31 December 2017.
The unaudited pro forma financial information, which has been prepared
for illustrative purposes only, by its nature addresses a hypothetical
situation and, therefore, does not represent the Group’s actual financial
results or position. Furthermore, the unaudited pro forma financial
information does not purport to represent what the Group’s financial
results or position actually would have been if the Placing had been
completed on the dates indicated.
B.9

Profit forecast or
estimate

Not applicable; no profit forecast or estimate is made.

B.10

Qualified audit
report

Not applicable; the audit reports on the historical financial information of
the Group do not contain any qualification.

B.11

Insufficient
working capital

Not applicable; the Group’s working capital, taking into account the
estimated Net Placing Proceeds and the Company’s existing resources
including cash held/cash resources and funding arrangements, is
sufficient for the Group’s present requirements, that is for at least the
12 months from the date of this document.
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Section C – Securities
C.1

Description of the The securities subject to Admission are the Placing Shares, all being
type and the class Ordinary Shares. The Ordinary Shares are registered with ISIN number
VGG7552A1075 and SEDOL number BYZFL59.
of the securities
being offered
The LEI of the Company is 213800MRG7ISJEK8YA38.

Annex XXIII
(Annex III)
C.1

C.2

Currency of the
securities issue

Annex XXII
(Annex III)
C.2

The Ordinary Shares are shares of no par value.
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C.3

Issued share
capital

459,012,060 Ordinary Shares have been issued at the date of this
document.

Annex XXII
(Annex I) C.3 &
Annex XXII
(Annex III) C.3

As at Admission, there will be 579,012,060 Ordinary Shares in issue.
C.4

Rights attached
to the securities

Shareholders will have the right to receive notice of and to attend and vote
at any meetings of Shareholders. Each Shareholder entitled to attend and
being present in person or by proxy at a meeting will, upon a show of
hands, have one vote and upon a poll each such Shareholder present in
person or by proxy will have one vote for each Ordinary Share held by him.

Annex XXII
(Annex I) C.4
(Annex III) C.4

In the case of joint holders of an Ordinary Share, if two or more persons
hold an Ordinary Share jointly either of them may be present in person or
by proxy at a meeting of Shareholders and may speak on behalf of all joint
owners as a Shareholder, and if two or more joint holders are present at
a meeting of Shareholders, in person or by proxy, they must vote as one.
The pre-emption rights contained in the Articles in relation to issues of
‘Equity Securities’ (as defined in section 560(1) of the UK Companies Act
2006) have been waived by a special resolution of the shareholders of
the Company passed at the Annual General Meeting of the Company
held on 14 December 2017 (i) for rights/pre-emptive issues to existing
shareholders pro rata to existing shareholdings, but which may not
comply in all respects with the requirements of the Articles regarding
pre-emptive offers to existing shareholders, up to an aggregate number
equal to 200% of the aggregate number of Equity Securities in issue on
the date of passing of the resolution (383,168,631 Ordinary Shares) and
(ii) for other purposes, up to an aggregate number equal to 200% of the
aggregate number of Equity Securities in issue on the date of passing of
the resolution (383,168,631 Ordinary Shares), on the basis that
Regulation 3 of the Articles was waived in respect of all and any such
allotments and issues of Equity Securities and on the basis that such
waivers continue until the earlier of the fifth anniversary of the passing of
the resolution or the 2022 Annual General Meeting of the Company
(subject as provided in such resolution).
Otherwise, Shareholders will have pre-emption rights which will generally
apply in respect of future share issues for cash. No pre-emption rights
exist in respect of future share issues wholly or partly other than for cash
and the Directors were expressly authorised by a special resolution of
shareholders of the Company passed at the Annual General Meeting of
the Company held on 14 December 2017 to allot Ordinary Shares for the
purposes of or in connection with any Acquisition (including in respect of
consideration payable for an Acquisition) or in connection with the
restructuring of any debt or other financial obligation relating to any
Acquisition (whether assumed or entered into by the Company or owed
or guaranteed by any company or entity acquired).
Subject to the BVI Companies Act, each Ordinary Shares confers on the
holder the right to an equal share in the distribution of the surplus assets
of the Company.
Unless required by applicable law or other regulatory process, no
Shareholder approval will be sought by the Company in relation to any
Acquisition.
C.5

Restrictions on
transferability

Subject to the BVI Companies Act and the Articles, any member may
transfer all or any of his certificated shares by an instrument of transfer
signed by the transferor and containing the name and address of the
transferee. The Directors may permit such shares or interests in shares
held in uncertificated form to be transferred by means of a relevant
system of holding and transferring shares (or interests in shares) in
uncertificated form.
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C.6

Application for
admission to
trading on a
regulated market

Applications will be made to the UKLA and to the London Stock
Exchange for the Placing Shares to be admitted to a Standard Listing on
the Official List and to trading on the LSE’s Main Market respectively. It is
expected that Admission will become effective and that dealings in the
Placing Shares will commence at 8.00 a.m. on 21 June 2018.
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Applications will also be made in due course to the UKLA and to the
London Stock Exchange for any Conversion Shares to be admitted to a
Standard Listing on the Official List and to trading on the LSE’s Main
Market respectively.
C.7

Dividend policy

The Company does not anticipate declaring any dividends in the
foreseeable future. The Company will only pay dividends to the extent
that to do so is in accordance with the BVI Companies Act and all other
applicable laws.
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Section D – Risks
D.1

Key information
on the key risks
that are specific
to the issuer or
its industry

Business Strategy
l
The Company has made only initial acquisitions in pursuit of its
strategy.
l

There may be significant competition in some or all of the acquisition
opportunities that the Company may explore, which may cause the
Company to be unsuccessful in executing any Acquisition or may
result in a successful Acquisition being made at a significantly higher
price than would otherwise have been the case.

The Company’s relationship with the Directors, and conflicts of interest
l
The Company is dependent on the Directors to identify potential
acquisition opportunities and to execute any Acquisition and the
loss of the services of the Directors (in particular, the Executive
Director) could materially adversely affect it.
l

At the date of this document, each of the Directors has other private
interests and duties, which include, in the case of Stephen Staley,
directorships of other upstream oil & gas companies. These other
interests and duties of the Directors do not give rise to any conflict
of interest, but could have a negative impact on the Company’s
ability to achieve its business strategy.

Oil & Gas Sector
l
The oil & gas sector is subject to commodity price fluctuations,
which may adversely impact the results of operations, financial
conditions and prospects of the Company following any Acquisition
l

Failure to discover new reserves, enhance existing reserves or
adequately develop new projects could adversely affect the
Company’s business following any Acquisition

l

The Company may be unable to obtain or renew required drilling or
mining rights and concessions, licences, permits and other
authorisations and/or such concessions, rights, licences, permits
and other authorisations may be suspended, terminated or revoked
prior to their expiration

l

Drilling operations are vulnerable to natural disasters, operating
difficulties and damage to or breakdown of a physical asset, any of
which could have a material impact on the productivity of the
operations and not all of which may be covered by insurance

l

Exploration, development and production activities are capital
intensive and inherently uncertain in their outcome.
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D.3

Key information
on the key risks
that are specific
to the securities

l

The Company may be subject to risks particular to one or more
countries in which it ultimately operates (following any Acquisition),
including regulatory compliance risks and foreign investment and
exchange risks

l

Following the referendum in the UK on 23 June 2016 which resulted
in a vote to leave the European Union, the Group faces risks
associated with both the potential uncertainty during the period
following the referendum and also the consequences that may flow

l

The Group’s business , operations and financial condition could also
be adversely affected by the future independence of Scotland,
especially as, following completion of the Wick Farm-in Agreement,
Upland UK has become a co-licensee under UK Offshore
Production Licence 2235 and the reserves under which Licence lie
in Scottish waters

The Ordinary Shares
l
The Standard Listing of the Ordinary Shares affords investors a
lower level of regulatory protection than that afforded to investors
in a company with a Premium Listing, which is subject to additional
obligations under the Listing Rules which may have an adverse
effect on the valuation of the Ordinary Shares.
l

The Standard Listing of the Ordinary Shares will not afford
Shareholders the opportunity to vote to approve any Acquisition
(including any Acquisition which constitutes a Reverse Takeover).

l

If any Acquisition constitutes a Reverse Takeover, a suspension or
cancellation of the Company’s Ordinary Shares, as a result of the
UKLA determining that there is insufficient information in the market
about the target company, business or assets the subject of the
Reverse Takeover, would materially reduce liquidity in such shares,
which may affect an investor’s ability to realise some or all of its
investment and/or the price at which such investor can effect such
realisation. In the event of such suspension or cancellation, the value
of the investors’ shareholdings may be materially reduced.

l

It may be necessary for the Company to apply for re-admission of
the Company’s Ordinary Shares following completion of any
Acquisition which constitutes a Reverse Takeover. A cancellation of
the listing of the Company’s Ordinary Shares by the UKLA would
prevent the Company from raising equity finance on the public
market, or to carry out any further acquisition using share
consideration, restricting its business activities and resulting in
incurring unnecessary costs.
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Section E – Offer
E.1

E.2a

Total net
proceeds/
expenses

The Net Placing Proceeds are approximately £2,664,500. The total
expenses incurred (or to be incurred) by the Company in connection with
the Placing and Admission are approximately £335,500. None of such
expenses will be charged to investors.

Reasons for the
offer and use of
proceeds

The Company’s intention is to use the Net Placing Proceeds (estimated
to be approximately £2,664,500) to provide funds to Upland UK’s to
enable it to meet its obligations as a licensee under UK Offshore
Production Licence P2235 following completion of the Wick Farm-in
Agreement on 24 May 2018, the fees and expenses of the Wick Farmin Agreement, the Placing and Admission (including the preparation of
this document) and Upland UK’s share of the capital costs of future
exploration, appraisal and development of PEDL 299, of sourcing,
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reviewing and pursuing Acquisition opportunities and for the Group’s
ongoing working capital purposes.
The Company’s use of the Net Placing Proceeds in approximate order
of priority is as follows:Use
Costs of the Placing:
Past costs on Licence P2235:
Ongoing Licence P2235 permit costs:
Wick environmental survey:
Wick well:
PEDL 299 seismic & well preparation:
Working capital & further Acquisitions:

Amount
£335,500
£17,600
£10,000/quarter
£106,660
£2,373,200
£66,300
£1,500,000

The Placing will only be completed if the full £3,000,000 (gross) is raised.
E.3

Terms and
conditions of the
offer

Each of the Placees has been offered Placing Shares at the Placing Price
of 2.5p in cash per Placing Share and has conditionally subscribed for
such Placing Shares by signing a Placing Letter with the Company.

Annex XXII
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Placing Letters signed by Placees have been received by the Company
in respect of 120,000,000 Placing Shares. All subscriptions for Placing
Shares are conditional on, inter alia, Admission.
The Placing is being carried out principally to provide Upland UK with
funds to enable it to meet its obligations as a licensee under UK Offshore
Production Licence P2235 following completion of the Wick Farm-in
Agreement on 24 May 2018.
E.4

Material interests

Not applicable; there is no interest that is material to the Placing.

E.5

Selling
Shareholders/
Lock-up
agreements

XXII
Not applicable; no person or entity is offering to sell the relevant Annex
(Annex III) E.5
Annex III 7.3
securities.

Annex XXII
(Annex III)
E.4

The 1,769,355 Ordinary Shares issued on 20 March 2018 in partial
satisfaction of the commitment fee payable to certain investors who have
committed to subscribe for £3,500,000 principal of unsecured,
interest-free Convertible Loan Notes (if, as and when called upon by the
Company to do so) are subject to lock-in arrangements whereby such
investors have agreed not to transfer or agree to transfer any interest in
any of such Ordinary Shares (or any shares derived from such Ordinary
Shares) during the period of 6 months following the date of their issue,
without the consent of the Company.
Any Ordinary Shares issued on conversion of any Convertible Loan Notes
will be subject to the same lock-in arrangements during the period of
6 months following the date of their issue.

E.6

Dilution

Upon completion of the Placing, the Placing Shares will represent
approximately 20.72 per cent. of the Enlarged Share Capital of the
Company.

Annex XXII
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E.7

Expenses
charged to
investors

Not applicable; no expenses will be charged to investors.
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PART II
RISK FACTORS
Investment in the Company and the Ordinary Shares carries a significant degree of risk, including risks
in relation to the Company’s business strategy, risks relating to taxation and risks relating to the
Ordinary Shares.
Prospective investors should note that the risks relating to the Company, its industry and the Ordinary Shares
summarised in the section of this document headed ‘Summary’ are the risks that the Directors believe to
be the most essential to an assessment by a prospective investor of whether to consider an investment in
the Ordinary Shares. However, as the risks which the Company faces relate to events and depend on
circumstances that may or may not occur in the future, prospective investors should consider not only the
information on the key risks summarised in the section of this document headed ‘Summary’ but also,
inter alia, the risks and uncertainties described below.
The risks referred to below are those risks the Company and the Directors consider to be the material risks
relating to the Company. However, there may be additional risks that the Company and the Directors do
not currently consider to be material or of which the Company and the Directors are not currently aware
that may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects.
Investors should review this document carefully and in its entirety and consult with their professional advisers
before acquiring any Ordinary Shares. If any of the risks referred to in this document were to occur, the
results of operations, financial condition and prospects of the Company could be materially adversely
affected. If that were to be the case, the trading price of the Ordinary Shares and/or the level of dividends
or distributions (if any) received from the Ordinary Shares could decline significantly. Further, investors could
lose all or part of their investment.

RISKS RELATING TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS STRATEGY
The Company has made only initial acquisitions in pursuit of its strategy
The Company has made only initial acquisitions in pursuit of its strategy and it is therefore difficult for investors
to evaluate the Company’s ability to achieve its objective of identifying, acquiring and operating assets,
companies and/or businesses in the oil & gas sector (including licences or permits or a company or business
in such sector). Apart from the Group’s participating interests in PEDL 299 (Hardstoft Field) and in
UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 (Wick), there are no binding arrangements or understandings for
the acquisition of any such asset and the Company may acquire a target asset, company or business in the
oil & gas sector which does not meet the Company’s stated acquisition criteria.
Although the Company seeks to evaluate the risks inherent in a particular target asset, company or business
in the oil & gas sector (including the geographic region(s) to which it relates or in which it operates), it cannot
offer any assurance that it will make a proper discovery or assessment of all of the significant risks.
Furthermore, no assurance may be made that an investment in Ordinary Shares will ultimately prove to be
more favourable to investors than a direct investment, if such opportunity were available, in any target asset,
company or business. Because the Company does not expect that Shareholder approval will be required
in connection with any Acquisition (and will not seek any such Shareholder approval), investors will be relying
on the Company’s and the Directors’ ability to identify potential target assets, companies or businesses,
evaluate their merits, conduct or monitor due diligence and conduct negotiations.
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has to date been a co-licensee in any producing oil & gas
venture and so has no corporate experience of dealing with the issues that may arise from the same. These
include, inter alia, drilling technical problems and cost overruns.

There is no assurance that the Company will identify and complete suitable acquisition
opportunities in a timely manner or at all which could result in a loss on an investor’s investment
If the Company fails to complete a proposed acquisition (for example, because it has been outbid by a
competitor), it may be left with substantial unrecovered transaction costs, potentially including fees, legal
costs, accounting costs, due diligence or other expenses. Furthermore, even if an agreement is reached
relating to a proposed acquisition, the Company may fail to complete such acquisition for reasons beyond
13
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its control. Any such event will result in a loss to the Company of the related costs incurred, which could
materially adversely affect subsequent attempts to identify and acquire other target assets, companies or
businesses in the oil & gas sector.

Even if the Company completes an Acquisition, there is no assurance that any operating
improvements will be successful or that they will be effective in increasing the valuation of any
company or business acquired
Following completion of an Acquisition, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to propose
and implement effective operational improvements for the acquired company, business or assets. In addition,
even if the Company completes any Acquisition, general economic and market conditions or other factors
outside the Company’s control could make the Company’s operating strategies difficult or impossible to
implement. Any failure to implement these operational improvements successfully and/or the failure of these
operational improvements to deliver the anticipated benefits could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s results of operations and financial condition.

The Company may face significant competition for acquisition opportunities
There may be significant competition in some or all of the acquisition opportunities that the Company may
explore. Such competition may for example come from strategic buyers, sovereign wealth funds, special
purpose acquisition companies and public and private investment funds many of which are well established
and have extensive experience in identifying and completing acquisitions. A number of these competitors
may possess greater technical, financial, human and other resources than the Company. The Company
cannot assure investors that it will be successful against such competition. Such competition may cause
the Company to be unsuccessful in executing any Acquisition or may result in a successful Acquisition being
made at a significantly higher price than would otherwise have been the case.

Any due diligence by the Company in connection with any Acquisition may not reveal all
relevant considerations or liabilities of the target interest, company or business, which could
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition or results of operations
The Company intends to conduct such due diligence as it deems reasonably practicable and appropriate
based on the facts and circumstances applicable to any potential Acquisition. The objective of the due
diligence process will be to identify material issues which might affect the decision to proceed with any one
particular Acquisition target or the consideration payable for any Acquisition. The Company also intends to
use information revealed during the due diligence process to formulate its business and operational planning
for, and its valuation of, any target interest, company or business. Whilst conducting due diligence and
assessing any potential Acquisition, the Company will rely on publicly available information, if any, information
provided by the relevant seller of the target asset, company or business to the extent such seller is willing
or able to provide such information and, in some circumstances, third party investigations.
There can be no assurance that the due diligence undertaken with respect to any potential Acquisition will
reveal all relevant facts that may be necessary to evaluate such an Acquisition including the determination
of the price the Company may pay for such an acquisition target, or to formulate a business strategy.
Furthermore, the information provided during due diligence may be incomplete, inadequate or inaccurate.
As part of the due diligence process, the Company will also make subjective judgments regarding the
results of operations, financial condition and prospects of a potential opportunity. If the due diligence
investigation fails to correctly identify material issues and liabilities that may be present in any target asset,
company or business, or if the Company considers such material risks to be commercially acceptable
relative to the opportunity, and the Company proceeds with such an acquisition, the Company may
subsequently incur substantial impairment charges or other losses. In addition, following such any
Acquisition, the Company may be subject to significant, previously undisclosed liabilities of the acquired
asset, company or business that were not identified during due diligence and which could contribute to
poor operational performance, undermine any attempt to restructure the acquired asset, company or
business in line with the Company’s business plan and have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
financial condition and results of operations.
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If the Company acquires less than either the whole voting control of, or less than the entire
equity interest in, a target company, joint venture or business, its decision-making authority to
implement its plans may be limited and third party minority shareholders may dispute the
Company’s strategy
Although the Company may acquire the whole voting control of a target company, joint venture or business,
it may consider acquiring a controlling interest constituting less than the whole voting control or less than
the entire equity interest of that target company, joint venture or business if such opportunity is attractive or
where the Company would acquire sufficient influence to implement its strategy. If the Company acquires
either less than the whole voting control of, or less than the entire equity interest in, a target company, joint
venture or business, the remaining ownership interest will be held by third parties. Accordingly, the
Company’s decision-making authority may be limited. Such an Acquisition may also involve the risk that
such third parties may become insolvent or unable or unwilling to fund additional investments in the target
company, joint venture or business. Such third parties may also have interests which are inconsistent or
conflict with the Company’s interests, or they may obstruct the Company’s strategy for the target company,
joint venture or business or propose an alternative strategy. Any third party’s interests may be contrary to
the Company’s interests. In addition, disputes among the Company and any such third parties could result
in litigation or arbitration. Any of these events could impair the Company’s objectives and strategy, which
could have a material adverse effect on the continued development or growth of the acquired company,
joint venture or business.
In relation to the Wick Farm-in, Upland UK has a 40% participating interest in UK Offshore Production
Licence P2235. This interest is not of a sufficient size to ensure that any proposal that Upland UK makes
will be adopted or, in some cases, that Upland UK can prevent any course of action proposed by other
co-licensees being adopted, which may be counter to Upland UK’s interests.

The Company may be unable to complete an Acquisition or to fund the operations of the target
company or business if it does not obtain additional funding
Although the Company cannot currently predict the amount of additional capital that may be required for
any target asset, company or business, once any Acquisition has been made, if the target asset, company
or business is not sufficiently cost generative, further funds may need to be raised.
If, following an Acquisition, the Company’s cash reserves are insufficient, the Company will likely be required
to seek additional equity or debt financing. The Company may not receive sufficient support from its existing
Shareholders to raise additional equity, and new equity investors may be unwilling to invest on terms that
are favourable to the Company, or at all. Lenders may be unwilling to extend debt financing to the Company
on attractive terms, or at all. To the extent that additional equity or debt financing is necessary to complete
any such Acquisition and remains unavailable or only available on terms that are unacceptable to the
Company, the Company may be compelled either to restructure or abandon any such Acquisition, or
proceed with such Acquisition on less favourable terms, which may reduce the Company’s return on the
investment.
Even if additional financing is unnecessary to complete any such Acquisition, the Company may
subsequently require equity or debt financing to implement operational improvements in the acquired asset,
company or business. The failure to secure additional financing or to secure such additional financing on
terms acceptable to the Company could have a material adverse effect on the continued development or
growth of the acquired asset, company or business.
For the avoidance of any doubt, the Company will (taking into account the Net Placing Proceeds and the
Company’s existing resources including cash held/cash resources and funding arrangements) have sufficient
working capital to fund its requirements (including its obligations under PEDL 299 and the Wick Farm-in) for
at least 12 months from the date of this document.
In the longer term, the Company may need to raise additional funds to finance its share of the costs relating
to UK Offshore Production Licence P2235. There is no guarantee that such funds will be available when
the Company comes to market to raise such funds, for reasons which include a fall in the price of oil and
alternative more attractive investments being available to potential investors. The Company does not expect
that it will have to raise additional funds to cover any costs relating to UK Offshore Production Licence
P2235 before early 2019, at the earliest.
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The pre-emption rights contained in the Articles have been disapplied for Shareholders in
respect of the issue of equity securities to facilitate any Acquisition and in certain other
circumstances and the Company may issue shares or convertible debt securities or incur
substantial indebtedness to complete any Acquisition, which may dilute the interests of
Shareholders or present other risks, including a decline in post-acquisition operating results
due to increased interest expense or an adverse effect on liquidity as a result of acceleration of
its indebtedness
The pre-emption rights contained in the Articles in relation to issues of ‘Equity Securities’ (as defined in
section 560(1) of the UK Companies Act 2006) have been waived by a special resolution of the shareholders
of the Company passed at the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 14 December 2017 (i) for
rights/pre-emptive issues to existing shareholders pro rata to existing shareholdings, but which may not
comply in all respects with the requirements of the Articles regarding pre-emptive offers to existing
shareholders, up to an aggregate number equal to 200% of the aggregate number of Equity Securities in
issue on the date of passing of the resolution (383,168,631 Ordinary Shares) and (ii) for other purposes, up
to an aggregate number equal to 200% of the aggregate number of Equity Securities in issue on the date
of passing of the resolution (383,168,631 Ordinary Shares), on the basis that Regulation 3 of the Articles
was waived in respect of all and any such allotments and issues of Equity Securities and on the basis that
such waivers continue until the earlier of the fifth anniversary of the passing of the resolution or the
2022 Annual General Meeting of the Company (subject as provided in such resolution).
Shareholders do not have the benefit of pre-emption rights in respect of the issues of future shares, which
may be issued to facilitate any Acquisition and for other purposes. In addition, the Company may issue
shares or convertible debt securities or incur substantial indebtedness to complete any Acquisition, which
may dilute the interests of Shareholders.
Any issue of Ordinary Shares, preferred shares or convertible debt securities may:l

significantly dilute the value of the Ordinary Shares held by existing Shareholders;

l

cause a Change of Control if a substantial number of Ordinary Shares are issued, which may, inter alia,
result in the resignation or removal of one or more of the Directors;

l

in certain circumstances, have the effect of delaying or preventing a Change of Control;

l

subordinate the rights of holders of Ordinary Shares if preferred shares are issued with rights senior to
those of Ordinary Shares; or

l

adversely affect the market prices of the Company’s Ordinary Shares.

If Ordinary Shares, preferred shares or convertible debt securities are issued as consideration for any
Acquisition, existing Shareholders will have no pre-emptive rights with regard to the securities that are issued.
The issue of such Ordinary Shares, preferred shares or convertible debt securities is likely to materially dilute
the value of the Ordinary Shares held by existing Shareholders. Where a target company has an existing
large shareholder, an issue of Ordinary Shares, preferred shares or convertible debt securities as
consideration may result in such shareholder subsequently holding a significant or majority stake in the
Company, which may, in turn, enable it to exert significant influence over the Company (to a greater or lesser
extent depending on the size of its holding) and could lead to a Change of Control.
If the Company were to incur substantial indebtedness in relation to any Acquisition, this could result in:l

default and foreclosure on the Company’s assets, if its cash flow from operations were insufficient to
pay its debt obligations as they become due;

l

acceleration of its obligation to repay indebtedness, even if it has made all payments when due, if it
breaches, without a waiver, covenants that require the maintenance of financial ratios or reserves or
impose operating restrictions;

l

a demand for immediate payment of all principal and accrued interest, if any, if the indebtedness is
payable on demand; or

l

an inability to obtain additional financing, if any indebtedness incurred contains covenants restricting
its ability to incur additional indebtedness.
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The occurrence of any or a combination of these factors could decrease an investor’s ownership interests
in the Company or have a material adverse effect on its financial condition and results of operations.

Any Acquisition may result in adverse tax, regulatory or other consequences for Shareholders
which may differ for individual Shareholders depending on their status and residence
It is possible that any acquisition structure determined necessary by the Company to complete any
Acquisition may have adverse tax, regulatory or other consequences for Shareholders which may differ for
individual Shareholders depending on their individual status and residence.

The Company is dependent upon the Board to identify potential acquisition opportunities and
to execute any Acquisition and the loss of the services of any of the Directors could materially
adversely affect it
The Company is dependent upon the Directors to identify potential acquisition opportunities and to execute
any Acquisition. Only the Executive Director has an agreement with the Company for the provision of his
services (on a part-time basis) to the Group. The unexpected loss of the services of the Directors (and, in
particular, the Executive Director) could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s ability to identify
potential acquisition opportunities and to execute any Acquisition.

The Directors have other private interests and duties which could have a negative impact on
the Company’s ability to achieve its business strategy
At the date of this document, each of the Directors has other private interests and duties. In the case of
Steve Staley, these include directorships of other upstream oil & gas companies - Derwent Resources
(Ksar Hadada) Limited, 88 Energy Limited (an Australian-incorporated company whose shares are traded
on the ASX and AIM) and Predator Oil & Gas Holdings plc (a Jersey-incorporated company whose shares
have very recently been admitted to a Standard Listing). Derwent Resources (Ksar Hadada) Limited is a
dormant, and until recently, single-asset company holding an interest in the Ksar Hadada permit, Tunisia
(but which asset has now been relinquished) and 88 Energy Limited is active solely in Alaska. Predator
Oil & Gas Holdings plc is active only in Trinidad and offshore western Ireland. Given the specific geographic
focus of these upstream oil & gas companies, such directorships do not therefore give rise to any conflict
of interest for Steve Staley.
In relation to the Directors’ private interests and duties generally, these do not give rise to any conflict of interest.

The Company may be unable to hire or retain personnel required to support the Company after
any Acquisition
Following completion of any Company/Business Acquisition, the Company will evaluate the personnel of
the acquired company or business and may determine that it requires increased support to operate and
manage the acquired company or business in accordance with the Company’s overall business strategy.
There can be no assurance that existing personnel of the acquired company or business will be adequate
or qualified to carry out the Company’s strategy, or that the Company will be able to hire or retain
experienced, qualified employees to carry out the Company’s strategy.

If a Company/Business Acquisition is completed, the Company’s principal source of operating
cash may be income received from the company or business it has acquired
If a Company/Business Acquisition is completed, the Company may be dependent on the income
generated by the acquired company or business to meet the Company’s expenses and operating cash
requirements. The amount of distributions and dividends, if any, which may be paid from any operating
subsidiary to the Company will depend on many factors, including such subsidiary’s results of operations
and financial condition, limits on dividends under applicable law, its constitutional documents, documents
governing any indebtedness of the Company, and other factors which may be outside the control of the
Company. If there is such a reliance and the acquired company or business is unable to generate sufficient
cash flow, the Company may be unable to pay its expenses or make distributions and dividends on the
Ordinary Shares.
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The Company may be subject to foreign investment and exchange risks
The Company’s functional and presentational currency is UK Sterling. As a result, the Company’s
consolidated financial statements will carry the Company’s assets in UK Sterling. Any company or business
the Company acquires may denominate its financial information in a currency other than UK Sterling, conduct
operations or make sales in currencies other than UK Sterling. When consolidating a business that has
functional currencies other than UK Sterling, the Company will be required to translate, inter alia, the balance
sheet and operational results of such business into UK Sterling. Due to the foregoing, changes in exchange
rates between UK Sterling and other currencies could lead to significant changes in the Company’s reported
financial results from period to period. Among the factors that may affect currency values are trade balances,
levels of short-term interest rates, differences in relative values of similar assets in different currencies,
long-term opportunities for investment and capital appreciation and political or regulatory developments.
Although the Company may seek to manage its foreign exchange exposure, including by active use of
hedging and derivative instruments, there is no assurance that such arrangements will be entered into or
available at all times when the Company wishes to use them or that they will be sufficient to cover the risk.
Many costs in relation to UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 will be denominated in pounds sterling,
but future revenues from the sale of oil will be denominated in US dollars, such that an exchange rate risk
therefore exists.

The Company will not limit its efforts to identifying a target assets, company or business to any
particular geographic regions (although it is currently assessing possible opportunities in the
UK, North Africa and the Far East) and may be subject to risks particular to one or more
countries in which it ultimately operates, which could negatively impact its operations
The Company’s efforts in identifying prospective target assets, companies or businesses in the oil & gas
sector are not limited to a particular geographic region, although it is currently continuing to assess possible
further onshore opportunities in the UK, as well as currently appraising additional opportunities in North Africa
and the Far East. The Company may therefore acquire assets or target companies or businesses in, or with
substantial operations in, a number of jurisdictions, any of which may expose it to considerations or risks
associated with companies operating in such jurisdictions, including but not limited to: regulatory and political
uncertainty; tariffs, trade barriers and regulations related to customs and import/export matters; international
tax issues, such as lax law changes and variations in tax laws; cultural and language differences; rules and
regulations on currency conversion or corporate withholding taxes on individuals; currency fluctuations and
exchange controls; employment regulations; crime, strikes, riots, civil disturbances, terrorist attacks and wars;
and deterioration of relevant political relations. Any exposure to such risks due to the countries in which the
Company operates following any Acquisition could negatively impact the Company’s operations.

RISKS RELATING TO THE OIL & GAS SECTOR
Changes in global supply and demand owing to an economic downturn may adversely affect
the business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition of the Company
Commodity prices are affected by global supply and demand, as well as widespread trading activities by
market participants and others, either seeking to secure access to such commodities or to hedge against
commercial risks, or as part of investment portfolio activity. Fluctuations in commodity prices give rise to
commodity price risk for the Company. Historically, such prices can be subject to substantial variation which
cannot be accurately predicted.
If the global economic environment experiences a substantial downturn or remains relatively weak for the
medium to long term, the ability of the Company to grow or maintain revenues in future years may be
adversely affected, and at certain long term price levels for a given commodity, extractive operations with
respect to that commodity may not be economically viable.
Adverse and volatile economic conditions may also limit the Company’s ability to anticipate revenues and
costs and can affect the Company’s ability to implement planned projects anticipated following any
Acquisition. In addition, industry analysts are likely to take such conditions into account when assessing
the prospective business and creditworthiness of the Company (following any Acquisition) and any adverse
determinations, may make it more difficult for the Company to raise capital in the future to finance the
business following any Acquisition.
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The oil & gas sector is subject to commodity price fluctuations, which may adversely impact
the results of operations, financial conditions and prospects of the Company following any
Acquisition
Following any Acquisition, the Company, through the acquired asset or activities, may be a market participant
as seller (and may, in certain situations, be a buyer) in any one or more commodities. Accordingly, the
Company’s revenue and earnings may depend upon prevailing prices for the commodities it relies on and
produces. These commodities are globally traded and as a result, and in common with its competitors, the
Company is unable to control the prices it receives for such commodities. In addition, following an
Acquisition, the range of the commodities which the acquired activities produces may not be sufficiently
broad and/or the acquired activities may be concentrated in one or more commodities within the oil & gas
sector. As a result, the Company may not be able to offset price changes in one commodity with
countercyclical changes in another commodity within the Company’s range of commodities in an attempt
to mitigate the effects of adverse price changes.
Historically, commodity prices have been volatile and subject to wide fluctuations for many reasons,
including, but not limited to:l

global and regional supply and demand, and expectations regarding future supply and demand for
commodities;

l

geopolitical uncertainty;

l

availability of tanker ships and processing equipment;

l

proximity to, and capacity and cost of, transportation;

l

price, availability and government subsidies of alternative fuels;

l

price and availability of new technologies;

l

the ability of the members of the Organisation of the Petroleum Exporting Countries (“OPEC”) and
other oil producing nations to set and maintain specified levels of production and prices;

l

political, economic and military developments in producing regions, particularly the Middle East;

l

domestic and foreign governmental regulations and actions, including export restrictions, taxes,
repatriations and nationalisations;

l

global and regional economic conditions; and

l

weather conditions and natural disasters.

It is impossible to predict accurately future commodities price movements and commodities prices may not
remain at their current levels. Any material decline in commodities prices, to the extent they are not addressed
by meaningful hedging arrangements, could result in a reduction of the Company’s net production revenue.
In addition, the economics of producing in some jurisdictions, or some assets within some jurisdictions,
may change as a result of lower commodities prices, which could result in a reduction of the Company’s
reserves to the extent that they may become no longer economically viable to develop. Moreover, the
Company may not be able to engage in meaningful hedging arrangements against declines in commodity
prices and there can be no guarantee that such hedging strategies will be implemented or ultimately
successful. As a result, the Company following any Acquisition may experience significant volatility in its
results of operations in its periodic financial statements if there are adverse changes in commodity prices
during the reported financial period. As a result of the factors described above, the Company will also not
be able to accurately predict the precise timing of any improvements and/or recoveries in the global, regional
or national macroeconomic environments, or in commodity prices, any of which can make the Company’s
operational strategies based on production planning more difficult to implement successfully. For example,
the prevailing prices of certain commodities may fall to levels that are below the average marginal cost of
production for the industry, which the Company will not be able to predict accurately. If the Company’s
estimates of future price levels results in the Company incurring fixed additional costs and the Company
fails to change production levels in response to then-current price levels, the Company’s results of operations
and financial condition could be adversely affected.
A glut of oil on the world market may lower oil prices and therefore reduce the revenue stream from
UK Offshore Production Licence P2235.
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Political, legal and commercial instability, as well as political and fiscal pressure on
governments, in the countries and territories in which the oil & gas sector may operate could
affect the viability of the Company’s operations following any Acquisition
Following any Acquisition, the Company may have operations in jurisdictions with varying degrees of political,
legal and commercial stability. Political, civil and social pressures may result in administrative change, policy
reform, changes in law or governmental regulations, which in turn can result in expropriation or nationalisation
of a target’s assets. Renegotiation or nullification of pre-existing agreements, concessions, leases and
permits held by a target business, changes in fiscal policies (including increased tax or royalty rates) or
currency restrictions are all possibilities. Commercial instability caused by bribery may lead to similar
consequences, any of which could have a material adverse effect on the profitability, the ability to finance
or, in extreme cases, the viability of an operation.
In addition, fiscal constraints or political pressure may also lead governments to impose increased taxation
on operations in the oil & gas sector within a given jurisdiction. Such taxes or other expropriation of assets
could be imposed by any jurisdiction in which the Company operates before or after any Acquisition.
If operations are delayed or shut down as a result of political, legal or commercial instability, or if the
Company’s operations are subjected to increased taxation or other expropriation, the Company’s earnings
growth may be constrained and the ability of the Company to generate long term value for Shareholders
following any Acquisition could be adversely impacted.
For UK operations such as those under UK Offshore Production Licence P2235, there is a risk that the
UK Government may increase levels of taxation on oil and gas operations or the level of corporation tax.
The Company considers the risk of such increased levels of taxation to be very low, especially given the
current low levels of activity in the UK oil & gas sector (mainly as a result of the continuing relatively low oil
price) and the UK Government’s desire to encourage more activity in the oil and gas sector. In addition,
levels of taxation levied by the UK Government on UK oil and gas activities have in recent years been
reduced; to reverse this trend in these market conditions would be unlikely. The UK Government has not
signalled any intention to increase oil and gas taxation levels.

Inflation and other cost increases may have an adverse effect on the Company’s results of
operations and cash flows
Significant inflation or other production cost increases in the countries in which the Company may operate
could increase operational costs without a corresponding increase in the sales price of the commodities
the Company may produce. Alternatively, a lag in the reduction of input costs relative to declining commodity
prices will have a similar adverse effect on the Company’s operations. Any such increased costs or delays
in cost reductions may adversely affect the Company’s profitability, cash flows and results of operations.

Safety, health and environmental exposures and related regulations may expose the Company
to increased litigation, compliance costs, interruptions to operations, unforeseen
environmental remediation expenses and loss of reputation
The oil & gas sector involves extractive enterprises. Such activities often make the sector a hazardous industry
and as a result it is typically highly regulated by safety, health and environmental laws. Following an Acquisition,
the Company’s operations may be subject to extensive governmental regulations in all jurisdictions in which it
operates. Operations are subject to general and specific regulations and restrictions governing drilling and
production, land tenure and use, environmental requirements (including site specific environmental licences,
permits and remediation requirements), workplace health and safety, social impacts and other laws.
Certain of the Company’s operations may create environmental risk in the form of dust, noise or leakage of
polluting substances from site operations. Failure to provide a safe working environment or to manage
environmental risks may result in harm to the Company’s employees, the communities near the Company’s
operations and the local environment. Government authorities may also force closure of facilities on a
temporary or permanent basis or refuse future drilling or mining right applications. The Company could face
fines and penalties, liability to employees and third parties for injury, statutory liability for environmental
remediation and other financial consequences, which may be significant. The Company could also suffer
impairment of its reputation, industrial action or difficulty in recruiting and retaining skilled employees. Any
future changes in laws, regulations or community expectations governing the Company’s operations could
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result in increased compliance and remediation costs. Any of the foregoing developments could have a
materially adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations, cash flows or financial condition.
The Company could also face significant delays to the implementation of planned operations because of
delay in acquiring the required environmental clearances from the relevant authorities.
The first well planned to be drilled on the Wick Prospect in UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 was
preceded by an environmental survey conducted by Orbis Energy Limited on behalf of Corallian Energy and
co-licensees over the area surrounding the likely well location. This survey establishes an environmental
baseline prior to the commencement of drilling operations and includes, inter alia, seabed features and
topography, benthic faunal community structure and sea-bed sediment grain size and chemistry of the area.
Further environmental and other permits will be required from a range of regulatory bodies before the drilling
of this well can go ahead.

Existing and proposed legislation and regulation affecting greenhouse gas emissions may
adversely affect certain of the Company’s operations
Many participants in the oil & gas sector are subject to current and planned legislation in relation to the
emission of carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide and other so called ‘greenhouse gases’.
Failure to comply with existing legislation or any future legislation could adversely affect the Company’s
profitability following any Acquisition if an acquired company or business has material greenhouse gas
intensive assets. Future legislative initiatives designed to reduce the consumption of hydrocarbons could
also have an impact on the ability of the Company following such an Acquisition to market its commodities
and/or the prices which it is able to obtain. These factors could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s business, results of operations, financial condition or prospects.

In assessing and completing any Acquisition, the Company may estimate resources volumes,
which may be less than actually recovered
The Company may estimate, or employ third party experts to estimate, a potential target’s resources and
reserves, which are subject to a number of assumptions, including (without limitation) the price of
commodities, production costs and recovery rates. Fluctuations in the variables underlying the Company’s
or third party expert’s estimates caused by new information becoming available or the interpretation of
existing data changing, may result in material changes to its reserve estimates and such changes may
have a materially adverse impact on the financial condition and prospects of the Company following
any Acquisition.
Estimations of reserves and resources are inherently uncertain. The Wick and Wick Deep Prospects have
not yet been drilled. Any estimate of the volumes of hydrocarbons contained within them must therefore be
classified as resources and not reserves. Prior to drilling, 3D seismic data over the Wick and Wick Deep
Prospects has been interpreted to provide estimates of gross rock volumes which are combined with
reservoir parameters from nearby and/or analogous wells to produce estimates of in place hydrocarbon
resources. Application of estimated recovery factors to the in place numbers provides an estimate of the
recoverable resources.

Failure to discover new reserves, enhance existing reserves or adequately develop new
projects could adversely affect the Company’s business following any Acquisition
Exploration and development are costly, speculative and often unproductive, but may be necessary for the
Company’s business following any Acquisition. This is particularly the case in the oil & gas industry, where
there may be many reasons why the Company may not be able to find or acquire oil & gas reserves or
develop them for commercially viable production. For instance, factors such as adverse weather conditions,
natural disasters, equipment or services shortages, procurement delays or difficulties arising from the
environmental and other conditions in the areas where the reserves are located or through which production
is transported may increase costs and make it uneconomical to develop potential reserves. Failure to
discover new reserves, to enhance existing reserves or to extract resources from such reserves in sufficient
amounts and in a timely manner could materially and adversely affect the Company’s results of operations,
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cash flows, financial condition and prospects. In addition, the Company may not be able to recover the
funds used in any exploration programme to identify new opportunities.
Increasingly stringent requirements relating to regulatory, environmental and social approvals can result in
significant delays in construction of additional facilities and may adversely affect new drilling projects, the
expansion of existing operations and, consequently, the Company’s results of operations, cash flows and
financial condition, and such effects could be material.
Neither the Wick nor the Wick Deep Prospects have as yet been drilled and so in each case are subject to
the geological risks associated with an undrilled structure. Section 1.5 of the Competent Person’s Report
set out in Part XVI of this document outlines the characteristics of the source rocks, reservoir presence and
structures and seals in the UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 area. All must be viable for an effective
hydrocarbon accumulation to exist.
In the case of the Wick and Wick Deep Prospects, the Company believes all these elements present a level
of risk that, in combination, represent a relatively low risk for exploration targets. In each case, these must
be of a sufficient areal extent, thickness, porosity and permeability to be able to contain commercially viable
volumes of hydrocarbons in a structure that will retain them. In addition, they must not be too deep, too
highly pressured, too hot, must not have been breached by faults nor their resident hydrocarbons degraded
by microbial action. The existing 3D seismic data and nearby fields reduces the risk on the structures, fault
seals (where applicable), thickness and areal extent and the Company believes the level of the other risks
make both the Wick and the Wick Deep Prospects attractive drilling targets.

The Company may be unable to obtain or renew required drilling rights and concessions,
licences, permits and other authorisations and/or such concessions, rights, licences, permits
and other authorisations may be suspended, terminated or revoked prior to their expiration
An acquired company or business may conduct its operations pursuant to drilling rights and concessions,
licences, permits and other authorisations. Any delay in obtaining or renewing a licence, permit or other
authorisation may result in a delay in investment or development of a resource and may have a material
adverse effect on the acquired business’ results of operations, cash flows and financial condition. In addition,
any existing drilling rights and concessions, licences, permits and other authorisations of the acquired
business may be suspended, terminated or revoked if it fails to comply with the relevant requirements.
If, following a Corporate/Business Acquisition, the acquired company or business (or any of its subsidiaries)
fails to fulfil the specific terms of any of its rights, concessions, licences, permits and other authorisations or
if it operates its business in a manner that violates applicable law, government regulators may impose fines
or suspend or terminate the right, concession, licence, permit or other authorisation, any of which could
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.
Such risks apply equally to any licence, permit or other authorisation the subject of any Licence/Permit
Acquisition.
In the UK, the OGA retains the right to suspend operations or to take a permit away from a holder if it fails
to pay its annual acreage fees or if the licensees fail to meet their obligations under the relevant legislation.

The use of independent contractors in operations may expose those operations to delays or
suspensions of activities
Independent contractors are typically used in operations in the oil & gas sector to perform various operational
tasks, including carrying out drilling and mining activities and delivering raw commodities to processing or
beneficiation plants. In periods of high commodity prices, demand for such contractors may exceed supply
resulting in increased costs or lack of availability of key contractors. Disruptions of operations or increased
costs also can occur as a result of disputes with contractors or a shortage of contractors with particular
capabilities. Additionally, because the Company following any Acquisition will not have the same control
over independent contractors as it does over employees of a target, there is a risk that such contractors
will not operate in accordance with the Company’s safety standards or other policies. Any of the foregoing
circumstances could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s operating results and cash flows
following any Acquisition.
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Drilling operations are vulnerable to natural disasters, operating difficulties and damage to or
breakdown of a physical asset, any of which could have a material impact on the productivity
of the operations and not all of which may be covered by insurance
Drilling operations are vulnerable to natural disasters, including earthquakes, drought, floods, fire, tropical
storms and the physical effects of climate change, all of which are outside the Company’s control. Operating
difficulties, such as unexpected geological variations that could result in significant failure, could affect the
costs and viability of its operations for indeterminate periods. In addition, damage to or breakdown of a
physical asset, including as a result of fire, explosion or natural catastrophe, can result in a loss of assets
and subsequent financial losses. Insurance can provide protection from some, but not all, of the costs that
may arise from unforeseen events. Although the Company intends to maintain suitable insurance, the
Company’s insurance may not cover every potential risk associated with its operations. Adequate coverage
at reasonable rates is not always obtainable. In addition, the Company’s insurance may not fully cover its
liability or the consequences of any business interruptions such as equipment failure or labour dispute. The
occurrence of a significant adverse event not fully or partially covered by insurance could have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Labour disruptions could have an adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations, cash
flows and financial condition
There is a risk that strikes or other types of conflict with unions or employees may occur at any one of the
Company’s operations or in any of the geographic regions in which the Company operates. A significant portion
of the Company’s workforce may be unionised. Labour disruptions may be used not only for reasons specific
to the Company’s business, but also to advocate labour, political or social goals. Any labour disruptions could
increase operational costs and decrease revenues by delaying the business activities of the Company or
increasing the cost of substitute labour, which may not be available. Furthermore, if such disruptions are
material, they could adversely affect the Company’s results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

Restrictions on the Company’s ability to access necessary infrastructure services, including
transportation and utilities, may adversely affect the Company’s operations
Inadequate supply of the critical infrastructure elements for drilling activity could result in reduced production
or sales volumes, which could have a negative effect on the Company’s financial performance. Disruptions
in the supply of essential utility services, such as water and electricity, can halt the Company’s production
for the duration of the disruption and, when unexpected, may cause loss of life or damage to its drilling
equipment or facilities, which may in turn affect its ability to recommence operations on a timely basis.
Adequate provision of transportation services, such as timely pipeline and port access and rail services, are
critical to distributing products and disruptions to such services may affect the Company’s operations. The
Company may be dependent on third party providers of utility and transportation services. As such, third
party provision of services, maintenance of networks and expansion and contingency plans will be outside
of the Company’s control.

The Company’s operations and development projects could be adversely affected by shortages
of, as well as lead times to deliver, certain key inputs
The inability to obtain, in a timely manner, strategic consumables, raw materials, drilling and mining and
processing equipment could have an adverse impact on any results of operations and financial condition.
Periods of high demand for such supplies can result in periods when availability of supplies are limited and
cause costs to increase above normal inflation rates. Any interruption to supplies or increase in costs could
adversely affect the operating results and cash flows of the Company following an Acquisition.
In the case of the Wick Prospect , it is planned to hire a ‘jack-up’ rig (a type of rig that can be used to drill
in shallow waters such as these) for the first well. On 14 May 2018, Corallian Energy (as the operator) entered
into a letter of intent with UK based drilling contractor Ensco U.K. Ltd for the provision of a jack-up rig to
drill the Wick well and within the letter of intent the parties have agreed, subject to approvals and consents,
headline terms for a suitable unit to conduct drilling operations in the third quarter of 2018.. Further wells
would be needed to bring any discovery into production and in the case of the Wick Prospect, these could
be drilled either using a similar ‘jack-up’ rig or from an onshore location using deviated wells. In the latter
case, land rigs would, of course, be used instead. Oil from the developed field(s) may be produced either
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via a marine or land-based facility depending on the development drilling approach taken and the volumes
of hydrocarbons being produced daily.

Failure to manage relationships with local communities, government and non-government
organisations could adversely affect future growth potential of the Company
As a consequence of public concern about the perceived ill effects of economic globalisation, businesses
often face increasing public scrutiny of their activities. Prospective targets may have operations located in
or near communities that may regard such an operation as detrimental to their environmental, economic or
social circumstances. Negative community reaction to such operations could have a material adverse impact
on the cost, profitability, ability to finance or even the viability of an operation. Such events could also lead
to disputes with national or local governments or with local communities and give rise to material reputational
damage. In addition, the business which the Company acquires may operate in countries where ownership
of rights in respect of land and resources is uncertain and where disputes in relation to ownership or other
community matters may arise. These disputes are not always predictable and may cause disruption to
projects or operations. Oil & gas operations can also have an impact on local communities, including the
need, from time to time, to relocate communities or infrastructure networks such as railways and utility
services. Failure to manage relationships with local communities, government and non-government
organisations may adversely affect the Company’s reputation, as well as its ability to commence production
projects, which could in turn affect the Company’s revenues, results of operations and cash flows.

Exploration, development and production activities are capital intensive and inherently
uncertain in their outcome. As a result, the Company may not generate a return on its
investments or recover its costs and it may not be able to generate cash flows or secure
adequate financing for its discretionary capital expenditure plans
Exploration, development and production activities are capital intensive and inherently uncertain in their outcome.
Should the Company acquire or establish operations in the oil & gas industry, the Company’s future oil & gas
projects may involve unprofitable efforts, either from dry wells or from wells that are productive but do not
produce sufficient net revenues to return a profit after development, operating and other costs. Furthermore,
completion of a well does not guarantee a profit on the investment or recovery of the costs associated with that
well. In addition, drilling hazards or environmental damage could significantly affect operating costs, and
production from successful wells may be adversely affected by conditions including delays in obtaining
governmental approvals or consents, shut-ins of connected wells resulting from extreme weather conditions,
insufficient storage or transportation capacity or adverse geological conditions. Production delays and declines,
whether or not as a result of the foregoing conditions, may result in lower revenue or cash flows from operating
activities until such time, if at all, that the delay or decline is cured or arrested. In the event that such cash flows
are reduced in the future, the Company may be forced to scale back or delay discretionary capital expenditure
resulting in delays to, or the postponement of, the Company’s planned production and development activities
which could have a material adverse effect on its business, results of operations, financial condition or prospects.
The costs of any element of the work planned for UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 may overrun
substantially. In the case of the Wick and Wick Deep Prospects, the most likely source of such a costs
overrun relates to the drilling and testing of new wells and the construction of production facilities which
together are the most expensive elements of future work. The costs of seismic surveys are far less likely to
overrun than the costs of wells and the area already benefits from a 3D survey.

Exploration, development and production activities are inherently subject to a number of potential
drilling and production risks and hazards which may affect the ability of the Company, if it
acquires or establishes any oil & gas activities, to produce oil & gas at expected levels, increase
operating costs and/or expose the Company and/or its Directors and officers to legal liability
Should the Company acquire or establish operations in the oil & gas industry, the production and
development operations of the Company will involve risks normally associated with such activities, including
blowouts, explosions, fires, equipment damage or failure, geological uncertainties, unusual or unexpected
rock formations and abnormal pressures and environmental hazards such as accidental spills, releases or
leakages of petroleum liquids, gas leaks, ruptures or discharges of toxic gas. Operations are also subject
to hazards inherent in marine operations, which include damage from severe weather conditions, capsizing
or sinking, and damage to pipelines and subsea facilities from fishing nets, anchors and vessels. The
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occurrence of any of these events could result in production delays or the failure to produce oil & gas in
commercial quantities from the affected operations. These events could also lead to environmental damage,
injury to persons and loss of life or the destruction of property, any of which could expose the Company
and/or its Directors and officers to the risk of litigation and clean-up or other remedial costs. Damages
claimed in connection with any consequent litigation and the costs to the Company in defending itself against
such litigation are difficult to predict and may be material. In addition, the Company could experience adverse
publicity as a result of any such litigation. Any loss of production or adverse legal consequences stemming
from production hazards could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of
operations, financial condition or prospects.
Neither the Wick Prospect not the Wick Deep Prospects have been drilled and so their geology and pressure
regimes are not firmly established. There is a chance that over-pressured layers may be encountered which
pose a threat of blow-out.

The Group faces risks relating to the UK’s continued membership of the European Union
A referendum was held in the UK on 23 June 2016 on whether the UK will remain a member of the European
Union (the “EU”), the result of which was a vote to leave and on 29 March 2017 the UK Government served
notice under Article 50 of the Treaty on European Union of the UK’s intention to withdraw from the EU,
formally commencing the process by which the UK will leave the EU (commonly known as ‘Brexit’). The
UK’s withdrawal from the EU will occur on 29 March 2019 (which will be two years from the date on which
the UK served notice), unless otherwise agreed.
The Group faces risks associated with both the potential uncertainty during the period following the
referendum and also the consequences that may flow from exiting the European Union. Credit rating
agencies have downgraded the UK sovereign credit rating, with S&P downgrading the UK to AA from AAA
with negative outlook, given the increase in probability of an economic slowdown as a result of the decision
to leave. Further, because a significant proportion of UK law and regulation is based on European Union
legislation and directives, leaving the European Union could materially change the legal and regulatory
framework that would be applicable to the Group’s operations in the future. This could increase operating
costs as well as restrict the movement of capital and mobility of personnel for the Group and have a material
effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected
by the future independence of Scotland
UKCS Block 11/24b, the subject of UK Offshore Production Licence P2235, lies in Scottish waters and all
production from the Wick and Wick Deep Prospects will therefore be generated from Scottish waters. The
uncertainty created by any future vote on independence in Scotland, for example resulting from the decision in
the UK referendum on 23 June 2016 to leave the European Union, may have a negative impact on the Group’s
operations. There can be no assurances that, even if Scotland were to apply for European Union membership
following an affirmative vote in favour of Scottish independence, that it would be able to join as an independent
member. The UK government has stated that there is unwillingness to maintain a currency union with an
independent Scotland, so that Scotland would no longer be entitled to use pounds sterling as its official currency
and there is uncertainty as to whether Scotland would be able to or willing to adopt the Euro.
Following completion of the Wick Farm-in Agreement, the Group has operations in the North Sea. These
operations may involve third party contractors and providers of capital equipment based in Scotland and
the uncertainty created by any future vote on independence in Scotland may have a negative impact on the
ability of Upland UK and its co-licensees under UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 to obtain services
from Scottish companies and/or continue to deliver hydrocarbons into Scotland, at all, at economic rates
and/or at levels similar to current rates.
If a referendum is held and ultimately Scotland does decide to proceed with full independence, then UKCS
Block 11/24b would fall under Scottish jurisdiction and whilst there is uncertainty around the regulatory
regime that would then apply to UKCS oil and gas resources under Scottish jurisdiction, presumably any
new regulatory regime put in place by a new independent Scottish Government would include transitional
arrangements to appropriately deal with the transfer of existing licences to the new regime.
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In the event of Scottish independence, there is also a risk that the Scottish fiscal regime would treat any tax
losses or profits from operations in Scotland as Scottish and restrict the Group from offsetting any future
profits or losses generated from operations in England. Such treatment could have an adverse effect on the
Group, which may reduce the Group’s competitiveness when bidding for assets.
In the event of Scottish independence, the above factors could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
business, results of operations and financial condition.

RISKS RELATING TO THE ORDINARY SHARES
The Standard Listing of the Ordinary Shares affords investors a lower level of regulatory
protection than a Premium Listing
The Ordinary Shares are admitted to the Standard Listing segment of the Official List. A Standard Listing
affords investors in the Company a lower level of regulatory protection than that afforded to investors in a
company with a Premium Listing, which is subject to additional obligations under the Listing Rules.
While the Company has a Standard Listing, it is not required to comply with the provisions of, inter alia:l

Chapter 8 of the Listing Rules regarding the appointment of a sponsor to guide the Company in
understanding and meeting its responsibilities under the Listing Rules in connection with certain
matters. The Company has not and does not intend to appoint such a sponsor in connection with the
Placing and Admission;

l

Chapter 9 of the Listing Rules regarding continuing obligations (which only apply to companies with
Premium Listings);

l

Chapter 10 of the Listing Rules relating to significant transactions. It should be noted therefore that an
Acquisition will not require Shareholder consent, even if Ordinary Shares are being issued as
consideration for that Acquisition;

l

Chapter 11 of the Listing Rules regarding related party transactions. Nevertheless, the Company will
not enter into any transaction which would constitute a ‘related party transaction’ as defined in
Chapter 11 of the Listing Rules without the specific prior approval of a majority of the Directors;

l

Chapter 12 of the Listing Rules regarding purchases by the Company of its Ordinary Shares. In
particular, the Company has not adopted a policy consistent with the provisions of Listing Rules 12.4.1
and 12.4.2; and

l

Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules regarding the form and content of circulars to be sent to Shareholders.

The Company may be unable to transfer to a Premium Listing or other appropriate listing
venue following an Acquisition
The Company is not currently eligible for a Premium Listing under Chapter 6 of the Listing Rules. Upon
completion of an Acquisition (especially if it constitutes a Reverse Takeover), the Directors may seek to
transfer from a Standard Listing to either a Premium Listing or other appropriate listing, based on the track
record of the company or business it acquires, subject to fulfilling the relevant eligibility criteria at the time.
There can be no guarantee that the Company will meet such eligibility criteria or that a transfer to a Premium
Listing or other appropriate listing (e.g. AIM) will be achieved. For example, such eligibility criteria may not
be met if the Company acquires less than a controlling interest in the target company or business. In
addition, there may be a delay, which could be significant, between the completion of an Acquisition and
the date upon which the Company is able to seek or achieve a Premium Listing or a listing on another
stock exchange.
If the Company does not achieve a Premium Listing or the Directors decide to maintain the Standard Listing,
the Company will not be obliged to comply with the higher standards of corporate governance or other
requirements which it would be subject to upon achieving a Premium Listing and, for as long as the
Company continues to have a Standard Listing, it will be required to continue to comply with the lesser
standards applicable to a company with a Standard Listing. This would mean that the Company could be
operating a substantial business but would not need to comply with such higher standards as a Premium
Listing provides.
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Alternatively, in addition to, or in lieu of seeking a Premium Listing, the Company may determine to seek a
listing on another stock exchange, which may not have standards or corporate governance comparable
to those required by a Premium Listing or which Shareholders may otherwise consider to be less attractive
or convenient.

If the Company proposes making an Acquisition which constitutes a ‘Reverse Takeover’ under
the Listing Rules and the UKLA determines that there is insufficient information in the market
about the target company, business or assets, the Company’s Ordinary Shares may be
suspended from listing or cancelled and may not be readmitted to listing thereafter, which will
reduce liquidity in the Ordinary Shares, potentially for a significant period of time, and may
adversely affect the price at which a Shareholder can sell them
It is the Company’s duty under the Listing Rules to contact the UKLA as early as possible if a transaction
constituting a Reverse Takeover has been agreed or is in contemplation, to discuss whether a suspension
of the listing of the Company’s shares is appropriate. The UKLA retains a general power to suspend a
company’s securities where it considers it necessary to protect investors.
Generally, when a transaction constituting a Reverse Takeover is announced or leaked, there will be
insufficient publicly available information in the market about the proposed transaction and the listed
company will be unable to assess accurately its financial position and inform the market appropriately. In
this case, the UKLA will often consider that suspension of the listing of the listed company’s securities will
be appropriate. The London Stock Exchange will suspend the trading in the listed company’s securities if
the listing of such securities has been suspended. However, if the UKLA is satisfied that there is sufficient
publicly available information about the proposed transaction it may agree with the listed company that a
suspension is not required. The UKLA will generally be satisfied that a suspension is not required in the
following circumstances: (i) the target company is admitted to listing on a regulated market or another
exchange where the disclosure requirements in relation to financial information and inside information are
not materially different than the disclosure requirements under the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency
Rules; or (ii) the issuer is able to fill any information gap at the time of announcing the terms of the
transaction, including the disclosure of relevant financial information in relation to the target and a
description of the target.
If information regarding a significant proposed transaction were to leak to the market, or the Board
considered that there were good reasons for announcing the transaction at a time when it was unable to
provide the market with sufficient information regarding the impact of the Acquisition on its financial position,
the Ordinary Shares may be suspended. Any such suspension would be likely to continue until sufficient
financial information on the transaction was made public. Depending on the nature of the transaction (or
proposed transaction) and the stage at which it is leaked or announced, it may take a substantial period of
time to compile the relevant information, particularly where the target does not have financial or other
information readily available which is comparable with the information a listed company would be expected
to provide under the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules and the Listing Rules (for example, where
the target business is not itself already subject to a public disclosure regime), and the period during which
the Ordinary Shares would be suspended may therefore be significant.
The Listing Rules also provide that the UKLA will generally seek to cancel the listing of a listed company’s
securities when it completes a Reverse Takeover. In such circumstances, the Company may seek the
re-admission to listing either simultaneously with completion of any such Reverse Takeover or as soon
thereafter as is possible, but there is no guarantee that such re-admission would be granted.
A suspension or cancellation of the listing of the Company’s Ordinary Shares would materially reduce liquidity
in such shares which may affect an investor’s ability to realise some or all of its investment and/or the price
at which such investor can effect such realisation.

Notwithstanding that the Ordinary Shares are admitted to trading on the London Stock
Exchange, an active trading market in the Ordinary Shares may not develop, which would
adversely affect the liquidity and price of the Ordinary Shares
The price of the Ordinary Shares can vary due to a number of factors, including but not limited to, general
economic conditions and forecasts, the Company’s general business condition and the release of its financial
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reports. Although the Company’s current intention is that its securities should continue to trade on the
London Stock Exchange, it cannot assure investors that it will always do so. In addition, an active trading
market in the Ordinary Shares may not develop or, if developed, may not be maintained. Investors may be
unable to sell their Ordinary Shares unless a market can be established and maintained, and if the level of
liquidity in the Ordinary Shares declines.

Investors may not be able to realise returns on their investment in Ordinary Shares within a
period that they would consider to be reasonable
Investments in Ordinary Shares may be relatively illiquid. There may be a limited number of Shareholders
and this factor may contribute both to infrequent trading in the Ordinary Shares on the London Stock
Exchange and to volatile Ordinary Share price movements. Investors should not expect that they will
necessarily be able to realise their investment in Ordinary Shares within a period that they would regard as
reasonable. Accordingly, the Ordinary Shares may not be suitable for short-term investment. The admission
of the Ordinary Shares to trading on the London Stock Exchange should not be taken as implying that there
will be an active trading market for the Ordinary Shares. Even if there is an active trading market in the
Ordinary Shares, the market price for the Ordinary Shares may fall below the Placing Price.

Dividend payments may not be declared on the Ordinary Shares
The Company’s current intention is to retain any earnings for use in its business operations, and the Board
does not anticipate declaring any dividends in the foreseeable future. The Company will only pay dividends
to the extent that to do so is in accordance with the BVI Companies Act and all other applicable laws.

RISKS RELATING TO TAXATION
Taxation of returns from assets located outside of the UK may reduce any net return to
investors
To the extent that the assets, company or business which the Company acquires is or are established
outside the UK, it is possible that any return the Company receives from it may be reduced by irrecoverable
foreign withholding or other local taxes and this may reduce any net return derived by investors from a
shareholding in the Company.

Changes in tax law and practice may reduce any net returns for investors
The tax treatment of Shareholders of the Company, any special purpose vehicle that the Company may
establish and any company which the Company may acquire are all subject to changes in tax laws or
practices in England and Wales or any other relevant jurisdiction. Any change may reduce any net return
derived by investors from a shareholding in the Company.
Investors should not rely on the general guide to taxation set out in this document and should seek their
own specialist advice. The tax rates referred to in this document are those currently applicable and they are
subject to change.

There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to make returns for Shareholders in
a tax-efficient manner
It is intended that the Company will structure the group, including any asset, company or business acquired
in an Acquisition, to maximise returns for Shareholders in as fiscally efficient a manner as is practicable. The
Company has made certain assumptions regarding taxation. However, if these assumptions are not correct,
taxes may be imposed with respect to the Company’s assets, or the Company may be subject to tax on its
income, profits, gains or distributions (either on a liquidation and dissolution or otherwise) in a particular
jurisdiction or jurisdictions in excess of taxes that were anticipated. This could alter the post-tax returns for
Shareholders (or Shareholders in certain jurisdictions). The level of return for Shareholders may also be
adversely affected. Any change in laws or tax authority practices could also adversely affect any post-tax
returns of capital to Shareholders or payments of dividends (if any, which the Company does not envisage
the payment of, at least in the short to medium term). In addition, the Company may incur costs in taking
steps to mitigate any such adverse effect on the post-tax returns for Shareholders.
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PART III
IMPORTANT INFORMATION
The distribution of this document and the Placing may be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions and
therefore persons into whose possession this document comes should inform themselves about and
observe any restrictions, including those set out below. Any failure to comply with these restrictions may
constitute a violation of the securities laws of any such jurisdiction.

General
No action has been or will be taken in any jurisdiction that would permit a public offering of the Ordinary
Shares, or possession or distribution of this document or any other offering material in any country or
jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, the Ordinary Shares may not be offered
or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this document nor any other offering material or advertisement in
connection with the Ordinary Shares may be distributed or published in or from any country or jurisdiction
except under circumstances that will result in compliance with any and all applicable rules and regulations
of any such country or jurisdiction. Any failure to comply with these restrictions may constitute a violation of
the securities laws of any such jurisdiction. This document does not constitute an offer to subscribe for any
of the Ordinary Shares offered hereby to any person in any jurisdiction to whom it is unlawful to make such
offer or solicitation in such jurisdiction.
This document has been approved by the FCA as a prospectus which is required to be prepared and
published in connection with the admission of securities to a regulated market and which may be used to
offer securities to the public for the purposes of section 85 of FSMA, and of the Prospectus Directive. No
arrangement has however been made with the competent authority in any other EEA State (or any other
jurisdiction) for the use of this document as an approved prospectus in such jurisdiction and accordingly no
public offer is to be made in such jurisdiction. Issue or circulation of this document may be prohibited in
countries other than those in relation to which notices are given below.

For the attention of all investors
The Ordinary Shares are only suitable for acquisition by a person who: (a) has a significantly substantial
asset base such that would enable the person to sustain any loss that might be incurred as a result of
acquiring the Ordinary Shares; and (b) is sufficiently financially sophisticated to be reasonably expected to
know the risks involved in acquiring the Ordinary Shares.
The distribution of this document in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law and therefore persons into
whose possession this document comes should inform themselves about and observe any such restrictions.

For the attention of UK investors
This document comprises a prospectus relating to the Company prepared in accordance with the
Prospectus Rules and approved by the FCA under section 87A of FSMA. This document has been filed
with the FCA and made available to the public in accordance with Rule 3.2 of the Prospectus Rules.
This document is being distributed only to and is directed at persons in the United Kingdom who are:
(i) persons having professional experience in matters relating to investments falling within the definition of
‘investment professionals’ in Article 19(5) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial
Promotion) Order 2005 as amended (the “Financial Promotions Order”); or (ii) persons who are high net
worth bodies corporate, unincorporated associations and partnerships and the trustees of high value trusts,
as described in Article 49(2)(a)-(d) of the Financial Promotions Order; or (iii) persons to whom it may otherwise
be lawful to distribute (all such persons together being referred to as “relevant persons”).

Data Protection
The information that a prospective investor in the Company provides in documents in relation to a
subscription for Ordinary Shares or subsequently by whatever means which relates to the prospective
investor (if it is an individual) or a third party individual (“personal data”) will be held and processed by the
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Company (and/or any third party in the United Kingdom to whom it may delegate certain administrative
functions in relation to the Company) in compliance with: (a) the relevant data protection legislation and
regulatory requirements of the EEA; and (b) the Company’s privacy policy, a copy of which is available on
the Company’s website at http://uplandres.com/privacy-policy/ (“Company’s Privacy Policy”), (and, if
applicable, any other third party delegate’s privacy notice).
Without limitation to the foregoing, each prospective investor should be aware that any such information
will be held and processed by the Company (and/or any third party, functionary, or agent appointed by the
Company, which will include, without limitation, the Registrar) in accordance with and for the purposes set
out in the Company’s Privacy Policy.
Where necessary to fulfil the purposes set out in the Company’s Privacy Policy, the Company will:l

disclose personal data to other functionaries of, or advisers to, the Company to operate and/or
administer the Company; and

l

transfer personal data outside of the EEA to countries or territories which do not offer the same level
of protection for the rights and freedoms of prospective investors, provided that suitable safeguards
are put in place and the transfer is carried out on a legal basis.

The foregoing processing of personal data is required in order to perform the contract with the prospective
investor, to comply with the legal and regulatory obligations of the Company or otherwise is necessary for
the legitimate interests of the Company.
If the Company (or any third party, functionary or agent appointed by the Company, which will include,
without limitation, the Registrar) discloses personal data to such a third party, agent or functionary and/or
makes such a transfer of personal data, it will ensure that adequate safeguards are in place for the protection
of such personal data, details of which are set out in the Company’s Privacy Policy or otherwise notified
from time to time.
Prospective investors are responsible for informing any third party individual to whom the personal data
relates of the disclosure and use of such data in accordance with these provisions. Individuals have certain
rights in relation to their personal data; such rights and the manner in which they can be exercised are set
out in the Company’s Privacy Policy.

Forward looking statements
This document includes statements that are, or may be deemed to be, ‘forward-looking statements’. In
some cases, these forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology,
including the terms ‘targets’, ‘believes’, ‘estimates’, ‘anticipates’, ‘expects’, ‘intends’, ‘may’, ‘will’, ‘should’
or, in each case, their negative or other variations or comparable terminology. They appear in a number of
places throughout the document and include statements regarding the intentions, beliefs or current
expectations of the Company and the Board of Directors concerning, inter alia: (i) the Company’s objective,
acquisition and financing strategies, results of operations, financial condition, capital resources, prospects,
capital appreciation of the Ordinary Shares and dividends; and (ii) future deal flow and implementation of
active management strategies, including with regard to any Acquisition. By their nature, forward-looking
statements involve risks and uncertainties because they relate to events and depend on circumstances that
may or may not occur in the future. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance.
The Company’s actual performance, results of operations, financial condition, distributions to shareholders
and the development of its financing strategies may differ materially from the forward-looking statements
contained in this document. In addition, even if the Company’s actual performance, results of operations,
financial condition, distributions to shareholders and the development of its financing strategies are
consistent with the forward-looking statements contained in this document, those results or developments
may not be indicative of results or developments in subsequent periods.
Prospective investors should carefully review the ‘Risk Factors’ set out in Part II of this document for a
discussion of additional factors that could cause the Company’s actual results to differ materially, before
making an investment decision. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this paragraph constitutes a
qualification of the working capital statement set out in paragraph 8 (Working Capital) of Part XVII of this
document.
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Forward looking statements contained in this document apply only as at the date of this document. Subject
to any obligations under the Listing Rules, the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules and the
Prospectus Rules, the Company undertakes no obligation publicly to update or review any forward-looking
statement, whether as a result of new information, future developments or otherwise.
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PART IV
EXPECTED TIMETABLE
Publication of this document

18 June 2018

Completion of the Placing

8.00 a.m. on 21 June 2018

Admission of the Placing Shares effective and commencement of
dealings in the Placing Shares (in Depositary Interest form)

8.00 a.m. on 21 June 2018

CREST members’ accounts credited in respect of Depositary Interests
(representing Placing Shares)

8.00 a.m. on 21 June 2018

Certificates in respect of Placing Shares despatched

Annex III 4.7
Annex III 5.1.3

by 29 June 2018

All references to time in this document are to London time, unless otherwise stated.

PLACING STATISTICS
Existing Ordinary Shares in issue

459,012,060

Total number of Placing Shares to be allotted and issued pursuant to the Placing

120,000,000

Placing Shares as a percentage of the Enlarged Share Capital
Total number of Ordinary Shares in issue (comprising the Enlarged Share Capital)
following completion of the Placing and Admission
Placing Price per Placing Share

20.72%
579,012,060

2.5p

Gross proceeds of the Placing

£3,000,000

Estimated Net Placing Proceeds receivable by the Company

£2,644,500

Market capitalisation of the Company at the Placing Price

£7,969,581
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DEALING CODES
The dealing codes for the Ordinary Shares are as follows
ISIN

VGG7552A1075

SEDOL

BYZFL59

TIDM

UPL

The Legal Entity Identifier (LEI) of the Company is 213800MRG7ISJEK8YA38
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PART V

Annex 1 14.1
Annex III 10.1

DIRECTORS, AGENTS AND ADVISERS
Directors

Mohamad Norza Bin Zakaria (Non-Executive Chairman)
Dr George Henry Stephen Staley (Chief Executive)
Jeremy Edward Stuart King (Non-Executive)
Bolhassan Bin Haji Di (Non-Executive)

Corporate Administrator

Elian Fiduciary Services (BVI) Limited
Ritter House
Wickhams Cay II
P O Box 3170
Road Town
Tortola VG1110
British Virgin Islands

Registered Office

Ritter House
Wickhams Cay II
Road Town
Tortola VG1110
British Virgin Islands

Principal Office

Unit 4
The Green Man
10 St John Street
Ashbourne
Derbyshire
DE6 1GH

Financial Adviser and Broker

Optiva Securities Limited
49 Berkeley Square
London
W1J 5AZ

Auditors

Crowe Clark Whitehill LLP
St. Bride’s House
10 Salisbury Square
London
EC4Y 8EH

Annex I 2.1

Reporting Accountants
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Bridge House
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London
SE1 9QR
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Legal advisers to the Company
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4 More London Riverside
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SE1 2AU

Legal advisers to the Company
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Competent Person

Blackwatch Petroleum Services Limited
53 Davies Street
Mayfair
London
W1K 5JH

Registrar

Computershare Investor Services (BVI) Limited
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Road Town
Tortola
British Virgin Islands

Depositary

Computershare Investor Services plc
The Pavilions
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PART VI
THE COMPANY’S STRATEGY AND BUSINESS

1. Introduction
The Company was incorporated on 14 March 2012 as a company with limited liability under the BVI
Companies Act and with an indefinite life.
The Company is authorised to issue one class of shares (the “Ordinary Shares”). All of the Existing Ordinary
Shares have previously been admitted by the UKLA to a Standard Listing on the Official List in accordance
with Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules and by the London Stock Exchange to trading on the LSE’s Main
Market. It is intended that the Placing Shares will also be admitted by the UKLA to a Standard Listing on
the Official List in accordance with Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules and by the London Stock Exchange to
trading on the LSE’s Main Market and will rank pari passu in all respects, and as one class, with the Existing
Ordinary Shares.

2. Opportunity
The Directors believe that increasing global industrialisation and urbanisation, particularly in the emerging
African and Asian markets, plus increased concern about security of energy supply in some developed
economies is likely to lead to increased local demand for energy production in the medium to long term.
Over the same period, the Directors believe that the supply of oil and gas in these markets will be constrained
by insufficient investment to keep pace with increased demand and by exploration and development
challenges, which are likely in each case to generate sustained inflation in commodity pricing. However, the
world has recently experienced an oversupply of oil and gas that has led to a sharp fall in the price of these
commodities. This price has slowly risen over the past year and now appears to have stabilised, supported
by agreed production cuts by OPEC member states and, critically, Russia.
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The Directors consider these dynamics to be particularly apparent in the oil & gas industry. In recent years,
the oil & gas industry has become significantly consolidated. Such consolidation has resulted in the
acquisition of many mid-sized companies and the domination of the industry by a small number of nonstate owned, vertically integrated companies (commonly known as the ‘oil majors’ or ‘majors’) and national
oil companies. However, many valuable resource assets have been acquired by non-majors, which often
do not have access to capital or sufficient know-how to realise their development potential, especially in an
increasingly complex technical environment. Many of these businesses have a bias towards exploration and
development assets, so consequently do not have sufficient producing assets to benefit from oil production
in order to de-leverage their balance sheets. The relatively recent fall in oil and gas prices exacerbated what
was an already difficult situation for many companies and has tended to mean that larger than usual areas
of many countries remain unlicensed for hydrocarbon exploration after the incumbents have relinquished
their permits. This has in turn meant that some governments offer more attractive terms to foreign investors
in the hydrocarbon sector. Other parts of the oil & gas sector demonstrate similar characteristics.
Accordingly, the Directors believe that the oil & gas industry presents multiple attractive investment
opportunities. These include the opportunity to farm in to assets held by, or to acquire privately owned
natural resource businesses, or illiquid emerging market listed entities without the ‘know-how’ or capital to
unlock the value of their natural resource assets.

3. Company objective
The Company was formed for the purpose of acquiring target companies, businesses or assets that have
operations in the oil & gas exploration and production sector that it will then look to develop and expand. It
may also apply to the relevant governmental authorities for licences or permits to explore, appraise and/or
develop oil & gas assets. It is not intended that the Company simply acquire minority stakes in entities
operating in the oil & gas sector, but that it acquires and actively manages oil & gas assets/businesses.
There is no specific expected target value for any Acquisition and the Company expects that any funds not
used for an Acquisition will be used for internal or external growth and expansion, and working capital in
relation to acquired assets, companies or businesses.
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The Company (including subsequently acquired or incorporated subsidiaries) will form a trading
business/group, rather than an investment entity. The Company intends to grow this operational oil & gas
exploration and production business both organically and by acquisition. The Company aims to achieve its
objective through the identification and acquisition of assets, companies or businesses where the existing
owners are attracted to the Company’s proposition, namely the opportunity to sell for cash or accept
undertakings to finance and carry out work commitments or hold an ownership interest in a company whose
equity securities are listed on the London Stock Exchange, with cash, access to capital markets and the
‘know-how’ to unlock the value of their acquired oil & gas assets.
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The Company intends to focus on acquiring assets where value is trapped by virtue of a lack of capital,
technical expertise or management focus. The Directors believe such trapped value may often occur in
family-controlled businesses and small companies or where the business or assets are considered to be
non-core by a larger natural resources company.
Following completion of an Acquisition, the objective of the Company will be to actively manage the acquired
asset, company or business and implement an operating strategy with a view to generating value for its
Shareholders through operational improvements as well as through additional complementary acquisitions.
Following completion of any Company/Business Acquisition which constitutes a Reverse Takeover, the
Company would be required to seek re-admission of the enlarged group to listing on the Official List and
trading on the London Stock Exchange or admission to another stock exchange.
The Company’s efforts in identifying prospective assets, companies or businesses in the oil & gas sector
will not be limited to a particular geographic region. The Company is currently looking at further onshore
and shallow marine opportunities primarily in the UK, Tunisia and Morocco (e.g. the Rharb Basin in Morocco)
and the Far East (Malaysia). However, the Company will not exclude other geographic regions where an
opportunity presents an appropriate acquisition opportunity.
The Company has previously considered opportunities in a number of countries, including Tunisia and Egypt,
but in light of the terrorist attacks in Tunis and Sousse in March and June 2015, the Board decided not to
pursue the Tunisian opportunities. However, the return to a more normal security environment in Tunisia, as
evidenced by the UK Foreign Office’s lifting of its travel warnings for most of the country in July 2017, has
led the Company to put Tunisia back on its list of target countries. The Company has however ceased
looking at opportunities in Egypt due to the ongoing (although improved) payment problems being
experienced by other oil companies and the continuing instability in that country. The Company has not
entered into any binding commitments in respect of these, other than confidentiality agreements, but is
currently in advanced negotiations on substantial North African opportunities.
The Company has not engaged or retained any agent or other representative to identify or locate any suitable
Acquisition candidate, to conduct any research or take any measures, directly or indirectly, to locate or
contact a target company or business.
Unless required by applicable law or other regulatory process, no Shareholder approval will be sought by
the Company in relation to any Acquisition.
The Company has not entered into any arrangement with Optiva Securities or any of its other advisers as
principal under which any such adviser is entitled to any success fees or remuneration in relation to any
Acquisition made by the Company.

4. Business plan
The Company’s strategic objective of the acquisition of oil & gas assets as the base for the further
development and expansion of the Company’s activities, is based on the key assumption that there will
continue to be a large number of opportunities to acquire assets in the upstream oil & gas sector. The Board
considers this to be a safe assumption, as the sector has been characterised for many years by a high
degree of ‘asset churn’ and a plethora of assets on offer at any given time. The key sensitivities are (i) that
political instability in some countries/areas make asset acquisitions unattractive there, but the Company’s
willingness to consider transactions in a wide range of geographies minimises this risk and (ii) volatility in the
oil price can lead to major oil and gas companies ceasing to be interested in making further investment in
upstream oil & gas projects for a period of time, but this is mitigated by the fact that the Company has low
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overheads and will therefore have sufficient funds to enable it to continue as a going concern for a
considerable period of time. The Board’s past experience has shown that the period of the cycles affecting
oil & gas investments are short enough to enable the Company to ride such periods out. These key
sensitivities ensure that there is likely to be no shortage of projects for the Company to evaluate.

5. PEDL 299/Block SK46c
In October 2014, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Upland UK, together with its co-applicants (Europa
Oil & Gas and Shale Petroleum (UK) Limited) applied for a UK petroleum exploration and development licence
(“PEDL”) covering the East Midlands Blocks SK46c and SK47b offered by the Oil and Gas Authority (“OGA”)
in the 14th UK Onshore Licensing Round. On 17 December 2015, the OGA announced that Upland UK and
its co-applicants, together with INEOS Upstream, had been awarded a PEDL in respect of one of the Blocks
applied for (Block SK46c) and another Block which Upland UK and its co-applicants had not applied for and in
respect of which it was agreed between all the parties that only INEOS Upstream would have an economic
interest in (Block SK36a).
As announced on 6 October 2016, Upland UK, together with INEOS Upstream (as operator), Europa Oil & Gas
and Shale Petroleum (UK) Limited, entered into PEDL 299 with The Secretary of State for Energy and Climate
Change in respect of Block SK46c (including parts of Hardstoft Field). PEDL 299 incorporates the ‘Model Clauses’
for such a licence set out in the Petroleum Licensing (Exploration and Production) (Landward Areas) Regulations
2014 and is for an ‘Initial Term’ of 5 years beginning with the start date (21 July 2016) and a ‘Second Term’ of
5 years following expiry of the Initial Term.
This was the first acquisition in the execution of the Company’s business plan.
The parties originally agreed that their percentage/participating interests in PEDL 299 would be as follows:Party

Percentage/Participating interests

INEOS Upstream (operator)
Europa Oil & Gas
Shale Petroleum (UK) Limited (now Europa Oil & Gas (UK) Limited)*
Upland UK

50%
16.665%
16.665%
16.67%

(* acquired by Europa Oil & Gas on 15 August 2016)

However, following the recent acquisition by Europa Oil & Gas of Shale Petroleum (UK) Limited (“Shale
Petroleum”), Europa Oil & Gas (Holdings) plc agreed on 4 October 2016 to assign Shale Petroleum (UK)
Limited’s 16.665% interest in PEDL299 – as to 8.33% to Upland UK and as to 8.335% to Europa Oil & Gas.
This was as part of a pre-existing arrangement should any member of the original bid group withdraw from
the bid consortium. The percentage/participating interests in PEDL 299 are therefore now as follows:Party

Percentage/Participating interests

INEOS Upstream (operator)
Europa Oil & Gas
Upland UK

50%
25%
25%

These interests are reflected in the joint operating agreement dated 18 May 2017 for PEDL 299/Block SK46c
which was subsequently entered into between the above parties. Further details of the joint operating agreement
are set out in paragraph 12.11(b) of Part XVII (Additional Information) of this document.
Reflecting the differing exploration emphases of the partners, the above interests will apply to all oil & gas plays
in Block SK46c below the top of the Carboniferous Limestone Supergroup, including the Dinantian Limestone
and all hydrocarbon accumulations that are part of the same hydrocarbon column above it (the “Deep Zone”),
these being ‘conventional’ (broadly not requiring the use of multi-stage tracking to produce them) hydrocarbon
plays. INEOS Upstream will have all the rights and obligations relating to the other, primarily unconventional, oil
& gas plays (‘shale gas’ and ‘shale oil’, typically requiring multi-stage fracking) above the Dinantian Limestone
(the “Shallow Zone”) in Block SK46c. Details of the trust deed dated 18 May 2017 that the parties have entered
into to this effect are set out in paragraph 12.11(c) of Part XVII (Additional Information) of this document.
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INEOS Upstream is the nominated ‘operator’ under PEDL 299: every PEDL must have one company that
takes the lead in dealings with government, contractors, coordination of activities etc. as ‘operator’, for
which efforts they are reimbursed by their co-licensees.
Block SK46c lies to the northwest of Mansfield in the East Midlands ‘Petroleum Province’. The emphasis is the
rejuvenation of the historic, conventional Hardstoft Oil Field in Block SK46c. This potential was identified by
Upland and the securing of a permit over it was the primary objective of Upland UK’s and its bid partners’
application. Hardstoft was first drilled in 1919; this simple vertical well produced oil from Dinantian Carbonates
without water cut for several years. The Hardstoft accumulation is part of the Deep Zone in which Upland UK
has its equity interest.
A map showing the Block SK46c is set out below:-

A map showing the Block SK46c is set out below:-

Source: DECC map ‘14th Onshore Round of Licensing Blocks under Offer’

The Board considered a number of onshore UK areas before deciding to concentrate on this area. There
are several reasons for this choice, including the presence of existing oil & gas operations close by, good
nearby gas infrastructure, ease of trucking potential oil production to a refinery, a history of oil production
from the Dinantian carbonates within the PEDL plus the potential for additional prospectivity. In addition,
the area has been for many years one with oil & gas, coal and heavy industrial activity. It is not within a
National Park or area of outstanding natural beauty.
The Board believes that a modern high-angle well in the Hardstoft structure could access reserves over a
much larger area than can have been seen by the original wells. An independent Competent Person’s Report
dated 24 April 2018 and contained in Part XVI of this document prepared by Blackwatch Petroleum Services
Limited (“Blackwatch”) on behalf of the Company estimates there to be 3.10 MMbbl of contingent
recoverable resource plus 3.65 MMbbl prospective resource (making a total of 6.75 MMbbl resource) in the
broader Hardstoft structure alone, all sitting in Block SK46c and on a ‘best’ or ‘central case’ basis. Total
Hardstoft resource net to the Company and, based on Blackwatch’s Competent Person’s Report, is
estimated at 1.6875 MMbbl. In the CPR, Blackwatch estimates the chance of success for the contingent
resource at 80% and 64% for the prospective resource.
–
Financial commitments under PEDL 299
Following the execution of PEDL 299, Upland UK and its co- licensees are obliged to pay at the start of each
year of the licence an annual acreage ‘rental fee’ in respect of the licensed area - which is set by DECC/OGA
at £25/km2/yr for the first five years of the PEDL – i.e. about £2,000 per year, of which the Company’s share
would be £250 per year based on agreement reached between the Company and its co-licensees (albeit Upland
UK and its co- licensees are jointly and severally liable to the OGA for the total rental fees).
As part of a broader scope of work over both the Deep Zone and the Shallow Zone, Upland UK and the
other Deep Zone participants have committed to acquire at least 45km of firm 2D seismic data over the
acreage of the PEDL. Due to the stratigraphic split between the Deep and Shallow Zones, it is expected
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that Upland UK’s share of these costs will be 12.5%, not 25%. They have also indicated to the OGA that
they are sufficiently confident that one or more of the opportunities presented by PEDL 299 will mature and
have committed to drilling one well to a minimum depth of 1,000m on the licensed area. Depending on the
objectives of that well, Upland UK will be liable for up to 25% of its costs. If the well’s sole objective lies in
the Deep Zone, the maximum 25% contribution will be payable. If objectives in the overlying Shallow Zone
are also being assessed by the well, then Upland UK’s contribution will be less than 25%.
The amount of expenditure involved is not known or agreed at the date of this document, but is well within
the existing cash resources of the Group (even prior to completion of the Placing). The ‘best estimate’ that
the Company can give at present is set out below although clearly, as the exact scope (for example the
depth of well, whether its objectives are located in both Deep and Shallow Zones and the type of electric
logs to be run in the well) of the work under PEDL 299 has not as yet been agreed by Upland UK with its
co-licensees, the costs may vary. They may also vary due to market conditions, US$ to sterling exchange
rates, etc. which can affect the cost of services:-

Licence year

Expenditure
(£’000s)

Purpose

1/2/3
3/4
4/5

47
19
568

S eismic reprocessing & acquisition & processing of new 2D seismic
Preparation for new well
New well

The expected timings and amounts of the above capital expenditures in relation to PEDL 299 are also
included in the ‘Expected Capital Expenditure Table’ in paragraph 7 of Part VIII of this document.
–
Co-licensees
The Company’s co-licensees are Europa Oil & Gas (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Europa Oil & Gas (Holdings)
plc) and Shale Petroleum Limited (UK) Limited (previously independent, but now since 15 August 2016,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Europa Oil & Gas) and INEOS Upstream.
Europa Oil & Gas (Holdings) plc is listed on AIM (ticker: EOG) and is an established, London-based UK
onshore operator with existing production and/or exploration activities in the UK and Ireland.
INEOS Upstream is a wholly-owned subsidiary of INEOS Group Holdings S.A., a global manufacturer of
petrochemicals, speciality chemicals & oil products with sales of around US$60 billion in 2017 and whose
production network spans 181 sites in 22 countries throughout the world.

6. Wressle Farm-ins – PEDLs 180 & 182 (Wressle and Broughton North)
On 24 November 2016, Upland UK entered into the Wressle Farm-in Agreement for the farm-in by Upland
UK (by way of assignment from Europa Oil & Gas) to a 10% interest in each of PEDL 180 and PEDL 182
(including the Wressle Field and Broughton North developments) for an aggregate consideration of
£1,600,000 payable on completion (satisfied as to £1,300,000 in cash and £300,000 by the issue of
23,076,923 new Ordinary Shares) and a further contingent consideration of £250,000 (if payable, to be
satisfied by the issue of 19,230,769 new Ordinary Shares). Completion of the Wressle Farm-in Agreement
was subject to satisfaction of a number of conditions (including consent of the OGA to the assignments
and receipt of certain planning consents and an environmental permit to enable and implement Phase 1 of
the Wressle Field development). The ‘long stop’ date for satisfaction of the conditions of the Wressle Farm-in
Agreement was extended first on 21 February 2017 and then again on 26 September 2017 due to the delay
in obtaining the necessary planning consents from North Lincolnshire Council. However, these planning
consents were rejected on appeal on 4 January 2018 and on 25 January 2018, Upland UK therefore
terminated the Wressle Farm-in Agreement and its acquisition of the 10% interests in PEDL 180 and
PEDL 182.

7. Wick Farm-in – UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 (Inner Moray Firth)
On 24 May 2018, Upland UK completed the Wick Farm-in Agreement for the farm-in by Upland UK (by way
of assignment from Corallian Energy) to a 40% interest in UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 (UKCS
Block 11/24b), covering some 18.1 km2 in the Inner Moray Firth, offshore North East Scotland. Further
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details of the terms and conditions of the Wick Farm-in Agreement are set out in paragraph 12.6 of Part
XVII (Additional Information) of this document.
Under the Wick Farm-in Agreement, Upland UK has agreed to pay its pro rata share of past costs (estimated
at a gross amount of £44,000) plus 53.33% of the costs of the environmental survey and the first well to be
drilled on the Wick Prospect. When the total gross cost of the latter two items has reached £4.2 million,
Upland UK’s share of costs reduces to their pro rata 40% share for all amounts above £4.2 million.
Further details of the terms and conditions of the Wick Farm-in Agreement and details of UK Offshore
Production Licence P2235 and the joint operating agreement relating to UK Offshore Production Licence
P2235 (to which Upland UK would become a party on completion of the Wick Farm-in Agreement) are set
out in paragraph 12.6 of Part XVII (Additional Information) of this document.
A map showing UKCS Block 11/24b (the licensed area under UK Offshore Production Licence P2235) is
set out below:-

Sources: Corallian Energy & Optiva Securities

–
History
UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 was originally awarded in December 2014 and formally granted to
Fyrd Energy Limited on 16 April 2015 (with a start date of 1 December 2014) and was assigned to Corallian
Energy in October 2016.
–
Financial commitments assumed under UK Offshore Production Licence P2235
Following completion of the Wick Farm in Agreement, Upland UK has assumed its funding obligations as
described above, together with obligations which include its share of the annual acreage rental fee which
will total £5,430 in 2018 - hence Upland UK’s share will be £2,172.
Following drilling of the Wick Well, the licensees will have discharged their commitments to the OGA in
respect of the current phase of the UK Offshore Production Licence P2235. However, in the event of the
Wick Well being a discovery and such discovery being of a size and nature such that the licensees deem it
to be commercially attractive, they may choose to develop it. Such development will bring additional costs
including project planning, regulatory filings, front-end engineering costs, construction costs and additional
drilling costs. The Expected Capital Expenditure Table and text in paragraph 7 in Part VIII of this document
shows one such funding scenario – actual funding costs will depend on, inter alia, the daily volumes of
hydrocarbons likely to be produced.
–
Licensees (UK Offshore Production Licence P2235)
The sole existing licensee in respect of UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 is Corallian Energy.
Substantially simultaneously with execution of the Wick Farm-in Agreement, Corallian Energy also entered
into a farm out agreement with Corfe Energy Limited (“Corfe Energy”) in respect of a 20% interest in UK
Offshore Production Licence P2235. Corfe Energy subsequently assigned its right to farm in to 15% (of the
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20%) interest to Baron Oil plc (“Baron Oil”), retaining the right to farm-in to the remaining 5% interest, and
Corallian Energy also then entered into a farm out agreement on 6 March 2018 direct with Baron Oil in
respect of such 15% interest. Following completion of all three farm-out agreements on 24 May 2018, the
licence interests of Corallian Energy, Upland UK, Baron Oil and Corfe Energy are therefore as follows:Party

Percentage/Participating interests

Corallian Energy
Upland UK
Baron Oil
Corfe Energy

40%
40%
15%
5%

Both Corallian Energy and Corfe Energy are independent, privately-owned exploration and production
companies incorporated and based in the UK. Baron Oil (previously Gold Oil plc until June 2013) is an
exploration and production company based in the UK, whose shares have been admitted to trading on AIM
since July 2004 (ticker: BOIL).
–
Drilling of Wick Well
On 14 May 2018, Corallian Energy announced that it had entered into a letter of intent with Ensco U.K.
Limited for the provision of a jack-up rig to drill the Wick well. The Wick well, with targets within the Wick
structure, is scheduled to commence drilling in the third quarter of 2018.

8.

Recent Fundraising and Convertible Loan Notes Facility

–
Subscription by Tune Assets Limited
On 21 February 2018, Tune Assets Limited (“Tune Assets”) completed a subscription for 74,074,074 new
Ordinary Shares at 1.35p per share in cash to raise £1,000,000 (before expenses) for the Company, which
completion took place upon the admission of such new Ordinary Shares to the Official List by way of a
Standard Listing and to trading on the LSE’s Main Market. Such new Ordinary Shares currently represent
16.2% of the Company’s existing issued share capital.
Tune Assets is a company in the Tune Group founded in 2001 by Tony Fernandes and Kamarudin Meranun
with the aim of providing affordable products and services across multiple industries including airlines, hotels,
telecommunication and sports.
The funds from this subscription, when combined with the Company’s existing cash reserves (which are
currently approximately £1.99 million), are to be used to part fund the obligations of Upland UK under the
Wick Farm-in Agreement. They will also contribute to Upland UK’s share of costs to fund work on its existing
assets, on new ventures and on the ongoing costs of running the business.
Further details of the subscription by Tune Assets is set out in paragraph 12.5 of Part XVII of this document.
–
Convertible Loan Notes Facility
On 8 March 2018, the Company announced that it had received (and accepted) commitments, directly and
without an intermediary, from private and institutional investors (the “Facility Providers”) to subscribe for
£3,500,000 principal of unsecured, interest-free loan notes, convertible into Ordinary Shares at the sole
option of the Company (the “Convertible Loan Notes”). The Convertible Loan Notes provide the Company
with the ability to draw down appropriate sums at short notice, at times of the Company’s choosing and
with a near-zero execution cost, hence reducing dilution for existing shareholders.
This Convertible Loan Notes Facility will be a useful tool over the coming months as the Company expects
to become increasingly active, including through its participation in the drilling of the Wick well in the third
quarter of this year; which although fully funded from existing cash resources and the Net Placing Proceeds,
allows flexibility towards cost over runs and costs of sourcing, reviewing and pursuing Acquisition
opportunities.
Further details of the Convertible Loan Notes Facility and the terms of the Convertible Loan Notes created
by the Company (but as yet unissued) are set out in paragraphs 12.3 and 12.4 of Part XVII of this document.
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9. Memorandum of Understanding – Sarawak
On 13 April 2018, the Company entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (the “MOU”) with Brooke
Dockyard and Engineering Works Corporation (“Brooke”), a Sarawak State entity, to jointly assess, explore
for and develop hydrocarbon assets within the State of Sarawak, Malaysia.
This MOU with Brooke represents a unique arrangement within the Sarawak upstream oil & gas industry,
being the first such public/private collaboration with a Sarawakian entity. It also comes at a time of
considerable change and opportunity in the Malaysian oil sector. This joint venture follows meetings with,
and is at the behest of, the Chief Minister and State Secretary of Sarawak and so enjoys the full backing of
the State of Sarawak.
The skills and experience of the Company and Brooke are well-matched; the Company bringing international
experience and technical expertise, whilst Brooke provides excellent local contacts and experience in both
the oil & gas industry and in wider Sarawakian society.
The Company and Brooke have already been working together for some time and are well-advanced in
their assessment of a number of upstream oil & gas opportunities.
Background
Sarawak is one of the states in the Federation of Malaysia and is situated on the island of Borneo. Sarawak
has a long history of oil production beginning with hand-dug wells at least as long ago as the 11th Century.
The first oil lease was signed in 1909 and commercial oil production began in 1910 at Miri, where Shell
made Malaysia’s first oil discovery and built Malaysia’s first oil refinery. Sarawak continues to have an active
oil & gas sector, with most activity today being offshore.
The Board believes that considerable potential exists in Sarawak for further discoveries and for the
reappraisal of existing fields.
Petroleum Sarawak Berhad
As part of the State Government of Sarawak’s initiative to increase Sarawak’s participation in the upstream
oil & gas sector, it has recently constituted Petroleum Sarawak Berhad (“Petros”) as a new arm of the
regional government.
Both the Company and Brooke enjoy good relations with Petros and are in an excellent position to assist
Petros in establishing itself in its role for the mutual benefit of all parties.
Brooke is a government statutory body, wholly-owned by the State Government of Sarawak and based in
Kuching. It was founded in 1912 and is currently, with the exception of Petros, the State of Sarawak’s only
entity involved in the upstream oil & gas industry. Brooke is an integrated engineering corporation that is
also engaged in the marine and land-based engineering sectors, including petrochemical plant fabrication,
bridges and shipbuilding and ship repair. In the upstream oil & gas industry, Brooke is involved in the
fabrication and commissioning of offshore drilling platforms, modules and subsea templates.

10. Placing
In order to provide Upland UK with the funds to enable it to meet its obligation as a licensee under UK
Offshore Production Licence P2235 following completion of the Wick Farm-in Agreement, the due diligence,
and other transaction costs in respect of the Wick Farm-in Agreement, Upland UK’s share of the capital
costs of future exploration, appraisal and development of PEDL 299, to pursue additional opportunities and
to pay the fees and expenses of the Placing and Admission (including the preparation of this document),
the Company is carrying out a Placing of 120,000,000 new Ordinary Shares at a placing price of 2.5p per
share to raise £3,000,000 (before expenses) for the Company. The balance of the Placing proceeds will be
used for the Group’s ongoing working capital purposes.
Further details regarding the Placing are set out in Part VIII (The Placing) of this document.
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11. Capital and returns management
The Company expects to raise net proceeds of approximately £2,644,500 from the Placing in order to, inter
alia, provide Upland UK with the funds to enable it to meet its obligation as a licensee under UK Offshore
Production Licence P2235 following completion of the Wick Farm-in Agreement. The Directors believe that
further equity capital raisings may be required by the Company for working capital purposes as the Company
pursues its objectives, but for the avoidance of any doubt, the Company will (taking into account the Net
Placing Proceeds and the Company’s existing resources including cash held/cash resources and funding
arrangements) have sufficient working capital to fund its requirements (including its obligations under PEDL
299 and the Wick Farm-ins) for at least 12 months from the date of this document. The amount of any such
additional equity to be raised, which could be substantial, will depend on the nature of the acquisition
opportunities which arise and the form of consideration the Company uses to make an Acquisition and
cannot be determined at this time.

ESMA/CESR
paras 33-37

The £3,500,000 Convertible Loan Notes Facility may be utilised by the Company for cost overruns on the
Wick Well (if required) and if the Company decides to call upon such Facility.
The pre-emption rights contained in the Articles in relation to issues of ‘Equity Securities’ (as defined in
section 560(1) of the UK Companies Act 2006) have been waived by a special resolution of shareholders of
the Company passed at the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 14 December 2017 (i) for
rights/pre-emptive issues to existing shareholders pro rata to existing shareholdings, but which may not
comply in all respects with the requirements of the Articles regarding pre-emptive offers to existing
shareholders, up to an aggregate number equal to 200% of the aggregate number of Equity Securities in
issue on the date of passing of the resolution (383,168,631 Ordinary Shares) and (ii) for other purposes, up
to an aggregate number equal to 200% of the aggregate number of Equity Securities in issue on the date
of passing of the resolution (383,168,631 Ordinary Shares), on the basis that Regulation 3 of the Articles
was waived in respect of all and any such allotments and issues of Equity Securities and on the basis that
such waivers continue until the earlier of the fifth anniversary of the passing of the resolution or the 2022
Annual General Meeting of the Company (subject as provided in such resolution).
Otherwise, Shareholders will have pre-emption rights which will generally apply in respect of future issues
of Ordinary Shares for cash. No pre-emption rights exist in respect of future share issues wholly or partly
other than for cash and the Directors were expressly authorised by a special resolution of shareholders of
the Company passed at the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 14 December 2017 to allot
Ordinary Shares for the purposes of or in connection with any Acquisition (including in respect of
consideration payable for an Acquisition) or in connection with the restructuring of any debt or other financial
obligation relating to any Acquisition (whether assumed or entered into by the Company or owed or
guaranteed by any company or entity acquired).
The Company expects that any returns for Shareholders would derive primarily from capital appreciation of
the Ordinary Shares and any dividends paid pursuant to the Company’s dividend policy set out below in
this Part VI.

12. Dividend policy
The Company’s current intention is to retain any earnings for use in its business operations, and the Board
does not anticipate declaring any dividends in the foreseeable future. The Company will only pay dividends
to the extent that to do so is in accordance with the BVI Companies Act and all other applicable laws.

13. Corporate governance
In order to implement its business strategy, the Company has adopted a corporate governance structure
more fully outlined in Part VII (The Company and the Board). The key features of its structure are:l

three Non-Executive Directors. The Board is knowledgeable and experienced and has extensive
experience of making international acquisitions and has relevant experience in the oil & gas sector;

l

consistent with the rules applicable to companies with a Standard Listing, unless required by law or
other regulatory process, Shareholder approval is not required in order for the Company to complete
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any Acquisition (including a Company/Business Acquisition constituting a Reverse Takeover). The
Company will, however, be required to obtain the approval of the Board of Directors, before it may
complete any Acquisition;
l

the Board intends to comply, so far as it is practicable for a company of the Company’s size and nature,
with certain Main Principles of the UK Corporate Governance Code (as set out in more detail in Part VII
(The Company and the Board)); and

l

following any Acquisition (and in particular, a Company/Business Acquisition constituting a Reverse
Takeover), the Company may seek to transfer from a Standard Listing to either a Premium Listing or
other appropriate listing venue (e.g. AIM), based on the track record of the company or business it
acquires, subject to fulfilling the relevant eligibility criteria at the time. If the Company is successful in
obtaining a Premium Listing, further rules will apply to the Company under the Listing Rules and
Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules and to comply or explain any derogation from the UK
Corporate Governance Code. In addition to, or in lieu of, a Premium Listing, the Company may
determine to seek a listing on another stock exchange (e.g. AIM) or seek re-admission to a Standard
Listing.
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PART VII
THE COMPANY AND THE BOARD

1. The Company
The Company was incorporated on 14 March 2012 as a company with limited liability under the BVI
Companies Act and with an indefinite life. On 26 October 2015, all of the Ordinary Shares then in issue
were admitted to listing on the standard listing segment of the Official List and to trading on the LSE’s Main
Market.

Annex I
5.1.3

The Company’s issued shares will, on Admission, consist of the 459,012,060 Existing Ordinary Shares and
the 120,000,000 Placing Shares. It is intended that all the Placing Shares will be admitted by the UKLA to
a Standard Listing on the Official List in accordance with Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules and to trading on
the LSE’s Main Market.

2. The Directors
The Directors believe the Board comprises a knowledgeable and experienced group of professionals with
relevant experience for sourcing, evaluating, structuring and executing Acquisitions. The Company will not
be externally managed and the Board will have full responsibility for its activities.
Details of the Directors, are listed below.

Dr Stephen Staley, Chief Executive (age 58)
Dr Staley has 35 years of wide-ranging technical and commercial experience in the international oil, gas
and power sectors. He co-founded and brought to the AIM market both Fastnet Oil & Gas plc (where he
was the founding CEO) and Independent Resources plc (where he was the founding Managing Director).
He was also both a technical consultant to, and non-executive director of, Cove Energy plc – the highly
successful East Africa focused explorer that went from having a market capitalisation of £2 million in
mid-2009 to being sold to PTTP for £1.2 billion in less than three years. He is currently a non-executive
director of dual AIM and ASX listed, 88 Energy Limited and also a non-executive director of Predator Oil &
Gas Holdings plc, whose shares have very recently been admitted to a Standard Listing. Dr Staley is owner
& founder of Derwent Resources Limited, an upstream consultancy advising on oil and gas opportunities.
Prior to this he has worked for Cinergy Corp., Conoco and BP.
He holds a BSc. (Hons.) in Geophysics from Edinburgh University, a PhD in Petroleum Geology from Sheffield
University and an MBA from Warwick University. He is a Fellow of the Geological Society and a member of
the EAGE, the PESGB and The Arctic Club.

Norza Zakaria, Non-Executive Director (age 52)
Norza Zakaria is a highly experience businessman and a Chartered Accountant with the Malaysian Institute
of Accountants (MIA) as well as Fellow of the Australian Certified Practising Accountants (FCPA).
He is currently a director of Bintulu Port Holdings Bhd, a public listed company in Malaysia. Previously, he has
also held senior positions with PETRONAS, Central Bank of Malaysia and Arthur Andersen & Co. He is also
currently President of the Olympic Council of Malaysia.

Jeremy King, Non-Executive Director (age 55)
Jeremy is a senior corporate finance executive with over 19 years’ experience.
He has a wealth of experience advising clients on IPOs, fundraising, takeovers, mergers and acquisitions
and continuing obligations.
Jeremy is currently a director of, and head of corporate finance for, Optiva Securities Limited.
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Previously, he was a Director of English Trust Company Ltd, a corporate finance house, where he originated
and led the IPO of Private Equity Investor plc on the Full List of the LSE, raising £100 million from investors.
Prior to this, he was at Kleinwort Benson Investment Management Ltd, where he became Head of UK
Smaller Companies, managing unit trusts, investment trusts and pension funds investing in UK smaller
companies.

Bolhassan Bin Haji Di, Non-Executive Director (age 64)
Bolhassan, an elected member of the Sarawak State Legislative Assembly from 1987 to 2011 (Sarawak
being one of two Malaysian States upon the Island of Borneo), has many years of political and commercial
experience within the region. During his lengthy service within the Sarawak State Assembly, Bolhassan held
positions as Chairman of the Public Accounts Committee, Assistant Minister in the Sarawak Chief Minister’s
Department and subsequently Assistant Minister at the Ministry of Infrastructure Development and
Communication.
A graduate of the School of Engineering at Sheffield University, Bolhassan began his career in 1979 at
Sarawak Shell Bhd. (a subsidiary of Royal Dutch Shell plc) where he gained project planning, design,
construction, commissioning and start-up experience in offshore projects. These included the F6A project
in Sarawak waters (the largest offshore gas project in the region), the E11 and F23 gas production projects
in Sarawak waters and also projects such as the St Joseph and South Furious offshore oil production
platforms in Sabah waters.
From 1987 to 1997, Bolhassan was also the Chairman of the Miri Port Authority, now a key economic
catalyst in the industrial and economic development of Sarawak and an important port for not only
Sarawak’s, but Malaysia’s, development of trade with the rest of the world.
Bolhassan has also had significant oil and gas experience with Shell in South Korea, Singapore, the North
Sea and the Netherlands.

3. Director’s Fees
The services of Stephen Staley as Chief Executive of the Company on a part-time basis (108 hours in each
calendar month) are provided to the Company by Derwent Resources Limited (“Derwent”) pursuant to a
consultancy agreement entered into by Derwent with the Company. Under the consultancy agreement,
Derwent is entitled to a fee of £150,000 per annum plus VAT (if applicable) for the basic 108 hours per
calendar month and reimbursement of reasonable expenses. Further details of the consultancy agreement
are set out in paragraph 14.1(a) of Part XVII of this document.
Norza Zakaria is entitled to receive an annual fee of £25,000 as Non-Executive Chairman and each of Jeremy
King and Bolhassan Bin Haji Di is entitled to receive an annual fee of £20,000 as a Non-Executive Director,
in each case plus reasonable expenses. Further details of the Non-Executive Directors’ letters of appointment
are set out in paragraph 14.2 of Part XVII of this document.

4.

Strategic decisions

Members and responsibility
The Directors are responsible for carrying out the Company’s objectives, implementing its business strategy
and conducting its overall supervision, Acquisition, divestment and other strategic decisions will all be
considered and determined by the Board.
The Board will provide leadership within a framework of prudent and effective controls. The Board will
establish the corporate governance values of the Company and will have overall responsibility for setting
the Company’s strategic aims, defining the business plan and strategy and managing the financial and
operational resources of the Company and reviewing the performance of the officers and management of
the Company’s business.
Unless required by applicable law or other regulatory process, no Shareholder approval will be sought by
the Company in relation to the making of any Acquisition. Any Acquisition will be subject to Board approval.
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Frequency of meetings
The Board will schedule quarterly meetings and will hold additional meetings as and when required.
Corporate governance
The Company will observe the requirements of the UK Corporate Governance Code (so far as it is practicable
for a company of the Company’s size and nature). As at the date of this document, the Company is, and at
the date of Admission will be, in compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code, save as set out
below:l

Given the size and non-executive composition of the Board, certain provisions of the UK Corporate
Governance Code (in particular the provisions relating to the composition of the Board and executive
compensation) are not being complied with by the Company as the Board considers those provisions
to be inapplicable to the Company.

l

At every Annual General Meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or if
their number is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to and not exceeding one-third) will
retire from office and will be eligible for re-election. In addition, any Director who has been appointed
to the Board other than pursuant to a Resolution of Members since the last Annual General Meeting
of the Company will retire and again will be eligible for re-election.

l

The Company will not have nomination, remuneration, audit or risk committees. The Board as a whole
will instead review its size, structure and composition, the scale and structure of the Directors’ fees
(taking into account the interests of Shareholders and the performance of the Company) take
responsibility for the appointment of auditors and payment of their audit fee, monitor and review the
integrity of the Company’s financial statements and take responsibility for any formal announcements
on the Company’s financial performance. If a material/significant Acquisition is completed, the Board
intends to put in place nomination, remuneration, audit and risk committees. The Board as a whole
will review the appointment of new members of the Board, taking into account the interests of
Shareholders and the performance of the Company.

l

The Board will not comply with the provision of the UK Corporate Governance Code that at least half
of the Board, excluding the Chairman, should comprise non-executive directors determined by the
Board to be independent.

As at the date of this document, the Board has adopted a Share Dealing Code for Directors’ dealings, which
takes into account the Directors’ obligations under MAR. The Board will be responsible for taking all proper
and reasonable steps to ensure compliance with the Share Dealing Code by the Directors.
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PART VIII
THE PLACING
Annex III
5.1.1 - 5.1.10

1.

Introduction

On 13 June 2018, pursuant to the Placing, Placees subscribed for an aggregate of 120,000,000 Placing
Shares which will be issued conditional on Admission, at the Placing Price of 2.5p per share to Placees,
conditionally raising gross proceeds of £3,000,000 for the Company, subject to deduction of estimated fees
and expenses of £335,500 (exclusive of VAT).

LR 2.2.7(1)
Annex III
5.3.1

The net proceeds of the Placing to the Company amount to approximately £2,644,500, after deduction of
fees and expenses payable by the Company relating to the Placing and Admission. None of the expenses
of the Placing and Admission will be charged to Placees. The Placing is conditional on, inter alia, Admission.
If Admission does not proceed, the Placing will not proceed and all monies paid will be refunded to the
applicants. In accordance with Listing Rule 14.3, at Admission at least 25% of the Ordinary Shares of this
listed class will be in public hands (as defined in the Listing Rules). Completion of the Placing will be
announced via a regulatory news service on Admission, which is expected to take place at 8.00 a.m. on
21 June 2018.

Annex III
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LR 14.2.2

The Placing is being carried out principally to provide Upland UK with the funds to satisfy its obligations as
a licensee under UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 following completion of the Wick Farm-in
Agreement on 24 May 2018.
The Placing will only be completed if the full £3,000,000 (gross) is raised.

2. Admission, Dealings and CREST
Completion of the Placing is subject to the satisfaction of conditions contained in the Placing Letters,
including Admission occurring on or before 21 June 2018 or such later date as may be agreed by the
Company and Optiva Securities (being not later than 29 June 2018).
Applications will be made to the UKLA and to the London Stock Exchange for all the Placing Shares to be
admitted to listing on the standard listing segment of the Official List and to trading on the LSE’s Main Market.
Admission is expected to take place and dealings in the Placing Shares are expected to commence on the
London Stock Exchange at 8.00 a.m. on 21 June 2018.
Where applicable, certificates in respect of the Placing Shares to be issued pursuant to the Placing are
expected to be despatched, by post at the risk of the recipients, to the relevant holders, not later than
29 June 2018. The Placing Shares are in registered form and can also be held in uncertificated form. Prior
to the despatch of certificates in respect of Placing Shares which are held in certificated form, transfers of
those Placing Shares will be certified against the register of members of the Company. No temporary
documents of title will be issued.

3. Placing Agreement
Under the Placing Agreement, Optiva Securities has agreed, subject to certain conditions, to use its
reasonable endeavours to procure subscribers for the 120,000,000 Placing Shares at the Placing Price.
The Placing Agreement does not include any underwriting obligation.
Completion of the Placing Agreement is conditional upon, inter alia, the following conditions being satisfied
or fulfilled on or prior to 21 June 2018 (or such later date as the Company and Optiva Securities may agree,
being not later than 29 June 2018):(a)

the obligations of Optiva Securities not being terminated before Admission (in accordance with its
termination rights in the Placing Agreement); and

(b)

Admission.
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Optiva Securities may terminate the Placing Agreement (and the arrangements associated with it) at any
time prior to Admission in certain circumstances (including for a material breach of warranty). If this right is
exercised, the Placing and these arrangements will lapse and any monies received in respect of the Placing
will be returned to applicants (without interest) by Optiva Securities.
Further details of the terms of the Placing Agreement are contained in paragraph 12.1 of Part XVII of this
document.

4. Placing Letters
Conditional upon Admission occurring and becoming effective by 8.00 a.m. London time on or prior to
21 June 2018 (or such later date as the Company may agree, being not later than 29 June 2018) each of
the Placees agrees to become a member of the Company and agrees to subscribe for those Placing Shares
set out in his Placing Letter. Commitments evidenced by Placing Letters are irrevocable and investors will
not be entitled to rescind their agreement at any time. In the event that Admission does not becoming
effective by 8.00 a.m. London time on or prior to 21 June 2018 (or such later date as the Company may
agree, being not later than 29 June 2018) none of the Placing Shares will be issued and Placees will receive
a full refund of monies subscribed (without interest).
The rights attaching to the Placing Shares will be uniform in all respects and all of the Placing Shares will
rank pari passu, and will form a single class for all purposes with, the Existing Ordinary Shares.

5. Payment
Each Placee has agreed to pay the Placing Price for the Placing Shares for which such Placee has agreed
to subscribe in such manner as is set out in such Placee’s Placing Letter and in the associated placing
confirmation returned by such Placee.
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If Admission does not occur, subscription monies will be returned to each Placee (without interest) by the
Company.

6. Participation by Directors
Each of the Directors (other than Norza Zakaria) is participating in the Placing and subscribing for the
following numbers of Placing Shares:Director

No. of Placing Shares

Aggregate Placing Price

Stephen Staley
Bolhassan Bin Haji Di
Jeremy King

800,000
4,000,000
330,770

£20,000.00
£100,000.00
£8,269.25

Further details of the shareholdings of the Directors on Admission (and completion of the Placing) are set
out in paragraph 7.1 of Part XVII (Additional Information) of this document.

7. Use of Proceeds
The Company’s intention is to use the Net Placing Proceeds (estimated to be approximately £l) to provide
Upland UK with the funds to satisfy its obligations as a licensee under UK Offshore Production Licence
P2235 following completion of the Wick Farm-in Agreement on 24 May 2018, the expenses of the Wick
Farm-in Agreement, the Placing and Admission, Upland UK’s share of the capital costs of future exploration,
appraisal and development of PEDL 299 and for the Group’s ongoing working capital purposes (including
Directors’ fees, due diligence costs and other costs of sourcing, reviewing and pursuing further Acquisition
opportunities).
The Net Placing Proceeds will be first used to pay Upland UK’s agreed share of past costs incurred by
Corallian Energy under UK Offshore Production Licence P2235; these are estimated by Corallian Energy to
be £44,000 in total; and Upland UK’s share would therefore be £17,600 since this is not subject to any
uplift. There will be additional legal and other fees to be paid at the same time, estimated to cost Upland UK
£10,000. The next tranche of costs would be Upland UK’s 53.33% share of the costs of the environmental
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survey being carried out over the Wick Prospect and which cost £209,270 in total. Upland UK’s share of
this is therefore £111,604.
Pursuant to the Wick Farm-in Agreement, there will ongoing permit costs estimated at £10,000 per quarter
for Upland UK’s account. During 2018, costs will be incurred in relation to preparation for, and drilling of,
the Wick Well. Assuming that additional downhole data is not obtained in a success case, Upland UK
estimates a well cost of £5.181 million. Upland UK’s share of these costs would be 53.33% of the first
£4.2 million, less the costs of the environmental survey (£209,270 as above, hence 53.33% of £4.0 million)
and 40% of Wick Well costs in excess of £4.0 million. Hence, Upland UK’s total projected exposure to the
costs of the Wick Well would be £4.0 million x 0.5333 + £1.181 million x 0.40 = £2,605,600.
The Company estimates that Upland UK’s share of the costs of acquisition and processing of new 2D
seismic for PEDL 299, together with initial pre-well costs, will total £66,300 and will be incurred after the
above Wick-related costs.
Working capital costs, including those of assessing, pursuing and securing new Acquisitions, will be ongoing
and are estimated to total some £1,500,000 over the year following publication of this document.
The Company’s use of the Net Placing Proceeds in approximate order of priority can be summarised as
follows:Use

Amount

Costs of the Placing:
Past costs on Licence P2235:
Ongoing Licence P2235 permit costs:
Wick environmental survey:
Wick well:
PEDL 299 seismic & well preparation
Working capital & further Acquisitions

£335,500
£17,600
£10,000/quarter
£111,604
£2,605,600
£66,300
£1,500,000

The drilling of any appraisal and/or development wells on the Wick Prospect is contingent on the success
of the Wick Well. Assuming such success, the drilling of any additional wells would be preceded by front
end engineering design (net cost to Upland UK estimated at £800,000), then detailed engineering design
(net cost to Upland UK estimated at £1,200,000) and this would be followed by (and to an extent in parallel
with) the ordering and payment for long lead time items (net cost to Upland UK estimated at £1,200,000).
These costs are not likely to be incurred until 2019 at earliest.
Subsequent appraisal/development drilling and construction of facilities are not expected to begin until 2020
at earliest and therefore the expenses of such appraisal/development drilling and construction of facilities
are outside the working capital period of 12 months from the date of this document referred to in paragraph 8
(Working capital) of Part XVII (Additional Information) of this document. Upland UK’s share of such drilling
costs is estimated to be £11,200,000 and of facilities, £14,800,000. These figures are based on drilling two
development wells for production and one water injector well.
It should be emphasised that the timings shown in the Expected Capital Expenditure Table below
are not firm and that they represent the earliest times at which the money is reasonably expected
to be required in the case of each activity.
The following table summarises the expected capital expenditures on physical works and direct licence
costs, on a project-by-project basis as described in Part VI above.
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Expected Capital Expenditure Table (in £)
Permit

Asset

Capex activity

Net to UPL (£)
Q3 2018 Q4 2018

2019

2020

2021

40.0%
40.0%

0 134,260
10,000 10,000
0 1,066,600 1,066,600 472,400

40,000
0

0
0

0
0

40.0%

0

0

0

0

800,000

0

0

40.0%
40.0%
40.0%

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0 1,200,000
0 1,200,000
0
0

UPL Q1 2018
P2235

Wick (1)

PEDL 299 Hardstoft
(2)

Licence studies,
environmental
survey and
past costs
Exploration well
Front end
enginering design
Detailed
engineering
Drilling long leads
Facilities
Development
drilling
Sub total
Seismic
Well preparation
Drilling
Development
Sub total
Total

Q2 2018

40.0%
0
0
0
40.0%
0 1,200,860
_____ _______
________ 1,076,600
________
12.5%
0
0
0
25.0%
0
0
0
25.0%
0
0
0
25.0%
0
0
0
25.0%
0
0
0
_____ _______ ________ ________
0 1,200,860
_____
________ 1,076,600
________
________
_________
_________
______ _______

0
0
0
0
6,800,000 8,000,000

0
0 5,200,000 6,000,000
482,400 3,240,000
_______
________ 12,000,000
_________ 14,000,000
_________
0
47,348
0
0
0
18,939
0
0
0
0
568,182
0
0
0
0 568,182
0 ________
66,288 _________
568,182 _________
568,182
_______
482,400 3,306,288
_______
________ 12,568,182
_________ 14,568,182
_________
________
_________
__________
__________

Notes:
Sources as annotated in the second column: (1) Wick economics spreadsheet dated February 2017, Wick Prospect Development
Summary dated July 2017 and Wick well procurement and cost update dated 22 May 2018, all prepared by Corallian Energy and
(2) Europa Oil & Gas (Holdings) plc estimates.
Wick “Licence studies, environmental survey and past costs” and “Exploration well” amounts include elements subject to a 53.33%
Upland UK contribution, as discussed above.

8. CREST
CREST is a paperless settlement procedure enabling securities to be evidenced otherwise than by a
certificate and transferred otherwise than by written instrument. The Depositary Interests are admitted to
CREST. Accordingly, settlement of transactions in the Depositary Interests following Admission may take
place within the CREST system if any investor so wishes.
CREST is a voluntary system and Placees who wish to receive and retain certificates for their Placing Shares
will be able to do so. Placees may elect to receive Placing Shares in uncertificated form in the form of
Depositary Interests if such Placee is a system-member (as defined in the CREST Regulations) in relation to
CREST.

9. Selling Restrictions
The Placing Shares will not be registered under the Securities Act or the securities laws of any state or other
jurisdiction of the US and may not be taken up, offered, sold, resold, transferred, delivered or distributed,
directly or indirectly, within into or in the US.
Certain restrictions that apply to the distribution of this document and the Placing Shares being issued
pursuant to the Placing in certain jurisdictions are described in the section headed ‘Important Information’
in Part III of this document.
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PART IX
SHARE CAPITAL, LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

1. Share capital
The Company was incorporated on 14 March 2012 under the BVI Companies Act.
Details of the current issued shares of the Company are set out in paragraph 3 of Part XVII (Additional
Information). As at Admission, there is expected to be an aggregate of 579,012,060 Ordinary Shares in
issue.
All of the issued Ordinary Shares will be in registered form, and capable of being held in certificated or
uncertificated form. The Registrar will be responsible for maintaining the share register. Temporary
documents of title will not be issued. The ISIN number of the Ordinary Shares is VGG7552A1075. The
SEDOL number of the Ordinary Shares is BYZFL59.

Annex III
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2. Financial position
The Group has only carried out limited operations to date. The financial information in respect of the Group
which is incorporated by reference as referred to in section A of Part X (Historical Financial Information) as
at 30 June 2017, is set out in section B of Part X (Historical Financial Information).
If the Placing and Admission had taken place on 31 December 2017 (being the date as at which the historical
financial information on the Group incorporated by reference as referred to in section A of Part X (Historical
Financial Information) is presented):l

the net assets of the Company would have been increased by £2,644,500 (due to the receipt of the
Net Placing Proceeds raised through the subscriptions for the Placing Shares); and

l

the Company’s earnings would have decreased as a result of fees and expenses incurred in connection
with the Placing and Admission.

3.

Liquidity and capital resources

Sources of cash and liquidity
The Company’s ongoing source of cash will be the Company’s existing cash resources (from the placings
of Ordinary Shares carried out at the time of the Original Listing and in December 2016, together with the
Net Placing Proceeds which are expected to be approximately £2,644,500 and the Company’s existing
resources including cash held/cash resources and funding arrangements). It will use such cash to enable
Upland UK to fund its obligations as a licensee under UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 following
completion of the Wick Farm-in on 24 May 2018, the due diligence and other transaction costs in respect
of the Wick Farm-in Agreement and its share of the capital costs of future exploration, appraisal and
development of PEDL 299 and to pay the fees and expenses of the Placing and Admission and ongoing
working capital requirements. This will also include ongoing costs and expenses of the listing of the Ordinary
Shares on the standard listing segment of the Official List and trading in the Ordinary Shares on the LSE’s
Main Market, primarily one-off costs for the UKLA application and listing of the Placing Shares and vetting
fee in respect of this document and the London Stock Exchange listing fee in respect of the Placing Shares
totalling £27,000, annual fees for the Registrar, the Depositary, the UKLA, the London Stock Exchange and
the Company’s broker totalling an estimated £79,500 and annual Directors’ fees of £215,000, all exclusive
of VAT. The Company’s existing cash resources and the Net Placing Proceeds will also be used to fund the
costs and expenses to be incurred in connection with seeking to identify and effect future Acquisitions.
The £3,500,000 Convertible Loan Notes Facility may be utilised by the Company for cost overruns on the
Wick Well (if required) and if the Company decides to call upon such Facility.
The costs and expenses of any future Acquisition will likely comprise legal, financial and tax due diligence
in relation to the target asset, business or company; however, the Company would only reach this stage
after the Directors have carried out an initial commercial review of the target and the Company has entered
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into a non-disclosure agreement and/or heads of terms. In addition to any share consideration used by the
Company in relation to any Acquisition, the Company may raise additional capital from time to time in
connection with any Acquisition. Such capital may be raised through share issues (such as rights issues,
open offers or private placings) or borrowings.
The Company may also make any Acquisition or fund part of any Acquisition through share-for-share
exchanges.
Although the Company envisages that any capital raised will be from new equity, the Company may also
choose to finance all or a portion of any Company/Business Acquisition with debt financing. Any debt
financing used by the Company is expected to take the form of bank financing, although no financing
arrangements will be in place at Admission. The Company envisages that debt financing may be necessary
if, for example, a target company has been identified but would require a certain amount of cash
consideration in addition to, or instead of, share consideration. The Company has already set up the
£3.5 million Convertible Loan Note Facility, which may be utilised for cost overruns on the Wick Well if needed
(and if the Company so chooses).
Any associated debt financing (if any) arranged specifically for any Company/Business Acquisition will be
assessed with reference to the projected cash flow of the target company or business and may be incurred
at the Company level or by any subsidiary of the Company. Any costs associated with the debt financing
will be paid with the proceeds of such financing.
If debt financing is utilised, there will be additional servicing costs. Furthermore, while the terms of any such
financing cannot be predicted, such terms may subject the Company to financial and operating covenants
or other restrictions, including restrictions that might limit the Company’s ability to make distributions to
Shareholders.
As substantially all of the cash raised (including cash from any subsequent share offers) is expected to be
used for working capital and farm-in related costs/acquisitions, following any Acquisition, the Company’s
future liquidity will depend in the medium to longer term primarily on: (i) the profitability of the company or
business it acquires; (ii) the Company’s management of available cash; (iii) cash distributions on sale of
existing assets; (iv) the use of borrowings, if any, to fund short-term liquidity needs; and (v) dividends or
distributions from subsidiary companies.
Cash uses
The Company’s principal use of cash (including the Net Placing Proceeds) will be to enable Upland UK to
fund its obligations in relation to UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 following completion of the Wick
Farm-in, the due diligence and other transaction costs in respect of the Wick Farm-in Agreement and its
shares of the capital costs of future exploration, appraisal and development of PEDL 299, to pay costs of
due diligence and other related costs in assessing further Acquisitions and to pay the fees and expenses of
the Placing and Admission and as working capital and for farm-in related costs/acquisitions.
The Company’s current intention is to retain earnings for use in its business operations and it does not
anticipate declaring any dividends in the foreseeable future. Following any Acquisition and in accordance
with the Company’s business strategy and applicable laws, it expects to make distributions to Shareholders
in accordance with the Company’s dividend policy. However, the Company will incur day-to-day expenses
that will need to be funded. Such expenses include:l

all fees, costs and expenses relating to Upland UK’s obligations as a co-licensee under PEDL 299;

l

all fees, costs and expenses relating to the Wick Farm-in Agreement, the Placing and Admission,
including Admission fees and legal and accounting fees and ongoing expenses of the Standard Listing;

l

future transaction costs and expenses - the Company will bear all due diligence costs and legal and
accounting costs; and

l

Directors’ fees.
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4. Interest rate risks
The Company may incur indebtedness to finance and leverage an Acquisition and to fund its liquidity needs
following such Acquisition. Such indebtedness may expose the Company to risks associated with
movements in prevailing interest rates. Changes in the level of interest rates can affect, inter alia: (i) the cost
and availability of debt financing and hence the Company’s ability to achieve attractive rates of return on its
assets; (ii) the Company’s ability to make an Acquisition when competing with other potential buyers who
may be able to bid for an asset at a higher price due to a lower overall cost of capital; (iii) the debt financing
capability of the companies and businesses in which the Company is invested; and (iv) the rate of return on
the Company’s uninvested cash balances. This exposure may be reduced by introducing a combination of
a fixed and floating interest rates or through the use of hedging transactions (such as derivative transactions,
including swaps or caps). Interest rate hedging transactions will only be undertaken for the purpose of
efficient portfolio management, and will not be carried out for speculative purposes. See ‘Hedging
arrangements and risk management’ below.

5. Hedging arrangements and risk management
The Company may use forward contracts, options, swaps, caps, collars and floors or other strategies or
forms of derivative instruments to limit its exposure to changes in the relative values of investments that
may result from market developments, including changes in prevailing interest rates and currency exchange
rates, as previously described. It is expected that the extent of risk management activities by the Company
will vary based on the level of exposure and consideration of risk across the business.
The success of any hedging or other derivative transaction generally will depend on the Company’s ability
to correctly predict market changes. As a result, while the Company may enter into such a transaction to
reduce exposure to market risks, unanticipated market changes may result in poorer overall investment
performance than if the transaction had not been executed. In addition, the degree of correlation between
price movements of the instruments used in connection with hedging activities and price movements in a
position being hedged may vary. Moreover, for a variety of reasons, the Company may not seek, or be
successful in establishing, an exact correlation between the instruments used in a hedging or other derivative
transactions and the position being hedged and could create new risks of loss. In addition, it may not be
possible to fully or perfectly limit the Company’s exposure against all changes in the values of its assets,
because the values of its assets are likely to fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, some of which will
be beyond the Company’s control.
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PART X
FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON THE GROUP
Section A – Historical Financial Information incorporated by Reference

1

Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group for the financial years ended
30 June 2015, 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2017
Audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial years ended 30 June 2015, 30 June
2016 and 30 June 2017 in respect of which the Company’s auditor, Wilkins Kennedy LLP, Statutory Auditor,
of Bridge House, London Bridge, London SE1 9QR, has given unqualified opinions that the accounts give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 30 June 2015, 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2017
respectively and of the Group’s losses for the years then ended, have been properly prepared in accordance
with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, and are incorporated into this document in full by reference
to the same.
Save for the historical information of the Group from 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2017 set out below and
incorporated by reference, in paragraph 1 of this Part X, none of the information in this document has been
audited. Unless otherwise indicated, all unaudited financial information relating to the Group contained in
this document has been sourced, without material adjustment, from the internal accounting records of the
Group on a basis consistent with the Company’s accounting policies.
1.1 Historical financial information
The audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial years ended 30 June 2015,
30 June 2016 and 30 June 2017 which have been incorporated in this document by reference, include
the information specified in the tables below. Where the audited consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the financial years ended 30 June 2015, 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2017 make reference
to other documents, such other documents are not incorporated into and do not form part of this
document.
Audited
consolidated
financial
statements of
the Group for
the year ended
30 June 2017

Audited
consolidated
financial
statements
of the Group for
the year ended
30 June 2016

Audited
consolidated
financial
statements of
the Group for
the year ended
30 June 2015

Page no(s)

Page no(s)

Page no(s)

17
18
20
22
24-34
12-16
3-4
7-10

16
17
19
20
22-32
13-15
3-5
8-11

7
8
10
11
13-20
6
–
3-4

Nature of information
Statements of Comprehensive Income
Statements of Financial Position
Statements of Changes in Equity
Statements of Cash Flows
Notes to the Financial Statements
Report of the Independent Auditor
Chairman’s Statement
Director’s Report
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1.2 Selected financial information
The key audited figures that summarise the Group’s financial condition in respect of the financial years
ended 30 June 2015, 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2017 which have been extracted directly on a
straightforward basis without material adjustment from the historical financial information referred to in
paragraph 1.1 of this Part X, are set out in the following tables:-

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June
2017
(audited)
Assets
£

As at 30 June
2016
(audited)
£

As at 30 June
2015
(audited)
£

Current Assets
Debtors
Cash and cash equivalents
Total Assets

173,542
2,250,872
_____________
2,424,414
_____________

1,923
1,039,352
_____________
1,041,275
_____________

642
134,184
_____________
134,826
_____________

Equity and Liabilities
Share premium
Retained earnings
Total Equity

3,751,831
(1,418,437)
_____________
2,333,394
_____________

1,627,201
(670,199)
_____________
957,002
_____________

392,201
(296,783)
_____________
95,418
_____________

91,020
_____________

84,273
_____________

39,408
_____________

2,424,414
_____________

1,041,275
_____________

134,826
_____________

Current Liabilities
Other payables
Total Equity and Liabilities

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended
30 June
2017
(audited)
£
Revenues
Administrative expenses
(763,657)
Operating Loss
Loss before taxation
Taxation

(763,657)
(763,657)
–

_____________

Loss for the financial year

(763,657)

Loss attributable to:
Owners of the parent company

(763,657)

_____________

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the parent company
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(763,657)

_____________
_____________

Year ended
30 June
2016
(audited)
£

Year ended
30 June
2015
(audited)
£

(420,566)

(221,069)

(420,566)
(420,566)
–

(221,069)
(221,069)
–

_____________

(420,566)

(420,566)

_____________

(420,566)

_____________
_____________

_____________

(221,069)

(221,069)

_____________

(221,069)

_____________
_____________

2

Interim Report and Unaudited Financial Statements for the 6 month financial periods:
(I) from 1 July 2016 to 31 December 2016; and (II) from 1 July 2017 to 31 December 2017
The Company has published half-yearly unaudited reports in respect of the 6 month financial periods: (i) from
1 July 2016 to 31 December 2016; and (ii) from 1 July 2017 to 31 December 2017 prepared in accordance
with International Accounting Standard 34, ‘Interim Financial Reporting’ as adopted by the European Union.
2.1 Historical financial information
The published interim reports and unaudited financial statements for the periods: (i) from 1 July 2016
to 31 December 2016; and (ii) from 1 July 2017 to 31 December 2017 are incorporated into this
document in full by reference, including the information specified in the tables below. Where the interim
reports and unaudited financial statements for such periods makes reference to other documents,
such other documents are not incorporated into and do not form part of this document.
Interim report and
unaudited consolidated
financial statements for the
period from 1 July 2017 to
31 December 2017
Nature of information
Statement of Comprehensive Income
Statement of Financial Position
Statement of Changes in Equity
Statement of Cash Flows
Notes to the Financial Statements
Report of the Directors
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

Interim report and
unaudited consolidated
financial statements for the
period from 1 July 2016 to
31 December 2016

Page No(s)
4
5
6
7
8-9
1-3
3

Page No(s)
5
6
7
8
9
1-4
4

2.2 Selected financial information
The key unaudited figures that summarise the Company’s financial condition in respect of the financial
period from 1 July 2016 to 31 December 2016 and the financial period from 1 July 2017 to 31
December 2017, which have been extracted directly on a straightforward basis without material
adjustment from the historical information referred to in paragraph 2.1 of this Part X, are set out in the
following tables:Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
31 December 2017
(unaudited)
£
Current Assets
Other debtors
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets
Equity
Share capital
Share premium
Retained earnings
Total equity
Current liabilities
Other payables
Total equity and liabilities
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31 December 2016
(audited)
£

178,245

1,100,332

1,956,057
___________

1,601,318
___________

2,134,302
___________

2,701,650
___________

–
3,751,831
(1,765,276)
___________
1,995,555
___________

–
3,744,831
(1,086,641)
___________
2,658,190
___________

138,747
___________

43,460
___________

2,134,302
___________

2,701,650
___________

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Revenue
Administrative expenses
Operating loss
Loss before taxation
Taxation
Loss and Total Comprehensive Income for
the Period Attributable to Equity Owners
of the Company
Loss per share in pence – basic and diluted

6 months to
31 December 2017
(unaudited)
£
–
(337,839)
___________
(337,839)
___________
(337,839)

6 months to
31 December 2016
(unaudited)
£
–
(416,442)
___________
(416,442)
___________
(416,442)

–
___________

–
___________

(337,839)
___________

(416,442)
___________

(0.09)
___________

(0.17)
___________

The results above derive wholly from continuing operations.

3
Availability of Reports and Financial Statements for Inspection
Copies of the Company’s annual reports and audited accounts and interim reports and unaudited financial
statements referred to in paragraphs 1-2 of this Part X are available online at www.uplandres.com and are
also available for inspection at the address set out in paragraph 17.2 of Part XVII (Additional Information) of
this document. Copies of the documents are also available using the hyperlinks below:l

the unaudited financial statements for the 6 month period from 1 July 2016 to 31 December 2017:http://uplandres.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/248711_Upland_Resources_Interim.pdf

l

the audited financial statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2017:http://uplandres.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/247227_Upland_Resources_AR_2017_WEB.pdf

l

the unaudited financial statements for the 6 month period from 1 July 2017 to 31 December 2016:http://uplandres.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/20170322-Upland-Resources-Interim-Results.pdf

l

the audited financial statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2016:http://uplandres.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/242902-Upland-Resources-RA-WEB.pdf

l

the audited financial statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2015:http://uplandres.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/Upland-Resources-Ltd.-Annual-Report-andFinancial-Statements-for-the-Year-Ending-30-June-2015.pdf

The non-incorporated parts of the annual reports and audited accounts and interim reports and unaudited
financial statements of the Company referred to in this Part X are either not relevant to investors or covered
elsewhere in this document.
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Section B – Capitalisation and Indebtedness of the Group
The following table, sourced from the Company’s internal accounting records, shows the Company’s unaudited
indebtedness (distinguishing between guaranteed and unguaranteed, secure and unsecured indebtedness)
as at 31 March 2018 and the Company’s unaudited capitalisation as at 31 March 2018.
Unaudited indebtedness as at 31 March 2018

£’000

Total Current Debt
Guaranteed
Secured
Unguaranteed/Unsecured
Total Non-Current Debt
Guaranteed
Secured
Unguaranteed/unsecured

–
–
–
268,526
268,526
–
–
–

Unaudited capitalisation as at 31 March 2018
Shareholder equity
Share capital
Revenue reserve
Total

£’000
4,756,831
(2,044,299)
2,712,532

The following table sets out the total net financial indebtedness of the Group as at 31 March 2018:As at 31 March 2018
A.
B.
C.
D.
E.
F.
G.
H.
I.
J.
K.
L.
M.
N.
O.

Annex III
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Cash
Cash equivalent
Trading securities
Liquidity (A) + (B) + (C)
Current financial receivables
Current bank debt
Current portion of non-current debt
Other current financial debt
Current Financial Debt (F) + (G) + (H)
Net Current Financial Indebtedness (I) – (E) – (D)
Non-current Bank loans
Bonds Issued
Other non-current loans
Non-current Financial Indebtedness (K) + (L) + (M)
Net Financial Indebtedness (J) + (N)
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2,872,655
–
–
2,872,655
108,403
–
–
268,526
268,526
(2,712,532)
–
–
–
–
(2,712,532)
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PART XI
Annex I
20.2

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Section A – Accountants’ Report on the Pro Forma Financial Information
The Directors
Upland Resources Limited
Ritter House
Wickhams Cay II
P O Box 3170
Road Town
Tortola VG1110
British Virgin Islands
18 June 2018
Dear Sirs
Upland Resources Limited
Pro Forma Financial Information
We report on the unaudited consolidated pro forma profit and loss account and unaudited consolidated
pro forma statement of financial position and associated notes (the ‘‘Pro Forma Financial Information’’)
set out in Part XI of the prospectus dated 18 June 2018 (the ‘‘Prospectus’’), which has been prepared on
the basis described in note 1, for illustrative purposes only, to provide information about how completion of
the Placing (as defined in the Prospectus) might have affected the financial information presented on the
basis of the accounting policies adopted by Upland Resources Limited (the ‘‘Company’’) in preparing the
interim results for the six month period to 31 December 2017, which are consistent with the policies adopted
in financial statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2017. This report is required by item 20.2 of
Annex I of Commission Regulation (EC) No 809/2004 and is given for the purpose of complying with that
item and for no other purpose.
Save for any responsibility arising under Prospectus Rule 5.5.3R(2)(f) to any person as and to the extent
there provided, to the fullest extent permitted by law we do not assume any responsibility and will not accept
any liability to any other person for any loss suffered by any such other person as a result of, arising out of,
or in connection with this report or our statement, required by and given solely for the purposes of complying
with item 23.1 of Annex I to Commission Regulation (EC) No 809/2004, consenting to its inclusion in the
Prospectus.

Responsibilities
It is the responsibility of the directors of the Company to prepare the Pro Forma Financial Information in
accordance with item 20.2 of Annex I of Commission Regulation (EC) No 809/2004. It is our responsibility
to form an opinion, as required by item 7 of Annex II of the Commission Regulation (EC) No 809/2004, as
to the proper compilation of the Pro Forma Financial Information and to report that opinion to you.
In providing this opinion we are not updating or refreshing any reports or opinions previously made by us on
any financial information used in the compilation of the Pro Forma Financial Information, nor do we accept
responsibility for such reports or opinions beyond that owed to those to whom those reports or opinions
were addressed by us at the dates of their issue.

Basis of opinion
We conducted our work in accordance with the Standards for Investment Reporting issued by the Auditing
Practices Board in the United Kingdom. The work that we performed for the purpose of making this report,
which involved no independent examination of any of the underlying financial information, consisted primarily
of comparing the unadjusted financial information with the source documents, considering the evidence
supporting the adjustments and discussing the Pro Forma Financial Information with the directors of the
Company.
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We planned and performed our work so as to obtain the information and explanations we considered
necessary in order to provide us with reasonable assurance that the Pro Forma Financial Information has
been properly compiled on the basis stated and that such basis is consistent with the accounting policies
of the Company.
Our work has not been carried out in accordance with auditing or other standards and practices generally
accepted in other jurisdictions and accordingly should not be relied upon as if it had been carried out in
accordance with those standards and practices.

Opinion
In our opinion:l

the Pro Forma Financial Information has been properly compiled on the basis stated; and

l

such basis is consistent with the accounting policies of the Company.

Declaration
For the purposes of Prospectus Rule 5.5.3R(2)(f), we are responsible for this report as part of the Prospectus
and declare that we have taken all reasonable care to ensure that the information contained in this report
is, to the best of our knowledge, in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect its
import. This declaration is included in the Prospectus in compliance with item 1.2 of Annex I of Commission
Regulation (EC) No 809/2004.
Yours faithfully

WK Corporate Finance LLP
Regulated by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
WK Corporate Finance LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales, registered no.
OC315669. A list of the names of members is open to inspection at the registered office Bridge House,
London Bridge, London SE1 9QR.
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Section B – Pro Forma Financial Information
The unaudited consolidated pro forma profit and loss account set out below has been prepared on the
basis set out in the notes below and in accordance with the requirements of item 20.2 of Annex I and items 1
to 6 of Annex II of the Prospectus Rules to illustrate the impact of the Placing on the results of the Group as
if the Placing had taken place on 31 December 2017.
The unaudited consolidated pro forma statement of financial position set out below has been prepared on
the basis set out in the notes below and in accordance with the requirements of item 20.2 of Annex I and
items 1 to 6 of Annex II of the Prospectus Rules to illustrate the impact of the Placing on the net assets of
the Group as if the Placing had taken place on 31 December 2017.
The unaudited pro forma financial information, which has been prepared for illustrative purposes only, by its
nature addresses a hypothetical situation and, therefore, does not represent the Group’s actual financial
results or position. Furthermore, the unaudited pro forma financial information does not purport to represent
what the Group’s financial results or position actually would have been if the Placing had been completed
on the date indicated.
The historical unadjusted amounts below are as per the historical financial information for the 6 months
ended 31 December 2017 disclosed in Part X of this document. The pro forma adjustments being as
follows:1.

the acquisition of a 40 per cent. interest in UK seaward production licence P2235 pursuant to the Wick
Farm-in Agreement as detailed in paragraph 12.6 of Part XVII of this document;

2.

the £3,500,000 of unsecured, interest-free convertible loan notes and associated costs;

3.

the funds due to be raised at Placing, net of costs as detailed in Part VIII of this document; and

4.

the issue of 74,074,074 new subscription shares of no par value in the Company to Tune Assets
Limited at 1.35p per share to raise £1,000,000.
Annex I
20.2

UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED PRO FORMA PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
Historical
unadjusted
amounts for
the 6 months
ended
31 December
2017
£

Pro forma
adjustment –
‘Wick Farm-in
Agreement’
£

Pro form
adjustment –
Convertible
Loan Note
Facility
£

Pro forma
adjustment –
Costs in
relation to
Placing
£

Pro forma
adjustment –
Subscription
shares issued
to Tune Assets
Limited
£

Pro forma
for the
6 months
ended
31December
2017
£

–

–

–

–

–

–

(337,839)
___________

(2,517,460)
___________

(141,266)
___________

(335,500)
___________

(24,920)
___________

(3,356,985)
___________

Operating loss

(337,839)
___________

(2,517,460)
___________

(141,266)
___________

(335,500)
___________

(24,920)
___________

(3,356,985)
___________

Loss before tax

(337,839)
___________

(2,517,460)
___________

(141,266)
___________

(335,500)
___________

(24,920)
___________

(3,356,985)
___________

Taxation

–
___________

–
___________

–
___________

–
___________

–
___________

–
___________

(337,839)
___________
___________

(2,517,460)
___________
___________

(141,266)
___________
___________

(335,500)
___________
___________

(24,290)
___________
___________

(3,356,985)
___________
___________

(337,839)
___________
___________

(2,517,460)
___________
___________

(141,266)
___________
___________

(335,500)
___________
___________

(24,290)
___________
___________

(3,356,985)
___________
___________

Revenues
Administrative
expenses

Loss for the
financial year
Total comprehensive
income attributable to:
Owners of the parent
company
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UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED PRO FORMA STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Historical
unadjusted
amounts
as at
31 December
2017
£

Pro form
adjustment –
Convertible
Loan Note
Facility
£

Pro forma
adjustment –
‘Wick Farm-in
Agreement’
£

Pro forma
adjustment –
Subscription
shares issued
to Tune Assets
Limited
£

Pro forma
adjustment –
funds raised
at Placing,
net of costs
£

Pro forma
net assets
as at
31 December
2017
£

Current assets
Debtors
Cash and cash
equivalents
Total assets

178,245

–

–

–

–

178,245

1,956,057
___________

(2,517,460)
___________

3,398,739
___________

2,664,500
___________

975,080
6,476,916
___________ ___________

2,134,302
___________

(2,517,460)
___________

3,398,739
___________

2,664,500
___________

975,080
6,655,161
___________ ___________

Equity and liabilities
Share premium reserve

3,751,831

–

40,005

3,000,000

(1,756,276)
___________

(2,517,460)
___________

(141,266)
___________

(335,500)
___________

1,995,555

(2,517,460)

(101,261)

2,664,500

138,747
___________

–
___________

–
___________

–
___________

–
138,747
___________ ___________

Loan notes

–
___________

–
___________

3,500,000
___________

–
___________

–
3,500,000
___________ ___________

Total equity and liabilities

2,134,302
___________
___________

(2,517,460)
___________
___________

3,398,739
___________
___________

2,664,500
___________
___________

975,080
6,655,161
___________
___________ ___________
___________

Retained earnings
Total equity

1,000,000

7,791,386

(24,920) (4,775,422)
___________ ___________
975,080

3,016,414

Current liabilities
Other payables
Non-current liabilities

EXPLANATORY NOTES TO THE PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION
1. Basis of preparation
The pro forma financial information is prepared in a manner consistent with the accounting policies adopted
by the Company in preparing the interim results for the six month period to 31 December 2017, which are
consistent with the policies adopted in the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2017.

2.

Pro forma adjustments

–
Wick Farm-in Agreement
Upland UK’S projected exposure to the costs of the Wick Well are £2,373,200 and £144,260 of costs
relating to an environmental survey and licences.
–
Convertible Loan Notes Facility
The Company has received (and accepted) commitments, directly and without an intermediary, from private
and institutional investors to subscribe for £3,500,000 principal of unsecured, interest-free convertible loan
notes. The final repayment date for any Convertible Loan Notes issued to the Facility Providers is 30 June 2020.
The Company has elected to satisfy the aggregate initial commitment fee of £105,000 as to £40,005 in new
shares in the Company and as to £65,000 in cash.
The associated costs incurred are £141,266, including the initial commitment fee.
–
Placing and associated costs
The gross funds to be raised by the Placing are £3,000,000, subject to the deduction of estimated fees
and expenses of £335,500 as detailed in Part VIII of this document.
The costs of the Placing will not have a continuing effect.
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–
Issue of New Shares to Tune Assets Limited
The Company agreed to the subscription for 74,074,074 new shares of no par value in the Company by
Tune Assets Limited at 1.35p per share to raise £1,000,000. These funds, when combined with the
Company’s existing cash reserve, will be used to part fund the obligations of Upland UK under the Wick
Farm-in Agreement.
The fees and expenses in relation to the Subscription Share Issue are £24,920
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PART XII
TAXATION

1. General
The comments below are of a general and non-exhaustive nature based on the Directors’ understanding of
the current revenue law and published practice in the UK and in the BVI, which is subject to change, possibly
with retrospective effect. The following summary does not constitute legal or tax advice and broadly applies
only to persons subscribing for Placing Shares in the Placing as an investment (rather than as securities to
be realised in the course of a trade) who are the absolute beneficial owners of their Ordinary Shares and
who have not acquired their Ordinary Shares by reason of their or another person’s employment. These
comments may not apply to certain classes of person, including (but not limited to) dealers in securities,
insurance companies and collective investment schemes.
An investment in the Company involves a number of complex tax considerations. Changes in tax legislation
in any of the countries in which the Company has assets (or in any other country in which a subsidiary of
the Company through which an Acquisition is made, is located), or changes in tax treaties negotiated by
those countries, could adversely affect the returns from the Company to investors.
Prospective investors should consult their own independent professional advisers on the potential tax
consequences relating to their interest in Ordinary Shares, including (but not limited to) tax consequences
of subscribing for, purchasing, holding or selling Ordinary Shares under the laws of their country and/or stale
of citizenship, domicile or residence including the consequences of distributions by the Company, either on
a liquidation or distribution or otherwise.

2. British Virgin Islands taxation
The following summary related to British Virgin Islands taxation law as it is understood to apply at the date
of this document. The below summary does not constitute legal or tax advice.
The Company
The Company is exempt from most forms of taxation in the BVI, provided the Company is not trading in the
BVI, and does not have employees working in the BVI.
Dividends etc. on Ordinary Shares
All dividends, interest, rents, royalties, and other expense amounts paid by the Company, and capital gains
realised with respect to any shares, debt obligations or other securities of the Company, are exempt from
all provisions of the Income Tax Ordinance and Payroll Taxes Act 2004 (as amended). There is no BVI
withholding tax on dividends. Additionally, no estate, inheritance, succession or gift tax is payable with
respect to any shares, debt obligations or securities of the Company.
Stamp duty
Save in respect of an instrument relating to the transfer to or by the Company of an interest in land situate
in the BVI or any transactions in respect of the shares, debt obligations or other securities of the Company
whilst holding any land in the BVI, and notwithstanding any provision of the Stamp Duty Act, all instruments
relating to transfers of property to or by a company, all instruments relating to transactions in respect of the
shares, debt obligations or other securities of a BVI company, and all instruments relating to the business
of a company, are exempt from the payment of BVI stamp duty.

3.

United Kingdom taxation

The Company
The Directors intend to conduct the affairs of the Company in such a manner that it does not become
resident in the UK for taxation purposes. On the assumption that this intention is realised, and provided that
the Company does not carry on a trade, invests or carries on any other business activity in the UK (whether
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or not through a permanent establishment situated therein), the Company should not be subject to UK
income tax or UK corporation tax, except on certain types of UK source income.
Investors
Disposals of Ordinary Shares
Subject to their individual circumstances, Shareholders who are resident in the United Kingdom for UK
taxation purposes, or who carry on a trade in the UK through a branch, agency or permanent establishment
with which their investment in the Company is connected, will potentially be liable to UK taxation, as further
explained below, on any gains which accrue to them on a sale or other disposition of their Ordinary Shares
which constitutes a ‘disposal’ for UK taxation purposes.
The Taxation (International and Other Provisions) Act 2010 and the Offshore Funds (Tax) Regulations 2009
contain provisions (the ‘offshore fund rules’) which apply to persons who hold an interest in an entity which
is an ‘offshore fund’ for the purposes of those provisions. Under the offshore fund rules, any gain accruing
to a person upon the sale or other disposal of an interest in an offshore fund can, in certain circumstances,
be chargeable to UK tax as income, rather than as a capital gain. In addition, offshore funds which are
predominantly debt-invested may be treated as ‘bond funds’. If the bond fund rules were to apply, investors
who are within the charge to UK corporation tax would be subject to taxation in accordance with a fair value
basis of accounting in accordance with the rules in Chapter 3 of Part 6 of the Corporation Tax Act 2009
and investors who are within the charge to UK income tax would be taxed on dividends and other
distributions from the Company as though they were interest in accordance with section 378A of the Income
Tax (Trading and Other Income) Act 2005.
The offshore fund rules will apply to an investment in Ordinary Shares only if a reasonable investor acquiring
those Ordinary Shares in the Company would, under the terms of the arrangement, expect to be able to
realise all or part of their investment on a basis calculated entirely, or almost entirely, by reference to the net
asset value of the Company’s assets (to the extent attributable to the Ordinary Shares) or by reference to
an index of any description. The Directors are of the view that a reasonable investor acquiring Ordinary
Shares in the Placing would not have such an expectation, and therefore the Ordinary Shares should not
be treated as constituting interests in an offshore fund for such investors. On that basis, the offshore fund
rules should not apply to such investors and any gain realised by such an investor on a disposal of Ordinary
Shares should not be taxable under the offshore fund rules but should be respected as a capital gain.
Consequently, neither should the bond fund rules described above apply to such investors.
The offshore fund and bond fund rules are complex and can apply in different ways to different investors.
The Directors would strongly recommend that prospective investors seek advice from their own independent
professional advisers.
Dividends on Ordinary Shares
Shareholders who are resident in the United Kingdom for tax purposes will, subject to their individual
circumstances and domicile status, be liable to UK income tax or, as the case may be, corporation tax on
dividends paid to them by the Company.
UK resident individuals who are not domiciled in the UK and pay tax on a remittance basis may be taxed
on the dividends paid if they are considered to be remitted to the UK. The remittance basis rules and its
inter-relationship with other anti-avoidance legislation is complex and prospective investors who are UK
resident but not domiciled should seek advice from their own professional advisers in this regard.
Shareholders who are within the charge to UK corporation tax and who are not ‘small companies’ will
generally be exempt from corporation tax on dividends they receive from the Company, provided the
dividends fall within an exempt class and certain conditions are met. In general, almost all dividends received
by non-small corporate Shareholders should fall within an exempt class. Shareholders within the charge to
UK corporation tax who are ‘small companies’ (as that term is defined in section 93IS of the Corporation
Tax Act 2009) will be liable to UK corporation tax on dividends paid to them by the Company because the
Company is not resident in a ‘qualifying territory’ for the purposes of the legislation contained in the
Corporation Tax Act 2009.
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Annex III
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Certain other provisions of UK tax legislation
(a) Section 13 Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992 – Deemed Gains
The attention of Shareholders who are resident in the United Kingdom for tax purposes are drawn to the
provisions of section 13 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992. This provides that for so long as the
Company is a close company, Shareholders who (alone or together with connected persons) have more than
a 25 per cent. interest in the Company could be liable to UK capital gains taxation on their pro rata share of any
capital gain accruing to the Company (or, in certain circumstances, to a subsidiary or investee company of the
Company). Shareholders should consult their own independent professional advisers as to their UK tax position.
(b) ‘Controlled Foreign Companies’ Provisions – Deemed Income of Corporates
If the Company were at any time to be ‘controlled’, for UK tax purposes, by persons (of any type) resident
in the United Kingdom for tax purposes, the ‘controlled foreign companies’ provisions in Part 9A of Taxation
(International and Other Provisions) Act 2010 could apply to UK resident corporate Shareholders. Under
these provisions, part of any ‘chargeable profits’ accruing to the Company (or in certain circumstances to
a subsidiary or investee company of the Company) may be attributed to such a corporate Shareholder and
may in certain circumstances be chargeable to UK corporation tax in the hands of the corporate Shareholder.
The Controlled Foreign Companies provisions are complex, and prospective investors should consult their
own independent professional advisers.
(c) Chapter 2 of Part 13 of the Income Tax Act 2007 – Deemed Income of Individuals
The attention of Shareholders who are individuals resident in the United Kingdom for tax purposes is drawn
to the provisions set out in Chapter 2 of Part 13 of the UK Income Tax Act 2007, which may render those
individuals liable to UK income tax in respect of undistributed income (but not capital gains) of the Company.
(d) ‘Transactions in securities’
The attention of Shareholders (whether corporates or individuals) within the scope of UK taxation is drawn
to the provisions set out in, respectively, Part 15 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 and Chapter I of Part 13
of the Income Tax Act 2007, which (in each case) give powers to HM Revenue and Customs to raise tax
assessments so as to cancel ‘tax advantages’ derived from certain prescribed “transactions in securities”.
Stamp duty/stamp duty reserve tax
No UK stamp duty or stamp duty reserve tax will be payable on the issue of the Ordinary Shares.
Shares of a UK incorporated company will be subject to duty on many occasions when transferred whether
or not by means of an instrument of transfer. While shares of a non-UK incorporated company are less
exposed to charge, stamp duty may arise on any instrument of transfer of shares that is executed in the UK
or that relates to any property situate, or to any matter or thing done or to be done, in the UK.
Any agreement to transfer the Company’s Ordinary Shares should not, broadly, be subject to UK stamp
duty reserve tax (“SDRT”) provided that the transfer of the Ordinary Shares is not registered in any register
kept in the UK by or on behalf of the Company and the Ordinary Shares are not paired with shares issued
by any company incorporated in the UK.
The Ordinary Shares of the Company will be transferred into a depositary and investors will deal in the
depository interests within CREST. Dealings in these depository interests should avoid stamp duty, as there
will be no instrument of transfer on which the charge could fall.
Depository interests may nevertheless be subject to SDRT. Depository interests are excluded from the
definition of ‘chargeable securities’ for the main SDRT provisions, so that investors will not be subject to a
possible SDRT charge unless the investor is a person whose business is, or includes, issuing depository
receipts for chargeable securities, or a person who holds such securities as nominee or agent for an issuer
of depositary receipts as part of arrangement for the issuer to issue depositary receipts. In the context of
the Placing, the most likely such persons will be the Depositary and its nominated custodian. Anyone else
who may be in that category should take further professional advice.
If any Shareholder is in any doubt as to his or her taxation position, they should seek independent
and professional financial advice.
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PART XIII
CONSEQUENCES OF A STANDARD LISTING
Application will be made for the Ordinary Shares to be admitted to listing on the Official List pursuant to
Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules, which sets out the requirements for Standard Listings. Listing Principles 1
and 2 as set out in Listing Rule 7.2.1 of the Listing Rules also apply to the Company, and the Company
must comply with such Listing Principles. Premium Listing Principles 1 to 6 as set out in Listing Rule 7.2.1AR
of the Listing Rules do not apply to the Company.
However, while the Company has a Standard Listing, it is not required to comply with the provisions of,
inter alia:l

Chapter 8 of the Listing Rules regarding the appointment of a sponsor to guide the Company in
understanding and meeting its responsibilities under the Listing Rules in connection with certain
matters. The Company has not and does not intend to appoint such a sponsor in connection with the
Placing and Admission;

l

Chapter 9 of the Listing Rules regarding continuing obligations (which only apply to companies with
Premium Listings);

l

Chapter 10 of the Listing Rules relating to significant transactions. It should be noted therefore that an
Acquisition, even one constituting a Reverse Takeover, will not require Shareholder consent (and the
consent of Shareholders will not be sought), even if Ordinary Shares are being issued as consideration
for that Acquisition;

l

Chapter 11 of the Listing Rules regarding related party transactions. Nevertheless, the Company will
not enter into any transaction which would constitute a ‘related party transaction’ as defined in Chapter
11 of the Listing Rules without the specific prior approval of a majority of the Directors;

l

Chapter 12 of the Listing Rules regarding purchases by the Company of its Ordinary Shares. In
particular, the Company has not adopted a policy consistent with the provisions of Listing Rules 12.4.1
and 12.4.2; and

l

Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules regarding the form and content of circulars to be sent to Shareholders.

The Company is not currently eligible for a Premium Listing under Chapter 6 of the Listing Rules.
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PART XIV
BVI COMPANY LAW
The Company is registered in the BVI as a BVI business company and is subject to BVI law. English law
and BVI law differ in a number of areas, and certain differences between English law and BVI law are
summarised below, although this is not intended to provide a comprehensive review of the applicable law.
The Company has incorporated equivalent provisions in its Memorandum and Articles to address the
material elements of these differences (further details are provided in paragraph 4.2 of Part XVII of this
document).

1. Shares
Subject to the BVI Companies Act and to a BVI business company’s memorandum and articles of
association, the directors have the power to offer, issue or grant options over or otherwise dispose of shares.
Section 46 of the BVI Companies Act contains pre-emption provisions upon the issuance of shares which
a BVI business company can ‘opt into’ (i.e. they only apply if the memorandum of association specifically
states that they are to apply), although in practice BVI business companies rarely do so. A BVI business
company may amend its memorandum of association to increase, subdivide, combine or decrease the
maximum number of shares that it is authorised to issue or its issued shares.

2. Financial assistance
Financial assistance to purchase shares of a BVI business company or its holding company is not prohibited
under BVI law. Market practice is to treat such actions as a distribution and requires that the directors
determine that, immediately following the grant of the assistance, the BVI business company will be able to
meet its debts as they fall due and that the value of the BVI business company’s assets will exceed its
liabilities (the “Solvency Test”).

3. Purchase of own shares
Except for limited circumstances, and subject to satisfaction of the Solvency Test and the provisions of its
memorandum and articles of association, a BVI business company may purchase, redeem or otherwise
acquire its own shares.

4. Dividends and distributions
Subject to the provisions of its memorandum and articles of association, directors of a BVI business
company may declare dividends in money, shares or other property provided they determine the BVI
business company will be able to satisfy the Solvency Test immediately after the distribution.

5. Protection of minorities
The BVI Act provides for various remedies to be available to shareholders who allege that a BVI business
company’s actions are prejudicial to them, including the right to be able to apply for restraining and
compliance orders, derivative actions, personal actions, and representative actions against the BVI business
company.

6. Management
The business and affairs of the Company are managed by, under the direction or supervision of the Directors.
The Directors have all the powers necessary for managing, and for directing and supervising the business
and affairs of the Company. Each director shall exercise his powers for a proper purpose and shall not act
or agree to the Company acting in a manner that contravenes the Memorandum, the articles or the BVI
Companies Act.
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LR 2.2.1(1)
& 2.2.1(2)
LR 2.2.2(1)
LR 2.2.2(3)

7. Accounting and audit
A BVI business company is obliged to keep financial records that (i) are sufficient to show and explain the
company’s transactions and (ii) will, at any time, enable the financial position of the BVI business company
to be determined with reasonable accuracy.
A BVI business company is required to retain the records and underlying documentation for at least 5 years
from the date (i) of compilation of the transaction to which the records and underlying documentation relate;
or (ii) the company terminates the business relationship to which the records and underlying documentation
relate. The term “records and underlying documentation” shall be construed to include accounts and records
(such as invoices, contracts and similar documents in relation to:–

all sums of money received and expended by the company and the matters in respect of which receipt
and expenditure takes place;

–

all sales and purchases of goods by the company; and

–

the assets and liabilities of the company.

There is no statutory requirement on a BVI business company which carries out business activities similar
to the Company to audit or file annual accounts in the BVI.

8. Exchange control
A BVI business company is not subject to any exchange control regulations in the BVI.

9. Stamp duty
No stamp duty is payable in the BVI in respect of instruments relating to transactions involving BVI business
companies.

10. Transactions with directors
Under BVI law, a transaction entered into by a BVI business company in which a director is interested is
voidable unless (i) such interest was disclosed prior to the BVI business company entering into the
transaction or (ii) it was not required to be disclosed as it is a transaction between the BVI business company
and the director in the ordinary course of the company’s business and on usual terms and conditions.
Furthermore, a transaction entered into by the BVI business company in respect of which a director is
interested is not voidable by the BVI business company if (i) the material facts of the interest of the director
in the transaction are known by the shareholders entitled to vote at a meeting of shareholders and the
transaction is approved or ratified by a resolution of shareholders or (ii) the BVI business company received
fair value for the transaction.

11. Redemption of minority shares
The BVI Companies Act provides that members holding 90 per cent. or more of all the voting shares of a
BVI business company may instruct the directors to redeem the shares of the remaining shareholders. The
directors shall be required to redeem the shares of the minority shareholders, whether or not the shares are
by their terms redeemable. The directors must notify the minority shareholders in writing of the redemption
price to be paid for the shares and the manner in which the redemption is to be effected. In the event that
a minority shareholder objects to the redemption price to be paid and the parties are unable to agree the
redemption amount payable, the BVI Companies Act sets out a mechanism whereby the shareholder and
the BVI business company may each appoint an appraiser, who will together appoint a third appraiser and
all three appraisers will have the power to determine the fair value of the shares to be compulsorily redeemed.
Pursuant to the BVI Companies Act, the determination of the three appraisers shall be binding on the BVI
business company and the minority shareholder for all purposes.
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12. Inspection of corporate records
Shareholders of a BVI business company may inspect, upon giving notice to the company:(a)

the memorandum and articles of association;

(b)

the register of members;

(c)

the register of directors; and

(d)

minutes of meetings and resolutions of members and of those classes of members of which he is a
member.

However, the directors may refuse such request in relation to items (b) to (d) or limit the inspection of such
documents (including limiting the ability to be able to make copies of or take of extracts from the documents)
on the grounds that inspection would be contrary to the interests of the BVI business company.
A copy or original of the following registers may be maintained at the office of the BVI business company’s
registered agent:–

register of members;

–

register of directors; and

–

register of charges.

These may be inspected with the BVI business company’s consent, or in limited circumstances, pursuant
to a court order.

13. Insolvency
BVI law makes provision for both voluntary and insolvent winding-up of a BVI business company, and for
appointment of a liquidator. The shareholders or the directors may resolve to wind up the BVI business
company voluntarily. If it is the directors who resolve to commence the winding-up, they must prepare a
plan of dissolution. Where the shareholders resolve to commence the winding-up, they will approve a plan
of liquidation prepared by the directors.
The BVI business company and any creditor may petition the court, pursuant to the Insolvency Act 2003 of
the British Virgin Islands, for the winding-up of the BVI business company upon various grounds, including
that the BVI business company is unable to pay its debts or that it is just and equitable that it be would up.

14. Takeovers
There are no provisions governing takeover offers analogous to the City Code applicable in the BVI.

15. Squeeze-out
Section 176 of the BVI Companies Act (ability of the shareholders holding 90 per Cent. of the votes of the
outstanding shares or class of outstanding shares to require the Company to redeem the shares held by
the remaining members) which may be disapplied by the memorandum or articles of association of a
company, shall not apply to the Company.

16. Mergers
Generally, the merger or consolidation of a BVI business company requires shareholder approval. However,
a BVI business company parent company may merge with one or more BVI subsidiaries without member
approval, provided that the surviving company is also a BVI business company.
Members dissenting from a merger are entitled to payment of the fair value of their shares unless the BVI
business company is the surviving company and the shareholders continue to hold a similar interest in the
surviving company. BVI law permits BVI business companies to merge with companies incorporated outside
the BVI, providing the merger is lawful under the laws of the jurisdiction in which the non-BVI company is
incorporated.
72

Under BVI law, following a domestic statutory merger or consolidation, one of the companies is subsumed
into the other (the “surviving company”) or both are subsumed into a third company (a “consolidation”).
In either case, with effect from the effective date of the merger, the surviving company or the new
consolidated company assumes all of the assets and liabilities of the other entity/ies by operation of law
and other entities cease to exist.

17. Corporate governance
There is no corporate governance regime in the BVI. As referred to in Part VII (The Company and the Board)
of this document, it is the Directors’ intention that the Company should comply with the UK Corporate
Governance Code to the extent reasonably practicable for a company of the Company’s size and nature.
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PART XV
CREST AND DEPOSITARY INTERESTS

Introduction
CREST is a paperless settlement system allowing securities to be transferred from one person’s CREST
account to another without the need to use securities certificates or written instruments of transfer. Securities
issued by non-UK registered companies, such as the Company, cannot be held or transferred in the CREST
system. However, to enable investors to settle such securities through CREST, a depositary or custodian
can hold the relevant securities and issue dematerialised DIs representing the underlying securities which
are held on trust for the holders of the DIs.
The Articles permit the holding and transfer of Ordinary Shares and the DIs under CREST. CREST members
are able to hold and transfer interests in Ordinary Shares within CREST pursuant to a DI arrangement
established by the Company. CREST is a voluntary system and holders of Ordinary Shares who wish to
receive and retain securities certificates will also be able to do so. No temporary documents of title will be
issued.
The Ordinary Shares are not themselves admitted to CREST. Instead the Depositary, acting as depositary,
has issued DIs in respect of the underlying Ordinary Shares. The DIs are independent securities constituted
under English law which may be held and transferred through CREST. DIs have the same international
security identification number (“ISIN”) as the underlying Ordinary Shares and do not require a separate listing
on the Official List. The DIs have been created and issued pursuant to the Deed Poll, which governs the
relationship between the Depositary, as depositary, and the holders of DIs.
The DIs in respect of the underlying existing Ordinary Shares in issue have been admitted to CREST and
application will be made for the Dis in respect of the underlying new Ordinary Shares to be admitted to
CREST with effect from Admission. Holders of Ordinary Shares in certificated form who wish to hold DIs
through the CREST system may be able to do so and should contact the Depositary.

Summary of the Deed Poll
As mentioned above, the DIs have been created pursuant to and issued on the terms of the Deed Poll. The
Deed Poll is executed by the Depositary, as depositary, in favour of the holders of the DIs from time to time.
Holders of DIs should note that they will have no rights against Euroclear, or any of its subsidiaries in respect
of the underlying Ordinary Shares or the DIs representing them.
Ordinary Shares will be transferred to an account of the Depositary or its nominated custodian (the
“Custodian”) and the Depositary will issue DIs to participating members of CREST.
Each DI is treated as one Ordinary Share for the purposes of determining, for example, eligibility for any
dividends. The Depositary will pass on to holders of DIs any share or cash benefits received by it as holder
of Ordinary Shares on trust for such DI holders. DI holders will also be able to receive from the Depositary
notices of meetings of holders of Ordinary Shares and other information to make choices and elections
issued by the Company to the Shareholders.
Below is a summary only of the DI terms and the Deed Poll. It does not therefore contain all of the information
that the holder may find useful. A copy of the full Deed Poll will be made available to the DI holders at the
Depositary’s office at the address set out on page 35.
In summary, the Deed Poll contains, inter alia, provisions to the following effect:(a)

The Depositary will hold (itself or through the Custodian), as bare trustee, the underlying Ordinary
Shares issued by the Company and all and any rights and other securities, property and cash
attributable to the underlying Ordinary Shares for the time being pertaining to the DIs for the benefit of
the holders of the DIs. The Depositary will re-allocate securities or distributions allocated to the
Depositary or the Custodian pro rata to the Ordinary Shares held for the respective accounts of the
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holders of DIs but will not be required to account for fractional entitlements arising from such
reallocation.
(b)

Holders of DIs warrant, inter alia, that the Ordinary Shares transferred or issued to the Depositary (or
Custodian on behalf of the Depositary) for the account of the DI holder are free and clear of all liens,
charges, encumbrances or third party interests and that such transfers or issues are not in
contravention of the Articles or any contractual obligation, or applicable law or regulation binding or
affecting such holder.

(c)

The Depositary and any Custodian must pass on to DI holders, or exercise on their behalf, all rights
and entitlements received by the Depositary or the Custodian in respect of the underlying securities.
Rights and entitlements to cash distributions, to information, to make choices and elections and to
attend and vote at meetings shall, subject to the Deed Poll, be passed on in the form which they are
received, together with amendments and additional documentation necessary to effect such passing
on, or exercised in accordance with the Deed Poll. If arrangements are made which allow a DI holder
to take up rights in the Company’s securities requiring further payment, the DI holder must pay the
Depositary in cleared funds before the relevant payment date or other date notified by the Depositary
if it wishes the Depositary to exercise such rights.

(d)

The Depositary will be entitled to cancel DIs and treat the holders as having requested a withdrawal of
the underlying Ordinary Shares in certain circumstances including where a DI holder fails to furnish to
the Depositary such certificates or representations as to material matters of fact, including his identity,
as the Depositary deems appropriate.

(e)

The Deed Poll contains provisions excluding and limiting the Depositary’s liability. For example, the
Depositary shall not be liable to any DI holder or any other person for liabilities in connection with the
performance or non-performance of obligations under the Deed Poll or otherwise except as may result
from its negligence or wilful default or fraud or that of any person for whom it is vicariously liable,
provided that the Depositary shall not be liable for the negligence, wilful default or fraud of any
Custodian or agent which is not a member of its group unless they have failed to exercise reasonable
care in the appointment and continued use and supervision of such Custodian or agent. Furthermore,
the Depositary’s liability to a holder of DIs will be limited to the lesser of:
(i)

the value of the shares and other deposited property properly attributable to the DIs to which the
liability relates; and

(ii)

that proportion of £5 million which corresponds to the portion which the amount the Depositary
would otherwise be liable to pay to the DI holder bears to the aggregate of the amounts the
Depositary would otherwise be liable to pay to all or any such holders in respect of the same act,
omission, or event or, if there are no such amounts, £5 million.

(f)

The Depositary is entitled to charge holders of DIs fees and expenses for the provision of its services
under the Deed Poll.

(g)

The holders of DIs are required to agree and acknowledge with the Depositary that it is their
responsibility to ensure that any transfer of DIs by them which is identified by the CREST system as
exempt from stamp duty reserve tax is so exempt, and to notify the Depositary if this is not the case,
and to pay to Euroclear any interest, charges or penalties arising from non-payment of stamp duty
reserve tax in respect of such transaction.

(h)

Each holder of DIs is liable to indemnify the Depositary and any Custodian (and their agents, officers
and employees) against all liabilities arising from or incurred in connection with, or arising from any act
related to, the Deed Poll so far as they relate to the DIs (and any property or rights held by the
Depositary or Custodian in connection with the DIs) held by that holder, other than those resulting from
the wilful default, negligence or fraud of the Depositary, or the Custodian or any agent if such Custodian
or agent is a member of the Depositary’s Group or if, not being a member of the same group, the
Depositary shall have failed to exercise reasonable care in the appointment and continued use of such
Custodian or agent.
(i)

The Depositary is entitled to make deductions from any income or capital arising from the
underlying securities, or to sell such underlying securities and make deductions from the sale
proceeds therefrom, in order to discharge the indemnification obligations of DI holders.

(j)

The Depositary may terminate the Deed Poll by giving 30 days’ notice. During such notice period
DI holders may cancel their DIs and withdraw their deposited property and, if any DIs remain
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outstanding after termination, the Depositary must, inter alia, deliver the deposited property in
respect of the DIs to the relevant DI holders or, at their discretion sell all or part of such deposited
property. It shall, as soon as reasonably practicable, deliver the net proceeds of any such sale,
after deducting any sums due to the Depositary, together with any other cash held by it under
the Deed Poll pro rata to holders of DIs in respect of their DIs.
(k)

The Depositary or the Custodian may require from any DI holder information as to the capacity in which
DIs are or were owned and the identity of any other person with or previously having any interest in
such DIs and the nature of such interest and evidence or declarations of nationality or residence of the
legal or beneficial owners of DIs and such information as is required for the transfer of the relevant
Ordinary Shares to the holders. DI holders agree to provide such information requested and consent
to the disclosure of such information by the Depositary or Custodian to the extent necessary or
desirable to comply with their legal or regulatory obligations. Furthermore, to the extent that the
Company’s Articles require disclosure to the Company of, or limitations in relation to, beneficial or other
ownership of the Company’s securities, the holders of DIs are to comply with the Company’s
instructions with respect thereto.
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Units 1–4, Netherton Business Centre
Kemnay, Aberdeenshire, AB51 5LX, UK
Tel: +44 (0) 1467 643 082
Fax: +44(0) 1467 642 826

The Directors
Upland Resources Limited
Ritter House,
Wickhams Cay II,
PO Box 3170,
Road Town,
Tortola VG1110,
British Virgin Islands
24 April 2018
Dear Sirs,
Subject: Competent Person’s Report for the Wick Prospect, P 2235
and Hardstoft Field, PEDL299 in the UK
In accordance with your instructions, we have conducted a Technical Reserves & Resource
Assessment of the Wick Prospect, P 2235 and Hardstoft Field, PEDL299 in the UK and have
compiled herewith a Competent Person’s Report (“CPR”) for Upland Resources Ltd (“Upland”).
The primary basis for our assessment was a package of data made available by Upland including, but
not limited to, raw data, interpreted data and evaluation reports by the operators of the respective
license in addition to a digital copy of Upland’s interpretation/evaluation project of the Wick’s
prospect in IHS Kingdom Software. Where possible, we have undertaken a review/audit of the
technical work carried out by Upland and their partners we have certified the estimates of reserves,
contingent resources and prospective resources.
In estimating hydrocarbons in place and recoverable volumes, we have used the standard geoscience
and petroleum engineering techniques. These combine geophysical and geological knowledge with
detailed information concerning porosity and permeability distributions, reservoir temperature and
pressure conditions and fluid characteristics. There is of course uncertainty inherent in the
measurement and interpretation of basic data. We have estimated the degree of this uncertainty and
have used statistical methods to calculate the range of hydrocarbons initially in place or recoverable.
We have assessed and verified the chance of success for discovery of a sufficient quantity of
hydrocarbons which test at a sufficient rate to allow for the consideration of subsequent appraisal and
development by using the standard approach taken in the industry. That is, assessing the likelihood of
success on the following risk components: source rock, charge, reservoir, trap and seal. It should be
understood that any technical assessment, particularly one involving exploration and future
petroleum developments, may be subject to significant variations over time as new information
becomes available. The resources included in this evaluation are estimates and should not be
construed as exact quantities. We have classified the prospective hydrocarbons according to the
SPE/WPC/AAPG/SPEE Petroleum Resources Management System (PRMS), an excerpt of which is
included in Appendix 1 of our CPR. The content of this report and our estimates of resources are
based on data provided to us by Upland.
Executive Summary
P2235 contains the large Wick Prospect which lies in the Inner Moray Firth, only 2km from land and
in shallow water (Figure E-1). The Licence area benefits from an extensive 3D dataset, and lies close
to the large Beatrice Field, updip from the Lybster Discovery and in the same working petroleum
system. Upland therefore, considers the P2235 as a relatively low risk, low cost, potentially
transformative near term drilling opportunity using a jack-up rig in late 2018. Corallian has already
begun environmental permitting for the well. Corallian interpretation included depth maps for the
objective reservoir Beatrice "A". These maps were found reasonable and were used for reference.
Blackwatch Petroleum Services Limited
Registered in Scotland No. SC150618. 27 Huntly Street, Inverness, IV3 5PR
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Synthetic seismograms generated for key wells have enabled generally satisfactory well to seismic
ties.
Figure E-1 P2235 - Wick Prospect Location

The Wick prospect was interpreted by Corallian as a large downthrown fault bounded rollover at top
Brora and top Callovian (Beatrice sands) lying between the Helmsdale and Great Glen faults
immediately up-dip from proven oil at Lybster field. Figure E-2 is Corallian’s top structure map. The
Beatrice sand is shallow marine, with a gradual transgression towards the top which leads to a
progressive reduction in reservoir quality. No significant change in thickness or facies is predicted
between this well and Wick prospect based on the consistent and isopachous character of seismic
reflections. The Beatrice "A" and "B" sands exhibit fair to good porosity and good permeability
Figure E-2 Beatrice Formation Top Structure Map

Blackwatch Petroleum Services Limited
Registered in Scotland No. SC150618. 27 Huntly Street, Inverness, IV3 5PR
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ii

Upland's wholly-owned subsidiary, Upland Resources (UK Onshore) Limited (“Upland UK”) has a
participating interest in Hardstoft field, PEDL299 (previously part of Block SK46C) (Figure E-2).
Hardstoft was reviewed by Blackwatch in October 2015 and later in November 2016 resulting in two
CPR’s issued in October 2015 and November 2016 respectively.
In October 2016 Upland UK has increased its participating interest in PEDL299 - the Petroleum
Exploration and Development Licence prior to its award to Upland UK and its bid partners, together
with INEOS Upstream Limited (“INEOS”), in the 14th UK Onshore Oil and Gas Licensing Round..
Following the acquisition by Europa Oil & Gas (Holdings) plc (“Europa plc”) of Shale Petroleum
(UK) Limited (“Shale Petroleum”), Europa plc assigned Shale Petroleum's 16.665% interest in
PEDL299 - as to 8.33% to Upland UK and as to 8.335% to Europa plc's wholly-owned subsidiary,
Europa Oil & Gas Limited (“Europa Oil & Gas”). This was as part of a pre-existing arrangement
should any member of the original bid group withdraw from the bid consortium.
Upland UK's participating interest in INEOS operated PEDL299, which contains the Hardstoft oil
field (Figure 1.2) and Hardstoft East prospect, therefore increased from 16.67% to 25%. The
intended award of PEDL299 was originally announced by the OGA and by the Company on 17th
December 2015 and Upland announced the award on 6th October 2016. The following table shows
the existing participating interests of Upland UK, Europa Oil & Gas and INEOS.
Figure E-2 Hardstoft Field Location

We have undertaken a review/audit of the data provided and the technical work carried out by
Upland and their advisors and we have certified the estimates of contingent resources and prospective
resources as summarised in Tables E-1 and E-2 for P2235 and PEDL299 respectively. Blackwatch
did not perform any site visit.
Professional Qualifications
Blackwatch Petroleum Services Ltd (“Blackwatch”) is an independent provider of geological,
petroleum engineering, well testing and drilling engineering services to the international petroleum
industry. Blackwatch specialises in the modelling, estimation, assessment and evaluation of oil and
gas assets. Blackwatch was established in 1994 with offices in central London and Aberdeen and a
multi-national / multi-disciplined staff base. As such, Blackwatch has acquired experience in most of
the hydrocarbon producing provinces of the world. Blackwatch has performed work for a wide
variety of clients, ranging from multi-national and state oil companies, small independents,
investment banks, financial institutions, stock markets and governments. Blackwatch client base
includes ADCO, BP, Shell, ConocoPhillips, ExxonMobil, ChevronTexaco, ENI, JNOC (renamed
Blackwatch Petroleum Services Limited
Registered in Scotland No. SC150618. 27 Huntly Street, Inverness, IV3 5PR
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iii

JOGMEC), GDF, Marathon, Merrill Lynch, EBRD, Norsk Hydro, Cairn Energy, CNR, Victoria Oil
and Gas and many others.
Table E-1 Reserves and Resources Estimates for the Wick Prospect, P 2235 in the UK
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Except for the provision of professional services on a fee basis, Blackwatch does not have any
interest in or commercial arrangement with any persons employed by or acting for Upland.
This report has been prepared by Radwan Hadi. Mr Hadi is a BSc graduate and was awarded an MSc
in Chemical Engineering from the University of Bradford in 1979. He is a member of the Society of
Petroleum Engineers (SPE) and is currently Deputy Managing Director of Blackwatch. Mr Hadi has
over thirty five years of experience in the international oil industry in the estimation, assessment,
evaluation, exploration, development and management of hydrocarbon reserves and resources. He
has worked with oil majors such as BP, Shell, ExxonMobil, and Total as well as independents. He
has led reserves evaluation and CPR projects for mergers/acquisitions, reserves based loans and
privatisation projects working with governments and financial institutions/banks such as PWC,
Merrill Lynch, HSBC, BNP Paribas, and Standard Chartered.
For the purposes of Prospectus Rule PR 5.5.3R (2)(f), Blackwatch accepts responsibility for the
information contained in this section of the Prospectus and those sections of the Prospectus which
include references to the information in this section. Blackwatch declares that to the best of its
knowledge and belief, having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, the information
contained herein is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import
of such information.
Yours faithfully,
Radwan Hadi
Deputy Managing Director
Blackwatch Petroleum Services Limited
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Competent Person’s Report for the Wick Prospect, P 2235
and Hardstoft Field, PEDL299 in the UK

1. Introduction
At the instructions of Upland, Blackwatch conducted a Technical Resource Assessment of the Wick
Prospect, P 2235 and Hardstoft Field, PEDL299 in the UK and have compiled herewith a CPR for
Upland.
1.1. P2235 Licence Details
Upland Resources has announced that its wholly-owned subsidiary, Upland Resources (UK
Onshore), has signed a conditional farm-in agreement with Corallian Energy (“Corallian”) for a 40%
working interest (Table 1-1) in UK Seaward Production Licence P2235 (UKCS Block 11/24b)
containing the Wick Prospect (Figure 1-1).
Table 1-1 P2235 Licence Details

Licensee

Existing Interests (%)

Proposed Interests (%)

Corallian Energy Ltd (Operator)
Upland Resources (UK Onshore)
Limited
Baron Oil Plc
Corfe Energy Limited

100.00
-

40.00
40.00

-

15.00
5.00

Figure 1-1 P2235 – Wick Prospect Location

Blackwatch Petroleum Services Limited
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1.2. PEDL299 Licence Details
Upland UK has increased its participating interest in PEDL299 - the Petroleum Exploration and
Development Licence prior to its award to Upland UK and its bid partners, together with INEOS
Upstream Limited (“INEOS”), in the 14th UK Onshore Oil and Gas Licensing Round.
Following the acquisition by Europa Oil & Gas (Holdings) plc (“Europa plc”) of Shale Petroleum
(UK) Limited (“Shale Petroleum”), Europa pls assigned Shale Petroleum's 16.665% interest in
PEDL299 - as to 8.33% to Upland UK and as to 8.335% to Europa plc's wholly-owned subsidiary,
Europa Oil & Gas Limited (“Europa Oil & Gas”). This was as part of a pre-existing arrangement
should any member of the original bid group withdraw from the bid consortium.
Upland UK's participating interest in INEOS operated PEDL299, which contains the Hardstoft oil
field (Figure 1.2) and Hardstoft East prospect, therefore increased from 16.67% to 25%. The
intended award of PEDL299 was originally announced by the OGA and by the Company on 17th
December 2015 and Upland announced the award on 6th October 2016. The following table shows
the existing participating interests of Upland UK, Europa Oil & Gas and INEOS.
Table 1-2 PEDL299 Licence Details

Licensee
INEOS (Operator)
Europa Oil & Gas Limited
Upland Resources (UK Onshore) Limited

Interest (%)
50.00%
25.00%
25.00%

Figure 1-2 Hardstoft Field Location

Blackwatch Petroleum Services Limited
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1.3. Blackwatch Scope
The primary basis for our assessment was a package of data made available by Upland including, but
not limited to, raw data, interpreted data and evaluation reports by Uplands and its partners supported
by a digital copy of Upland’s interpretation/evaluation project in IHS Kingdom Software.
Where possible, we have undertaken a review/audit of the technical work carried out by Upland and
its partners and advisors and we have provided independent estimates of reserves, contingent
resources and prospective resources.
In estimating hydrocarbons in place and recoverable volumes, we have used the standard geoscience
and petroleum engineering techniques. These combine geophysical and geological knowledge with
detailed information concerning porosity and permeability distributions, reservoir temperature and
pressure conditions and fluid characteristics. There is of course uncertainty inherent in the
measurement and interpretation of basic data. We have estimated the degree of this uncertainty and
have used statistical methods to calculate the range of hydrocarbons initially in place or recoverable.
We have assessed and verified the chance of success for discovery of a sufficient quantity of
hydrocarbons which test at a sufficient rate to allow for the consideration of subsequent appraisal and
development by using the standard approach taken in the industry. That is, assessing the likelihood of
success on the following risk components: source rock, charge, reservoir, trap and seal. It should be
understood that any technical assessment, particularly one involving exploration and future
petroleum developments, may be subject to significant variations over time as new information
becomes available. The resources included in this evaluation are estimates and should not be
construed as exact quantities. We have classified the prospective hydrocarbons according to the
SPE/WPC/AAPG/SPEE Petroleum Resources Management System (PRMS), an excerpt of which is
included in Appendix 1 of our CPR. The content of this report and our estimates of resources are
based on data provided to us by Upland. Evaluation of Wick Prospect & Wick deep Prospect, P2235
1.4. Data Package
As mentioned above, the main part of the database provided by Upland to Blackwatch is a digital
copy of Upland’s interpretation/evaluation project in HIS Kingdom software. This contains the
following:
• well tops,
• various vintages of horizons, grids and faults interpreted by Corallian together with Upland's
re-interpretion
• Notes detailing the revised structural model proposed by Upland Resources were provided in
a powerpoint presentation.
Blackwatch also received supplement material showing TWTT maps of the Wick Deep prospect
interpreted by Upland. These images were loaded onto the Blackwatch workstation and used to
assess Oil Initially In Place and Prospective Resources.
1.5. Integrated Technical Review & Prospect Interpretation
The large Wick Prospect lies in the Inner Moray Firth, only 2km from land and in shallow water. The
Licence area benefits from an extensive 3D dataset, and lies close to the large Beatrice Field, updip
from the Lybster Discovery and in the same working petroleum system. Upland, therefore, considers
the P2235 as a relatively low risk, low cost, potentially transformative near term drilling opportunity
using a jack-up rig in late 2018. Corallian has already begun environmental permitting for the well.
1.5.1.

Structural Interpretation

The Wick and underlying Wick Deep prospects are entirely covered by 3D data, but data quality is
generally poor to moderate with structural complexity giving rise to some ambiguity. Corallian
interpretation included depth maps for the objective reservoir Beatrice "A". These maps were found
reasonable and were used for reference. Synthetic seismograms generated for key wells have enabled
generally satisfactory well to seismic ties. Blackwacth found some anomalous formation correlation
Blackwatch Petroleum Services Limited
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(for example between well 11/25-2 and 11/25-2ST). Also locally some inconsistency in horizon
picking was noted though this is not thought to materially affect resource assessment. Upland’s
December 2017 grids and faults were used as the primary reference. Figure 1-3 shows an example of
the grid to horizon tie at Lybster 11/24-1.
Figure 1-3 Grid/ Horizon Tie at Lybster Well 11/24-1

Et

^

ƌŽƌĂ
ĞĂƚƌŝĐĞ

dƌŝĂƐƐŝĐ

The Wick prospect was identified by Corallian as a large downthrown fault bounded rollover at top
Brora and top Callovian (Beatrice sands) lying between the Helmsdale and Great Glen faults
immediately up-dip from proven oil at Lybster field. Figure 1.4 is Corallian’s top structure map.
Figure 1-4 Beatrice Formation Top Structure Map (Corallian)1

1

Source: Upland
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The Lybster field which is located approximately 3Km to the SW in Block 11/24 and Beatrice field
approximately 25Km to the SE in Block 11/30a provide useful analogue information (Figure 1-5).
Upland has undertaken a full interpretation of the existing well and seismic data, and remapped the
area. They merged the 3D data set covering Block 11/24b and used a revised structural model in
which the Wick prospect (very similar in outline to Corallian) is reinterpreted as an overthrust slab
detached on a flat/bedding plane parallel fault rooted in the Helmsdale fault.
1.5.2.
Wick Reservoirs
The objective (Middle-Lower) Jurassic and Triassic reservoir intervals correlated to Lybster are
repeated to form the Wick Deep prospect in this model. A large right-hand strike-slip growth fault (a
segment of the Great Glen Fault) defines the eastern margin of Wick prospect.
Figure 1-5 Stratigraphic Correlation with Beatrice Field Analogue

ϭϭϬϬĨƚϯϯϱŵŐƌŽƐƐ;ϰϱϬĨƚ ϭϯϳŵŶĞƚͿ
Eͬ'Ϭ͘ϰϭ

ĞĂƚƌŝĐĞ&ŝĞůĚŶĂůŽŐƵĞ

Corallian's petrophysical evaluation and interpretation based on the available information. Figure 16 shows a CPI across the Beatrice reservoir in 11/24Ͳ1 while figure 1-7 shows the formation tops for
11/24-1, resulting from Corallian’s Interpretation. Blackwatch found This interpretation and the
formation tops reasonable for the area and adopted them in the evaluation.
The primary objective is the uppermost Callovian (Beatrice) sand interpreted as shallow marine, with
a gradual transgression towards the top which leads to a progressive reduction in reservoir quality.
No significant change in thickness or facies is predicted between this well and Wick prospect based
on the consistent and isopachous character of seismic reflections. The Beatrice "A" and "B" sands
exhibit fair to good porosity and good permeability (see example in figure 1-6 for well 11/24-1
properties). A greater column height is interpreted at Wick, thus Bathonian - Bajocian Brora sands
and possibly older (Bajocian - Bathonian) may lie within closure above an OWC at Wick. However
the analogues at Lybster and Beatrice show that the Callovian Beatrice "A" and "B" sands exhibit the
best reservoir parameters and that the interbedded pre-Callovian section has a low net/gross sand
ratio. These factors were taken into account in computing a range of GRV since individual sand units
such as the Callovian "A" are at the limit of/below seismic resolution and grids were not available for
Kingdom based computation.
Blackwatch Petroleum Services Limited
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Figure 1-6 CPI across the Beatrice reservoir in Well 11/24Ͳ1
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Top Triassic has been reached at Beatrice, Lybster and in 11/25-2, though there is confusion in the
formation tops in the latter well (between the vertical and side-track - the sidetrack indicating
complete penetration of the Triassic. Blackwatch considers tops in the straight hole more reliable
based on seismic correlation). At Beatrice the Upper Triassic is composed of cherty non-reservoir
facies. According to Frostick et at (1988) the major tectonic control during the Trias was the Great
Glen fault, which can be shown to have been moving in dip-slip fashion at this time. The structure of
the Firth appears to have resembled the simple half-graben that makes up the great East African rift
system. Deposits both thicken and get finer towards the fault. Sediments found in off-shore wells are
dominated by laminated fine sand and silty-clay with sporadic evaporites. Similar sequences are
characteristic of, or associated with, ephemeral lakes in modern semi-arid continental rift settings. No
alluvial fans have been detected close to the faulted margin. For the purposes of volumetric
estimation, Blackwatch has assumed that between the Great Glen and Helmsdale faults a ramp was
developed in which between 10m and 40m of net sand was deposited. We have further assumed
these sands exhibit moderate poroperm character though we have no log evidence to support such
assumptions.
1.5.3.

Trap

The Lybster field is shown as a simple four-way dip closure with a FWL at 4882ft tvdss and
structural spill point (for the Beatrice "A" sand) at 4910ft tvdss [1496.5m]. Minor faults (not shown)
are known from development drilling (11/24-3z). The Beatrice field comprises tilted fault blocks
with the crest of the structure at 5900ft tvdss [1798m tvdss] and a gross oil column of approximately
1100ft [335m]. The crest of the Wick prospect is very shallow (approximately 2500ft [760m]) with
the trap extending down-dip to the spill point defined at Lybster (4900ft). Whether the seal capacity
is sufficient to contain a hydrocarbon column of 2400ft [~730m] in the maximum case is debatable.
Blackwatch is also concerned that in the critical area towards the crest of Wick, seismic data
resolution is poor possibly due to complex strike-slip faulting that reaches near sea bed and could
further compromise trap integrity.
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1.5.4.

Hydrocarbon

The Lybster and Beatrice fields demonstrate valid petroleum system(s) within the local area.
Analysis of Lybster oil was not available for review but is believed to be similar to Beatrice sweet
medium gravity circa 38°API, with high wax content (17% at Beatrice) giving rise to a pour point of
24°C and moderate viscosity 2.23 centipoise. The GOR reported at Beatrice was 126SCF/bbl and
FVF 1.1.
A gas cap is present at Lybster. This is likely methane and associated with degradation of the oil
(bubble point reported at Beatrice 635psia). Geochemical evidence suggests that this unusual
composition oil is a mixture derived from Middle - Lower Jurassic and Devonian shales. Peak
generation and migration have been modelled during the Mid- Cretaceous.
1.5.5.
Seal
Upper Jurassic, Oxfordian and Kimmeridgian shales are proven and potentially provide top seal as
well as lateral seal across the Great Glen fault segment whereas lateral seal across the Helmsdale
fault to the north may be provided by juxtaposition against the Devonian. Shale smear along the
major strike-slip faults appears likely though trap integrity may have been compromised by
significant displacement during the Tertiary (following Cretaceous generation and migration). These
observations lead Blackwatch to suggest that there is the possibility of a gas cap in the shallower
Wick prospect. There is also a possibility that the trap as defined, is unlikely to be filled to structural
spill. Further studies and additional information are required to ascertain or disprove this possibility.
1.5.6.

Wick Deep Prospect

The structural model based on seismic interpretation by Upland Resources shows low angle bedding plane parallel thrust detachment rooted in the Helmsdale fault. The Wick prospect is
interpreted as a large overthrust slab extending approximately 3.6Km to the ENE with the Jurassic Triassic section repeated in an anticlinal structure below the flat detachment. The crest of the
interpreted Wick Deep (Callovian) structure is at approximately 1.5 secs TWTT (similar to Beatrice
field). Consequently Blackwatch assumed similar reservoir and oil parameters for Wick Deep. The
horizon picks for an illustrative In-line (exact line location / number un-known) provided by Upland
Resources is shown in figure 1-8 below.
Figure 1-8 An illustrative In-line Showing the Horizon Picks

Wick Deep is interpreted as the rollover at Beatrice and Triassic horizons (light green and pink)
below the interpreted flat detachment (mid blue). Note that the detachment lies below the Triassic
(yellow) horizon of the (interpreted) overthrust Wick slab on the southern (left hand) side of the NE
flank fault and above Callovian (dark green horizon) on the northern side. providing stratigraphic
information that constrains the timing of the interpreted thrust emplacement. The In-line 2080 SWNE (Figure 1-9) shows the interpretation may be problematic in terms of timing. The mid blue
horizon (interpreted ramp flat detachment) shows structural discontinuity between the overlying and
underlying sections. Above this discontinuity structure at the yellow horizon (Triassic) is passively
in-filled so that the Triassic structure is completely buried at the Dark Green horizon (Beatrice sand).
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This implies thrust movement had terminated by that time, yet to the NE it is clearly shown as
detachment in the post Beatrice section.
Blackwatch accepts that low resolution 3D data presents problems in interpretation and noted the
structural model proposed by Upland. An alternate model is that around the mid-blue event there is
an angular unconformity. In this case the Deep Wick structure is of pre-Triassic (probably prePermian age) and not a repeated Triassic - Mid Jurassic section. We believe that higher resolution
seismic may clarify this matter.
Figure 1-9 In Line 2080-NE

1.6. P2235 In-Place Resources
Upland estimates the Wick Prospect could hold in-place P50 resources of around 250 MMbbl within
and beyond P2235. Blackwatch carried out a series of Monte Carlo probabilistic runs and estimated a
range of in-place resources within P2235 only, with two sets of assumptions; one for the Gas cap
presence case and one for the no gas cap case, and the results are show in table 1-3 below.
Table 1-3 Blackwatch estimate of in Place resources (un-risked)
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2. Hardstoft Field, PEDL299
Blackwatch issued a CPR to Upland in October 2015 for Licence Blocks SK46c and SK47b onshore
UK (Figure 2-1). This section of this CPR covers Block SK46c including the Hardstoft field which is
now under a Petroleum Exploration & Development Licence PEDL299. The licenced area of Block
SK46c comprises 78.65 Km2. This section of this CPR herein, which covers Hardstoft, PEDL299, is
an extract from Blackwatch CPR issued in October 2015. For the purpose of this CPR herein, it
should therefore be noted that wherever there is mention of SK46C it actually refers to
PEDL299.
Figure 2-1 Blocks SK46c & SK 47b Location Map

Figure 2-2 Hardstoft Field Location
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2.1. Hardstoft Database
The seismic data were provided within 3 Kingdom projects (2 restricted to the SK46c/SK47b area
and 1 of a more regional extent) are in SEGY format line files. As many of the SEGY lines were
located in the area of interest, they were subsequently loaded into the Kingdom project containing
Upland’s interpretation. Only 2 of the wells for which data were available relevant to this evaluation
had been loaded into the Kingdom project. To aid interpretation, data for the remaining 6 wells were
loaded to produce the map shown in Figure 3-3 below.
To assess the relevance of the available seismic lines to the Hardstoft field and prospects, maps of
these features, were loaded into Kingdom and polygons drawn around their extents. As shown in
Figure 3-3 several seismic lines are present over the Hardstoft Field. It was also noted that one
seismic line located over the anticline to the east of the Hardstoft Field was not provided.
Most of the seismic lines were acquired by BP during 1984 and are of moderate quality. They appear
to follow local roads and tracks and hence exhibit many bends and curves which have degraded
quality. Reprocessing, which includes migration, has been undertaken on 5 lines but does not appear
to have been particularly successful. The interpretations provided were based on un-migrated stack
data. Overall, data quality for the top Dinantian Limestone reflector, which represents top reservoir at
Hardstoft, is of moderate to poor quality over the crests of anticlines and fair to moderately good
elsewhere.
2.2. Well History
The first well in the field, Hardstoft-1 was completed in 1919. It was the first significant oil
discovery in the UK and produced naturally at an initial rate of approximately 6 bbls/day which
increased to around 10 bbls/day with pumping. No significant water cut was observed until 1924.
In 1938 the well was deepened from 3127ft MD to 3272ft MD penetrating interbedded volcanic
ashes and light brown limestones below cherty black limestones. Water was reported between 3247ft
and 3261ft MD and it is unclear if oil shows were present at TD. However no additional production
was achieved from deepening and acidising the well. It is estimated that total production from the
well was approximately 26,000bbls oil.
Two appraisal wells, Hardstoft 2 & 3 were drilled in 1925 and 1926 respectively but failed to add
production.
2.3. Hardstoft Field Seismic Review
The Hardstoft Field produced oil from the Dinantian limestone which was discovered in Hardstoft-1
at a depth of 3077 feet MD. The field structure has been mapped as a faulted anticline by both
Europa in Appendix B and by Upland within the Kingdom project. It is constrained by 6 seismic
lines that are orientated in an approximate dip direction and linked by 1 strike line. Lines are at 1 km
intervals in the area of the Hardstoft wells and at 2.5km intervals to the east. Seismic lines clearly
show the presence of a high relief faulted anticline. There are very limited velocity data to tie the top
Dinantian limestone seismic horizon to the formation tops in the wells. This comprised a sonic log
for Bramley Moor-1 to the north and velocity data for Eakring-146 to the east. No direct seismic tie
to the Hardstoft lines from either of these wells could be made. Scanned images of the BP84 seismic
survey show that they were processed to a mean sea level datum. Checking the seismic two-way time
with the depth of the top Dinantian limestone at the Hardstoft-2 location gives an average velocity of
3557ms-1. As this velocity is in the expected range for the Carboniferous sediments of the
overburden, there is reasonable confidence that the top reservoir reflection has been correctly
recognised.
The Europa top Dinantian reservoir map shows the Hardstoft structure as an elongate faulted
anticline with the crest to the southeast of the wells (Figure 2-3). The anticline contains two
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secondary closures, one within SK46c, and a second outside the block further to the east. The most
easterly closure contains the Ladybrook-1 well which was drilled deviated the north. The composite
log for this well shows Namurian sediments at a TD of -936m TVDss however the Europa map
shows the underlying Dinantian reservoir at -740m TVDss. Therefore a significant error is present in
this part of Europa’s interpretation which reduces their most likely area of closure in the east and
confidence in their interpretation.
Figure 2-3 Hardstoft Top Dinantian Depth Map (Europa Appendix B)

An alternative depth map for the Dinantian reservoir was present within one of the provided
Kingdom projects (Figure 3.4). The author, Upland, based the interpretation on only 5 seismic lines.
A review of these lines showed the picks to be reasonably consistent with the reflections but the
resultant depth map shows values that were approximately 150m greater than TVDss from the wells.
It is unclear whether a different datum has been used in the creation of this depth map that would
explain the contour depths shown.
Figure 2-4 Hardstoft Top Reservoir Depth Map (Upland)
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Comparison of the Upland and Europa maps reveals significant differences. Consequently, it was
decided to undertake an independent interpretation of the Hardstoft Field incorporating the recently
loaded lines. The Upland Dinantian reservoir pick was copied, revised and extended to the east on the
additional lines. Similar to previous interpretations, the Hardstoft Field was interpreted as a faulted
anticline with the crest to the southeast of Hardstoft-1. Depth conversion was undertaken using a
polynomial function based on the Eakring-146 velocity data. The final top Dinantian limestone depth
map (Figure 3-6) was tied at well locations using a residual grid.

Figure 2-5 Seismic line BP-84-158B through Hardstoft Field

The anticline is complex, being cross cut by several large faults. There is significant uncertainty
associated with some of these faults as there are insufficient seismic lines to unambiguously define
their orientation. It is also highly likely that more faults would be mapped within the area if
additional seismic lines were acquired. The anticlinal trend extends to the east as shown by Europa
but at significantly greater depth. However, the small closure around the Hardstoft wells is similar on
all maps.
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Figure 2-6 Hardstoft Top Dinantian Limestone Depth Map (Blackwatch)

2.4. Hardstoft Geology
The Hardstoft prospect comprises an ESE trending inversion anticline previously tested by three
wells. Blackwatch has reinterpreted the structure identified by Europa but the main elements
comprising closure to the south and north defined by reverse faults and dip closure to the east and
west has been confirmed. It should be noted that previous wells were located close to the crest of the
anticline and lie within the CE (Chatsworth Estates) acreage. A small untested area is located up-dip
to the south-east of Hardstoft-1 with the crest of the structure interpreted at approximately 675m
bmsl. On the northern flank of the anticline a secondary combination three-way dip and fault closure
“Hardstoft East” has been identified.
The objective Dinantian limestone is overlain and sealed by high gamma “hot” Namurian shale
source rocks permitting direct migration of hydrocarbons from source to reservoir. The structure is
rather weakly defined by sparse 2D seismic data as shown on the location map above, but appears to
spill northwards towards the Heath-1 well in which traces of migrant oil were reported at the top of
Dinantian limestones together with bitumen impregnation of the overlying basal Namurian shales.
The Ladybrook -1 well located at the eastern extremity of the prospect did not reach the Dinantian
suggesting significant error in Europa’s depth maps.
Our review has been unable to accurately define the OWC in Hardstoft-1. No significant oil shows
were recorded in Hardstoft-2 or Hardstoft-3 though they lie within structural closure as reasonably
defined by four 2D lines. We estimate top Dinantian limestone in Hardstoft -1 at -745m bmsl,
Hardstoft-2 at -755m bmsl and Hardstoft-3 at -762m bmsl. Because of the uncertainty in mapping
based on very limited 2D data and the poorly defined OWC there is significant uncertainty with
respect to trap volume and potentially recoverable resources that may be accessed by re-developing
the structure.
In view of mapping uncertainty and the wide range of possible trap sizes that may be interpreted we
have considered two models. These are 1) that oil is stratigraphically confined within a karstified
zone at the top of the Dinantian section and 2) that oil production at the core of the Hardstoft
structure was achieved from a dual porosity system in which fracturing is a key element of the
poroperm. Previous production of oil in commercial volumes from this closure demonstrates that all
the essential elements of the petroleum system and trap are present and that further drilling and
exploitation is low risk. The main uncertainty is the effectiveness of reservoir facies over a broader
area. A secondary closure Hardstoft East, located immediately to the north-east has not been tested
by previous drilling. Prospective resources have also been estimated for this prospect. As noted
above, our analysis is that the top Dinantian limestone in Hardstoft-1 is at a depth of 745m bmsl
(3077ft MD) and based on the initial 5 years of production without water, oil was present down to at
least TD at 3127ft MD (761m bmsl). A reference to water being “bailed” at 3112ft MD is assumed to
be in connection with operations to deepen the well in 1938. We have taken 762m bmsl to define
the shallowest OWC and minimum (P90) closure.
2.5. Hardstoft Volumetrics
2.5.1.
Stratigraphic Model -1
The premise for this model is that Hardstoft-1 did not penetrate a Free Water Level (FWL) and that
the oil bearing interval is at the top of the Dinantian limestone where karstification has enhanced the
matrix porosity and permeability sufficiently to form an effective reservoir rock. It is assumed that
natural fracturing contributes little to the porosity and permeability being principally in the form of
stratigraphically confined jointing. We accept a very large areal closure (about 23 Km2) at top
Dinantian limestone as mapped by Europa is present and potentially filled by oil, and that the
structure spills northwards towards Heath-1. However given the lack of significant oil shows in
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wells Hardstoft-2 and Hardstoft-3, the uncertainty in mapping and the pervasive nature of a steeply
dipping fracture systems observed in analogous outcrop we believe such a model is risky and concur
with Europa’s view of P10 or less for this “upside” case. For scoping purposes we have made a
deterministic estimate of 62MMSTOIIP (22 MMbbls prospective recoverable) in total with 55 MM
bbls STOIIP and 19 MMbbls recoverable in SK 46c. Details of these estimates are tabulated below.
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Table 2-1 Hardstoft Volumetric Scenarios – Stratigraphic Model-1 Whole Structure (Blackwatch)
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Table 2-2 Hardstoft Volumetric Scenarios – Stratigraphic Model-1 On-Block (Blackwatch)

2.5.2.

Dual Porosity System, Model -2

The premise for this model is that oil is trapped within the core of the Hardstoft anticline and that
natural fracturing at the crest of the anticline has allowed preferential karstification. A secondary
closure Hardstoft East is downthrown on the northern flank of the anticline (Figure 3-7).

Figure 2-7 Top Dinantian Limestone Depth Map Showing Hardstoft East Prospect (Blackwatch)

We accept it is possible that Hardstoft-1 may not have penetrated an OWC and that the oil shows
reported may indicate ODT levels within an alternating series of tight and permeable limestones.
However based on outcrop and analogue studies, significant permeability and porosity at Hardstoft -1
is most likely due to karst, dolomitisation and a pervasive sub-vertical fracture system.
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Our preferred interpretation is one of a dual porosity system. Therefore we believe it unlikely
that oil in Hardstoft-1 would be stratigraphically confined to a relatively thin upper layer of limestone
and that observed oil shows likely indicate oil present in fractures down to an OWC. The OWC in
Hardstoft -1 is not clearly defined but a range of min, ml and maximum closures was derived from
the following observations:
•
•

•

For the maximum case we consider closure at -797m bmsl based on the water from 32473261ft MD which was shut off with a cement plug after deepening the well, there being no
reported oil shows below this depth at Hardstoft-1.
For the most likely case we consider closure at -782m bmsl which at Hardstoft-1 is the top of
the interbedded volcanic ash section (3198ft MD). No increase in oil productivity was achieved
below this level (a test at 3261ft MD resulted in increase in water production of
100gallons/hour).
For the minimum case we consider closure at -762m bmsl based on the initial five years of oil
production with no significant water cut to the well TD of -761m bmsl.

In total, the Hardstoft anticline is estimated to contain 19.5 MMSTB OIIP with 7.0 MMSTB
recoverable. These estimates include the area covered by the CE001 Licence. The same estimated
input parameters (no e-log or core data available) were used in a Monte-Carlo simulation and the
results are shown in Tables 4 & 5.
We suggest Hardstoft is low risk and are in agreement with Europa’s estimated Geological Chance of
Success of 0.8 (1 in 1.25). We consider the untested Hardstoft East structure that is also slightly
down dip, carries a slightly higher risk and assign a GCS of 0.64 (1 in 1.6).
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Table 2-3 Hardstoft Volumetric Scenarios – Dual Porosity System, Model-2 (Blackwatch) Deterministic.
All Volumetrics Include the CE001 Licence

We have made arithmetic estimates of STOIIP and Resources for both the Hardstoft and Hardstoft
East traps.
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Table 2-4 Hardstoft Volumetric Scenarios – Dual Porosity System, Model-2 (Blackwatch) Probabilistic
Estimate for the Hardstoft Trap. All Volumetrics Include the CE001 Licence

Table 2-5 Hardstoft Volumetric Scenarios – Dual Porosity System, Model-2 (Blackwatch) Probabilistic
Estimate for the Hardstoft East Trap. All Volumetrics Include the CE001 Licence

On the basis of our review of the data and our assessment of Hardstoft Structure, we consider the
resources in Hardstoft as Contingent Resources and the resources in Hardstoft East as Prospective
Resources. Blackwatch estimate of resources in Block SK46c are given in Table 3-6 below.
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Table 2-6 Blackwatch Un-risked Resources Estimate in Hardstoft, PEDL299 (Previously Block SK46c)

2.6. Risking
Since the presence of effective seal, reservoir, source and trap have been proved by production the
main risks are continuity of the reservoir facies and fracture system and trap definition (due to limited
data available).
The effectiveness of the reservoir and trap at Hardstoft East is not proven and attracts a higher risk,
though its proximity to Hardstoft -1 suggests this is also a low risk prospect.
Correlation between the Hardstoft wells is shown in Figure 3-8 below (vertical scale of well-2
exaggerated). These logs reveal little detail of the facies and likely (complex) diagenetic alteration
though the light brown limestones and “sandy” limestones suggest there may be zones of poroperm
enhancement by dolomitization (in which matrix porosity could be up to 8-9%). Of concern is the
reference to salt water in Hardstoft -2 at an elevation only 10m below the top of the reservoir in
Hardstoft –1 although bitumen impregnation was noted in the overlying Namurian shales.
Possibly the top part of the Dinantian in this well comprises interbedded limestone and black shale,
and stratigraphic top Dinantian may therefore be above the top of the “solid “ limestone section, but
this is unclear from available data. Similarly no significant shows were reported in Hardstoft-3
where the rock description appears similar to the previous wells. The lower part of the section
penetrated by Hardstoft-1 and Hardstoft-3 comprises mainly volcanic ashes and lavas. Unfortunately
limited seismic coverage is insufficient to identify the true complexity of the structure or lithological
changes within the mapped structure.
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Figure 2-8 Correlation between the Hardstoft wells (vertical scale of well-2 exaggerated)

Depositional models for the Dinantian reservoir based on detailed field mapping have been widely
published and an example is illustrated in Figure 3-9 below. The anticlinal structure at Hardstoft is
probably the result of inversion of basement involved faults at a location transitional between the
platform and basin. Typically the best reservoir facies may be expected at the shelf margin. From the
data available the palaeogeography and facies distribution is not clear though clearly the best matrix
poroperm may not coincide with post-inversion structural highs.
Typically the matrix porosity in Dinantian carbonates is very low ranging between 1% and 5%. Poor
matrix porosity is due to compaction of lime muds during burial in the absence of reef building
organisms which became established later in the Carboniferous.
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Figure 2-9 Schematic section illustrating Dinantian carbonate petroleum system (pre-inversion
structure)2

Therefore the development of effective reservoir quality in Dinantian carbonates depends on
fracturing, karstification and dolomitisation. Open fractures and macropores due to karstic
dissolution are very difficult to detect or quantify from e-logs. The fracture system is mainly related
to structure, in particular Variscan (Late Carboniferous-Early Permian) inversion. Karstic porosity is
associated with sequence boundaries for example at the top of the Brigantian, Asbian, Arundian and
Chadian and is usually best developed along the shelf – edge whereas no karstic porosity
enhancement occurred in more seaward locations. Enhanced poroperm character is generally inferred
from mud losses and drilling breaks rather than e-logs though gamma spikes may sometimes indicate
karst–fill. An Asbian shelf margin outcrop at Windy Knoll near Castleton Derbyshire where
fractures and vugs are filled by bitumen provides a useful analogue. Here the underlying fault
system appears to have facilitated leaching and enhancement of pre-existing fracture and karst
networks by later circulating fluids. Evidence for dolomitisation at Hardstoft is equivocal. No
porosity logs or core information are available.
2.6.1.
Source Rocks
A direct migration pathway by onlap and or fault juxtaposition suggests that the source of oil
discovered in the Dinantian is most likely pro-delta marine shales of Namurian age (mainly
Pendleian). These shales contain type-II kerogen and are oil-prone source rocks that regionally
exhibit a residual TOC of 2-6% and are able to generate oil or condensate rich gas. The best source
potential is believed to occur within the relatively sediment starved WNW-ESE Widmerpool and
Gainsborough troughs. In part the source shales may be coeval with deposition of Dinantian
carbonate reservoir facies on the shelf / up-thrown blocks.

2
Source: A Regional Review of the Dinantian Carbonate Play: Southern North Sea & Onshore UK. A report prepared
for UK DBERR by Total E&P UK – November 2007
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Appendix 1
Petroleum Resources Management System
Sponsored by:
Society of Petroleum Engineers (SPE)
American Association of Petroleum Geologists (AAPG)
World Petroleum Council (WPC)
Society of Petroleum Evaluation Engineers (SPEE)
Preamble
Petroleum resources are the estimated quantities of hydrocarbons naturally occurring on or within the
Earth’s crust. Resource assessments estimate total quantities in known and yet-to-be discovered
accumulations; resources evaluations are focused on those quantities that can potentially be
recovered and marketed by commercial projects. A petroleum resources management system
provides a consistent approach to estimating petroleum quantities, evaluating development projects,
and presenting results within a comprehensive classification framework.
International efforts to standardize the definitions of petroleum resources and how they are estimated
began in the 1930s. Early guidance focused on Proved Reserves. Building on work initiated by the
Society of Petroleum Evaluation Engineers (SPEE), SPE published definitions for all Reserves
categories in 1987. In the same year, the World Petroleum Council (WPC, then known as the World
Petroleum Congress), working independently, published Reserves definitions that were strikingly
similar. In 1997, the two organizations jointly released a single set of definitions for Reserves that
could be used worldwide. In 2000, the American Association of Petroleum Geologists (AAPG), SPE,
and WPC jointly developed a classification system for all petroleum resources. This was followed by
additional supporting documents: supplemental application evaluation guidelines (2001) and a
glossary of terms utilized in resources definitions (2005). SPE also published standards for estimating
and auditing reserves information (revised 2007).
These definitions and the related classification system are now in common use internationally within
the petroleum industry. They provide a measure of comparability and reduce the subjective nature of
resources estimation. However, the technologies employed in petroleum exploration, development,
production, and processing continue to evolve and improve. The SPE Oil and Gas Reserves
Committee works closely with other organizations to maintain the definitions and issues periodic
revisions to keep current with evolving technologies and changing commercial opportunities.
This document consolidates, builds on, and replaces guidance previously contained in the 1997
Petroleum Reserves Definitions, the 2000 Petroleum Resources Classification and Definitions
publications, and the 2001 “Guidelines for the Evaluation of Petroleum Reserves and Resources”; the
latter document remains a valuable source of more detailed background information, and specific
chapters are referenced herein. Appendix A is a consolidated glossary of terms used in resources
evaluations and replaces those published in 2005.
These definitions and guidelines are designed to provide a common reference for the international
petroleum industry, including national reporting and regulatory disclosure agencies, and to support
petroleum project and portfolio management requirements. They are intended to improve clarity in
global communications regarding petroleum resources. It is expected that this document will be
supplemented with industry education programs and application guides addressing their
implementation in a wide spectrum of technical and/or commercial settings.

Blackwatch Petroleum Services Limited
Registered in Scotland No. SC150618. 27 Huntly Street, Inverness, IV3 5PR

105

22

Competent Person’s Report for the Wick Prospect, P 2235
and Hardstoft Field, PEDL299 in the UK

It is understood that these definitions and guidelines allow flexibility for users and agencies to tailor
application for their particular needs; however, any modifications to the guidance contained herein
should be clearly identified. The definitions and guidelines contained in this document must not be
construed as modifying the interpretation or application of any existing regulatory reporting
requirements.
The SPE/WPC/AAPG/SPEE Petroleum Resources Management System document, including its
Appendix, may be referred to by the abbreviated term “SPE-PRMS” with the caveat that the full title,
including clear recognition of the co-sponsoring organizations, has been initially stated.
1.0 Basic Principles and Definitions
The estimation of petroleum resource quantities involves the interpretation of volumes and values
that have an inherent degree of uncertainty. These quantities are associated with development
projects at various stages of design and implementation. Use of a consistent classification system
enhances comparisons between projects, groups of projects, and total company portfolios according
to forecast production profiles and recoveries. Such a system must consider both technical and
commercial factors that impact the project’s economic feasibility, its productive life, and its related
cash flows.
1.1 Petroleum Resources Classification Framework
Petroleum is defined as a naturally occurring mixture consisting of hydrocarbons in the gaseous,
liquid, or solid phase. Petroleum may also contain non-hydrocarbons, common examples of which
are carbon dioxide, nitrogen, hydrogen sulfide and sulfur. In rare cases, non-hydrocarbon content
could be greater than 50%.
The term “resources” as used herein is intended to encompass all quantities of petroleum naturally
occurring on or within the Earth’s crust, discovered and undiscovered (recoverable and
unrecoverable), plus those quantities already produced. Further, it includes all types of petroleum
whether currently considered “conventional” or “unconventional.”
Figure 1-1 is a graphical representation of the SPE/WPC/AAPG/SPEE resources classification
system. The system defines the major recoverable resources classes: Production, Reserves,
Contingent Resources, and Prospective Resources, as well as Unrecoverable petroleum.

Figure 1-1: Resources Classification Framework.
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The “Range of Uncertainty” reflects a range of estimated quantities potentially recoverable from an
accumulation by a project, while the vertical axis represents the “Chance of Commerciality, that is,
the chance that the project that will be developed and reach commercial producing status. The
following definitions apply to the major subdivisions within the resources classification:
TOTAL PETROLEUM INITIALLY-IN-PLACE is that quantity of petroleum that is estimated to
exist originally in naturally occurring accumulations. It includes that quantity of petroleum that is
estimated, as of a given date, to be contained in known accumulations prior to production plus those
estimated quantities in accumulations yet to be discovered (equivalent to “total resources”).
DISCOVERED PETROLEUM INITIALLY-IN-PLACE is that quantity of petroleum that is
estimated, as of a given date, to be contained in known accumulations prior to production.
PRODUCTION is the cumulative quantity of
While all recoverable resources are estimated
product specifications, raw production (sales
required to support engineering analyses based
section 3.2).

petroleum that has been recovered at a given date.
and production is measured in terms of the sales
plus non-sales) quantities are also measured and
on reservoir voidage (see Production Measurement,

Multiple development projects may be applied to each known accumulation, and each project will
recover an estimated portion of the initially-in-place quantities. The projects shall be subdivided into
Commercial and Sub-Commercial, with the estimated recoverable quantities being classified as
Reserves and Contingent Resources respectively, as defined below.
RESERVES are those quantities of petroleum anticipated to be commercially recoverable by
application of development projects to known accumulations from a given date forward under
defined conditions. Reserves must further satisfy four criteria: they must be discovered, recoverable,
commercial, and remaining (as of the evaluation date) based on the development project(s) applied.
Reserves are further categorized in accordance with the level of certainty associated with the
estimates and may be sub-classified based on project maturity and/or characterized by development
and production status.
CONTINGENT RESOURCES are those quantities of petroleum estimated, as of a given date, to be
potentially recoverable from known accumulations, but the applied project(s) are not yet considered
mature enough for commercial development due to one or more contingencies. Contingent Resources
may include, for example, projects for which there are currently no viable markets, or where
commercial recovery is dependent on technology under development, or where evaluation of the
accumulation is insufficient to clearly assess commerciality. Contingent Resources are further
categorized in accordance with the level of certainty associated with the estimates and may be
subclassified based on project maturity and/or characterized by their economic status.
UNDISCOVERED PETROLEUM INITIALLY-IN-PLACE is that quantity of petroleum
estimated, as of a given date, to be contained within accumulations yet to be discovered.
PROSPECTIVE RESOURCES are those quantities of petroleum estimated, as of a given date, to
be potentially recoverable from undiscovered accumulations by application of future development
projects. Prospective Resources have both an associated chance of discovery and a chance of
development. Prospective Resources are further subdivided in accordance with the level of certainty
associated with recoverable estimates assuming their discovery and development and may be subclassified based on project maturity.
UNRECOVERABLE is that portion of Discovered or Undiscovered Petroleum Initially-in-Place
quantities which is estimated, as of a given date, not to be recoverable by future development
projects. A portion of these quantities may become recoverable in the future as commercial
circumstances change or technological developments occur; the remaining portion may never be
recovered due to physical/chemical constraints represented by subsurface interaction of fluids and
reservoir rocks.
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Estimated Ultimate Recovery (EUR) is not a resources category, but a term that may be applied to
any accumulation or group of accumulations (discovered or undiscovered) to define those quantities
of petroleum estimated, as of a given date, to be potentially recoverable under defined technical and
commercial conditions plus those quantities already produced (total of recoverable resources).
In specialized areas, such as basin potential studies, alternative terminology has been used; the total
resources may be referred to as Total Resource Base or Hydrocarbon Endowment. Total recoverable
or EUR may be termed Basin Potential. The sum of Reserves, Contingent Resources, and Prospective
Resources may be referred to as “remaining recoverable resources.” When such terms are used, it is
important that each classification component of the summation also be provided. Moreover, these
quantities should not be aggregated without due consideration of the varying degrees of technical and
commercial risk involved with their classification.
1.2 Project-Based Resources Evaluations
The resources evaluation process consists of identifying a recovery project, or projects, associated
with a petroleum accumulation(s), estimating the quantities of Petroleum Initially-in- Place,
estimating that portion of those in-place quantities that can be recovered by each project, and
classifying the project(s) based on its maturity status or chance of commerciality.
This concept of a project-based classification system is further clarified by examining the primary
data sources contributing to an evaluation of net recoverable resources (see Figure 1-2) that may be
described as follows:

Figure 1-2: Resources Evaluation Data Sources.
•

The Reservoir (accumulation): Key attributes include the types and quantities of Petroleum
Initially-in-Place and the fluid and rock properties that affect petroleum recovery.

•

The Project: Each project applied to a specific reservoir development generates a unique
production and cash flow schedule. The time integration of these schedules taken to the
project’s technical, economic, or contractual limit defines the estimated recoverable
resources and associated future net cash flow projections for each project. The ratio of EUR
to Total Initially-in-Place quantities defines the ultimate recovery efficiency for the
development project(s). A project may be defined at various levels and stages of maturity; it
may include one or many wells and associated production and processing facilities. One
project may develop many reservoirs, or many projects may be applied to one reservoir.

•

The Property (lease or license area): Each property may have unique associated contractual
rights and obligations including the fiscal terms. Such information allows definition of each
participant’s share of produced quantities (entitlement) and share of investments, expenses,
and revenues for each recovery project and the reservoir to which it is applied. One property
may encompass many reservoirs, or one reservoir may span several different properties. A
property may contain both discovered and undiscovered accumulations.
Blackwatch Petroleum Services Limited
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In context of this data relationship, “project” is the primary element considered in this resources
classification, and net recoverable resources are the incremental quantities derived from each project.
Project represents the link between the petroleum accumulation and the decision-making process. A
project may, for example, constitute the development of a single reservoir or field, or an incremental
development for a producing field, or the integrated development of several fields and associated
facilities with a common ownership. In general, an individual project will represent the level at which
a decision is made whether or not to proceed (i.e., spend more money) and there should be an
associated range of estimated recoverable quantities for that project.
An accumulation or potential accumulation of petroleum may be subject to several separate and
distinct projects that are at different stages of exploration or development. Thus, an accumulation
may have recoverable quantities in several resource classes simultaneously.
In order to assign recoverable resources of any class, a development plan needs to be defined
consisting of one or more projects. Even for Prospective Resources, the estimates of recoverable
quantities must be stated in terms of the sales products derived from a development program
assuming successful discovery and commercial development. Given the major uncertainties involved
at this early stage, the development program will not be of the detail expected in later stages of
maturity. In most cases, recovery efficiency may be largely based on analogous projects. In-place
quantities for which a feasible project cannot be defined using current, or reasonably forecast
improvements in, technology are classified as Unrecoverable.
Not all technically feasible development plans will be commercial. The commercial viability of a
development project is dependent on a forecast of the conditions that will exist during the time period
encompassed by the project’s activities (see Commercial Evaluations, section 3.1). “Conditions”
include technological, economic, legal, environmental, social, and governmental factors. While
economic factors can be summarized as forecast costs and product prices, the underlying influences
include, but are not limited to, market conditions, transportation and processing infrastructure, fiscal
terms, and taxes.
The resource quantities being estimated are those volumes producible from a project as measured
according to delivery specifications at the point of sale or custody transfer (see Reference Point,
section 3.2.1). The cumulative production from the evaluation date forward to cessation of
production is the remaining recoverable quantity. The sum of the associated annual net cash flows
yields the estimated future net revenue. When the cash flows are discounted according to a defined
discount rate and time period, the summation of the discounted cash flows is termed net present value
(NPV) of the project (see Evaluation and Reporting Guidelines, Section 3.0).
The supporting data, analytical processes, and assumptions used in an evaluation should be
documented in sufficient detail to allow an independent evaluator or auditor to clearly understand the
basis for estimation and categorization of recoverable quantities and their classification.
2.0 Classification and Categorization Guidelines
To consistently characterize petroleum projects, evaluations of all resources should be conducted in
the context of the full classification system as shown in Figure 1-1. These guidelines reference this
classification system and support an evaluation in which projects are “classified” based on their
chance of commerciality (the vertical axis) and estimates of recoverable and marketable quantities
associated with each project are “categorized” to reflect uncertainty (the horizontal axis). The actual
workflow of classification vs. categorization varies with individual projects and is often an iterative
analysis process leading to a final report. “Report,” as used herein, refers to the presentation of
evaluation results within the business entity conducting the assessment and should not be construed
as replacing guidelines for public disclosures under guidelines established by regulatory and/or other
government agencies.
Additional background information on resources classification issues can be found in Chapter 2 of
the 2001 SPE/WPC/AAPG publication: “Guidelines for the Evaluation of Petroleum Reserves and
Resources,” hereafter referred to as the “2001 Supplemental Guidelines.”
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2.1 Resources Classification
The basic classification requires establishment of criteria for a petroleum discovery and thereafter the
distinction between commercial and sub-commercial projects in known accumulations (and hence
between Reserves and Contingent Resources).
2.1.1 Determination of Discovery Status
A discovery is one petroleum accumulation, or several petroleum accumulations collectively, for
which one or several exploratory wells have established through testing, sampling, and/or logging the
existence of a significant quantity of potentially moveable hydrocarbons.
In this context, “significant” implies that there is evidence of a sufficient quantity of petroleum to
justify estimating the in-place volume demonstrated by the well(s) and for evaluating the potential for
economic recovery. Estimated recoverable quantities within such a discovered (known)
accumulation(s) shall initially be classified as Contingent Resources pending definition of projects
with sufficient chance of commercial development to reclassify all, or a portion, as Reserves.
Where in-place hydrocarbons are identified but are not considered currently recoverable, such
quantities may be classified as Discovered Unrecoverable, if considered appropriate for resource
management purposes; a portion of these quantities may become recoverable resources in the future
as commercial circumstances change or technological developments occur.
2.1.2 Determination of Commerciality
Discovered recoverable volumes (Contingent Resources) may be considered commercially
producible, and thus Reserves, if the entity claiming commerciality has demonstrated firm intention
to proceed with development and such intention is based upon all of the following criteria:
•
•
•
•
•

Evidence to support a reasonable timetable for development.
A reasonable assessment of the future economics of such development projects meeting
defined investment and operating criteria:
A reasonable expectation that there will be a market for all or at least the expected sales
quantities of production required to justify development.
Evidence that the necessary production and transportation facilities are available or can be
made available:
Evidence that legal, contractual, environmental and other social and economic concerns will
allow for the actual implementation of the recovery project being evaluated.

To be included in the Reserves class, a project must be sufficiently defined to establish its
commercial viability. There must be a reasonable expectation that all required internal and external
approvals will be forthcoming, and there is evidence of firm intention to proceed with development
within a reasonable time frame. A reasonable time frame for the initiation of development depends
on the specific circumstances and varies according to the scope of the project. While 5 years is
recommended as a benchmark, a longer time frame could be applied where, for example,
development of economic projects are deferred at the option of the producer for, among other things,
market-related reasons, or to meet contractual or strategic objectives. In all cases, the justification for
classification as Reserves should be clearly documented.
To be included in the Reserves class, there must be a high confidence in the commercial producibility
of the reservoir as supported by actual production or formation tests. In certain cases, Reserves may
be assigned on the basis of well logs and/or core analysis that indicate that the subject reservoir is
hydrocarbon-bearing and is analogous to reservoirs in the same area that are producing or have
demonstrated the ability to produce on formation tests.
2.1.3 Project Status and Commercial Risk
Evaluators have the option to establish a more detailed resources classification reporting system that
can also provide the basis for portfolio management by subdividing the chance of commerciality axis
according to project maturity. Such sub-classes may be characterized by standard project maturity
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level descriptions (qualitative) and/or by their associated chance of reaching producing status
(quantitative).
As a project moves to a higher level of maturity, there will be an increasing chance that the
accumulation will be commercially developed. For Contingent and Prospective Resources, this can
further be expressed as a quantitative chance estimate that incorporates two key underlying risk
components:
•
•

The chance that the potential accumulation will result in the discovery of petroleum. This is
referred to as the “chance of discovery.”
Once discovered, the chance that the accumulation will be commercially developed is
referred to as the “chance of development.”

Thus, for an undiscovered accumulation, the “chance of commerciality” is the product of these two
risk components. For a discovered accumulation where the “chance of discovery” is 100%, the
“chance of commerciality” becomes equivalent to the “chance of development.”
2.1.3.1 Project Maturity Sub-Classes
As illustrated in Figure 2-1, development projects (and their associated recoverable quantities) may
be sub-classified according to project maturity levels and the associated actions (business decisions)
required to move a project toward commercial production.

Figure 2-1: Sub-classes based on Project Maturity.
Project Maturity terminology and definitions have been modified from the example provided in the
2001 Supplemental Guidelines, Chapter 2. Detailed definitions and guidelines for each Project
Maturity sub-class are provided in Table I. This approach supports managing portfolios of
opportunities at various stages of exploration and development and may be supplemented by
associated quantitative estimates of chance of commerciality. The boundaries between different
levels of project maturity may be referred to as “decision gates.”
Decisions within the Reserves class are based on those actions that progress a project through final
approvals to implementation and initiation of production and product sales. For Contingent
Resources, supporting analysis should focus on gathering data and performing analyses to clarify and
then mitigate those key conditions, or contingencies, that prevent commercial development.
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For Prospective Resources, these potential accumulations are evaluated according to their chance of
discovery and, assuming a discovery, the estimated quantities that would be recoverable under
appropriate development projects. The decision at each phase is to undertake further data acquisition
and/or studies designed to move the project to a level of technical and commercial maturity where a
decision can be made to proceed with exploration drilling.
Evaluators may adopt alternative sub-classes and project maturity modifiers, but the concept of
increasing chance of commerciality should be a key enabler in applying the overall classification
system and supporting portfolio management.
2.1.3.2 Reserves Status
Once projects satisfy commercial risk criteria, the associated quantities are classified as Reserves.
These quantities may be allocated to the following subdivisions based on the funding and operational
status of wells and associated facilities within the reservoir development plan (detailed definitions
and guidelines are provided in Table 2):
•

Developed Reserves are expected quantities to be recovered from existing wells and
facilities.
o
o

•

Developed Producing Reserves are expected to be recovered from completion
intervals that are open and producing at the time of the estimate.
Developed Non-Producing Reserves include shut-in and behind-pipe Reserves.

Undeveloped Reserves are quantities expected to be recovered through future investments.

Where Reserves remain undeveloped beyond a reasonable timeframe, or have remained undeveloped
due to repeated postponements, evaluations should be critically reviewed to document reasons for the
delay in initiating development and justify retaining these quantities within the Reserves class. While
there are specific circumstances where a longer delay (see Determination of Commerciality, section
2.1.2) is justified, a reasonable time frame is generally considered to be less than 5 years.
Development and production status are of significant importance for project management. While
Reserves Status has traditionally only been applied to Proved Reserves, the same concept of
Developed and Undeveloped Status based on the funding and operational status of wells and
producing facilities within the development project are applicable throughout the full range of
Reserves uncertainty categories (Proved, Probable and Possible).
Quantities may be subdivided by Reserves Status independent of sub-classification by Project
Maturity. If applied in combination, Developed and/or Undeveloped Reserves quantities may be
identified separately within each Reserves sub-class (On Production, Approved for Development,
and Justified for Development).
2.1.3.3 Economic Status
Projects may be further characterized by their Economic Status. All projects classified as Reserves
must be economic under defined conditions (see Commercial Evaluations, section 3.1). Based on
assumptions regarding future conditions and their impact on ultimate economic viability, projects
currently classified as Contingent Resources may be broadly divided into two groups:
•

Marginal Contingent Resources are those quantities associated with technically feasible
projects that are either currently economic or projected to be economic under reasonably
forecasted improvements in commercial conditions but are not committed for development
because of one or more contingencies.

•

Sub-Marginal Contingent Resources are those quantities associated with discoveries for
which analysis indicates that technically feasible development projects would not be
economic and/or other contingencies would not be satisfied under current or reasonably
forecasted improvements in commercial conditions. These projects nonetheless should be
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Registered in Scotland No. SC150618. 27 Huntly Street, Inverness, IV3 5PR

112

29

Competent Person’s Report for the Wick Prospect, P 2235
and Hardstoft Field, PEDL299 in the UK

retained in the inventory of discovered resources pending unforeseen major changes in
commercial conditions.
Where evaluations are incomplete such that it is premature to clearly define ultimate chance of
commerciality, it is acceptable to note that project economic status is “undetermined.” Additional
economic status modifiers may be applied to further characterize recoverable quantities; for example,
non-sales (lease fuel, flare, and losses) may be separately identified and documented in addition to
sales quantities for both production and recoverable resource estimates (see also Reference Point,
section 3.2.1). Those discovered in-place volumes for which a feasible development project cannot
be defined using current, or reasonably forecast improvements in, technology are classified as
Unrecoverable.
Economic Status may be identified independently of, or applied in combination with, Project
Maturity sub-classification to more completely describe the project and its associated resources.
2.2 Resources Categorization
The horizontal axis in the Resources Classification (Figure 1.1) defines the range of uncertainty in
estimates of the quantities of recoverable, or potentially recoverable, petroleum associated with a
project. These estimates include both technical and commercial uncertainty components as follows:
•
•
•

The total petroleum remaining within the accumulation (in-place resources).
That portion of the in-place petroleum that can be recovered by applying a defined
development project or projects.
Variations in the commercial conditions that may impact the quantities recovered and sold
(e.g., market availability, contractual changes).

Where commercial uncertainties are such that there is significant risk that the complete project (as
initially defined) will not proceed, it is advised to create a separate project classified as Contingent
Resources with an appropriate chance of commerciality.
2.2.1 Range of Uncertainty
The range of uncertainty of the recoverable and/or potentially recoverable volumes may be
represented by either deterministic scenarios or by a probability distribution (see Deterministic and
Probabilistic Methods, section 4.2).
When the range of uncertainty is represented by a probability distribution, a low, best, and high
estimate shall be provided such that:
•
•
•

There should be at least a 90% probability (P90) that the quantities actually recovered will
equal or exceed the low estimate.
There should be at least a 50% probability (P50) that the quantities actually recovered will
equal or exceed the best estimate.
There should be at least a 10% probability (P10) that the quantities actually recovered will
equal or exceed the high estimate.

When using the deterministic scenario method, typically there should also be low, best, and high
estimates, where such estimates are based on qualitative assessments of relative uncertainty using
consistent interpretation guidelines. Under the deterministic incremental (risk-based) approach,
quantities at each level of uncertainty are estimated discretely and separately (see Category
Definitions and Guidelines, section 2.2.2).
These same approaches to describing uncertainty may be applied to Reserves, Contingent Resources,
and Prospective Resources. While there may be significant risk that sub-commercial and
undiscovered accumulations will not achieve commercial production, it useful to consider the range
of potentially recoverable quantities independently of such a risk or consideration of the resource
class to which the quantities will be assigned.
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2.2.2 Category Definitions and Guidelines
Evaluators may assess recoverable quantities and categorize results by uncertainty using the
deterministic incremental (risk-based) approach, the deterministic scenario (cumulative) approach, or
probabilistic methods. (see “2001 Supplemental Guidelines,” Chapter 2.5). In many cases, a
combination of approaches is used.
Use of consistent terminology (Figure 1.1) promotes clarity in communication of evaluation results.
For Reserves, the general cumulative terms low/best/high estimates are denoted as 1P/2P/3P,
respectively. The associated incremental quantities are termed Proved, Probable and Possible.
Reserves are a subset of, and must be viewed within context of, the complete resources classification
system. While the categorization criteria are proposed specifically for Reserves, in most cases, they
can be equally applied to Contingent and Prospective Resources conditional upon their satisfying the
criteria for discovery and/or development.
For Contingent Resources, the general cumulative terms low/best/high estimates are denoted as
1C/2C/3C respectively. For Prospective Resources, the general cumulative terms low/best/high
estimates still apply. No specific terms are defined for incremental quantities within Contingent and
Prospective Resources.
Without new technical information, there should be no change in the distribution of technically
recoverable volumes and their categorization boundaries when conditions are satisfied sufficiently to
reclassify a project from Contingent Resources to Reserves. All evaluations require application of a
consistent set of forecast conditions, including assumed future costs and prices, for both classification
of projects and categorization of estimated quantities recovered by each project (see Commercial
Evaluations, section 3.1).
Table III presents category definitions and provides guidelines designed to promote consistency in
resource assessments. The following summarizes the definitions for each Reserves category in terms
of both the deterministic incremental approach and scenario approach and also provides the
probability criteria if probabilistic methods are applied.
•

•

•

Proved Reserves are those quantities of petroleum, which, by analysis of geoscience and
engineering data, can be estimated with reasonable certainty to be commercially recoverable,
from a given date forward, from known reservoirs and under defined economic conditions,
operating methods, and government regulations. If deterministic methods are used, the term
reasonable certainty is intended to express a high degree of confidence that the quantities will
be recovered. If probabilistic methods are used, there should be at least a 90% probability
that the quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the estimate.
Probable Reserves are those additional Reserves which analysis of geoscience and
engineering data indicate are less likely to be recovered than Proved Reserves but more
certain to be recovered than Possible Reserves. It is equally likely that actual remaining
quantities recovered will be greater than or less than the sum of the estimated Proved plus
Probable Reserves (2P). In this context, when probabilistic methods are used, there should be
at least a 50% probability that the actual quantities recovered will equal or exceed the 2P
estimate.
Possible Reserves are those additional reserves which analysis of geoscience and engineering
data suggest are less likely to be recoverable than Probable Reserves. The total quantities
ultimately recovered from the project have a low probability to exceed the sum of Proved
plus Probable plus Possible (3P) Reserves, which is equivalent to the high estimate scenario.
In this context, when probabilistic methods are used, there should be at least a 10%
probability that the actual quantities recovered will equal or exceed the 3P estimate.

Based on additional data and updated interpretations that indicate increased certainty, portions of
Possible and Probable Reserves may be re-categorized as Probable and Proved Reserves.
Uncertainty in resource estimates is best communicated by reporting a range of potential results.
However, if it is required to report a single representative result, the “best estimate” is considered the
Blackwatch Petroleum Services Limited
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most realistic assessment of recoverable quantities. It is generally considered to represent the sum of
Proved and Probable estimates (2P) when using the deterministic scenario or the probabilistic
assessment methods. It should be noted that under the deterministic incremental (risk-based)
approach, discrete estimates are made for each category, and they should not be aggregated without
due consideration of their associated risk (see “2001 Supplemental Guidelines,” Chapter 2.5).
2.3 Incremental Projects
The initial resource assessment is based on application of a defined initial development project.
Incremental projects are designed to increase recovery efficiency and/or to accelerate production
through making changes to wells or facilities, infill drilling, or improved recovery. Such projects
should be classified according to the same criteria as initial projects. Related incremental quantities
are similarly categorized on certainty of recovery. The projected increased recovery can be included
in estimated Reserves if the degree of commitment is such that the project will be developed and
placed on production within a reasonable timeframe.
Circumstances where development will be significantly delayed should be clearly documented. If
there is significant project risk, forecast incremental recoveries may be similarly categorized but
should be classified as Contingent Resources (see Determination of Commerciality, section 2.1.2).
2.3.1 Workovers, Treatments, and Changes of Equipment
Incremental recovery associated with future workover, treatment (including hydraulic fracturing), retreatment, changes of equipment, or other mechanical procedures where such projects have routinely
been successful in analogous reservoirs may be classified as Developed or Undeveloped Reserves
depending on the magnitude of associated costs required (see Reserves Status, section 2.1.3.2).
2.3.2 Compression
Reduction in the backpressure through compression can increase the portion of in-place gas that can
be commercially produced and thus included in Reserves estimates. If the eventual installation of
compression was planned and approved as part of the original development plan, incremental
recovery is included in Undeveloped Reserves. However, if the cost to implement compression is not
significant (relative to the cost of a new well), the incremental quantities may be classified as
Developed Reserves. If compression facilities were not part of the original approved development
plan and such costs are significant, it should be treated as a separate project subject to normal project
maturity criteria.
2.3.3 Infill Drilling
Technical and commercial analyses may support drilling additional producing wells to reduce the
spacing beyond that utilized within the initial development plan, subject to government regulations
(if such approvals are required). Infill drilling may have the combined effect of increasing recovery
efficiency and accelerating production. Only the incremental recovery can be considered as
additional Reserves; this additional recovery may need to be reallocated to individual wells with
different interest ownerships.
2.3.4 Improved Recovery
Improved recovery is the additional petroleum obtained, beyond primary recovery, from naturally
occurring reservoirs by supplementing the natural reservoir performance. It includes waterflooding,
secondary or tertiary recovery processes, and any other means of supplementing natural reservoir
recovery processes.
Improved recovery projects must meet the same Reserves commerciality criteria as primary recovery
projects. There should be an expectation that the project will be economic and that the entity has
committed to implement the project in a reasonable time frame (generally within 5 years; further
delays should be clearly justified).
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The judgment on commerciality is based on pilot testing within the subject reservoir or by
comparison to a reservoir with analogous rock and fluid properties and where a similar established
improved recovery project has been successfully applied.
Incremental recoveries through improved recovery methods that have yet to be established through
routine, commercially successful applications are included as Reserves only after a favorable
production response from the subject reservoir from either (a) a representative pilot or (b) an installed
program, where the response provides support for the analysis on which the project is based.
These incremental recoveries in commercial projects are categorized into Proved, Probable, and
Possible Reserves based on certainty derived from engineering analysis and analogous applications in
similar reservoirs.
2.4 Unconventional Resources
Two types of petroleum resources have been defined that may require different approaches for their
evaluations:
•

•

Conventional resources exist in discrete petroleum accumulations related to a localized
geological structural feature and/or stratigraphic condition, typically with each accumulation
bounded by a downdip contact with an aquifer, and which is significantly affected by
hydrodynamic influences such as buoyancy of petroleum in water. The petroleum is
recovered through wellbores and typically requires minimal processing prior to sale.
Unconventional resources exist in petroleum accumulations that are pervasive throughout a
large area and that are not significantly affected by hydrodynamic influences (also called
“continuous-type deposits”). Examples include coalbed methane (CBM), basin-centered gas,
shale gas, gas hydrates, natural bitumen, and oil shale deposits. Typically, such
accumulations require specialized extraction technology (e.g., dewatering of CBM, massive
fracturing programs for shale gas, steam and/or solvents to mobilize bitumen for in-situ
recovery, and, in some cases, mining activities). Moreover, the extracted petroleum may
require significant processing prior to sale (e.g., bitumen upgraders).

For these petroleum accumulations that are not significantly affected by hydrodynamic influences,
reliance on continuous water contacts and pressure gradient analysis to interpret the extent of
recoverable petroleum may not be possible. Thus, there typically is a need for increased sampling
density to define uncertainty of in-place volumes, variations in quality of reservoir and hydrocarbons,
and their detailed spatial distribution to support detailed design of specialized mining or in-situ
extraction programs.
It is intended that the resources definitions, together with the classification system, will be
appropriate for all types of petroleum accumulations regardless of their in-place characteristics,
extraction method applied, or degree of processing required.
Similar to improved recovery projects applied to conventional reservoirs, successful pilots or
operating projects in the subject reservoir or successful projects in analogous reservoirs may be
required to establish a distribution of recovery efficiencies for non-conventional accumulations. Such
pilot projects may evaluate both extraction efficiency and the efficiency of unconventional
processing facilities to derive sales products prior to custody transfer.
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Appendix 2
Nomenclature
Term
2D
3D
API
bbls
BSCF or
BCF
bopd
Bpd
bwpd
CoS
EMV
EPF
FVF
GOC
GOR
GRV
km2
M
M
MD
mD
Mean
MM
Net sand
N/G
NGL
NPV
ODT
OWC
P10
P50
P90
Phi or ݊
ppm
PRMS
PSA
PSC
Rb
Rcf

Meaning
Two dimensional, referring to seismic data
Three dimensional, referring to seismic data
American Petroleum Institute
Barrels, a standard oilfield unit referring to volume of fluid (oil or water);
1 barrel equals 5.61 ft3, or 42 US gallons
Billion cubic feet, referring to gas volumes at standard temperature and
pressure conditions such as 14.696 psi and 60°F
Barrels of oil per day
Barrels per day
Barrels of water per day
Chance of success
Expected monetary value
Early Production Facility
Formation volume factor, the ratio between volume at reservoir conditions
of pressure and temperature and the volume at standard (surface)
conditions
Gas-oil contact
Gas oil ratio
Gross Rock Volume
Square kilometres, referring to area
Metre
Thousand
Measured depth, referring to the depth along the wellbore and usually tied
to a datum elevation of the kelly bushing of the drilling rig used to drill the
well
Permeability in millidarcies
The arithmetic average of a set of values, the expected value
Million
The thickness of sand in an interval that is deemed to be of sufficient
properties (porosity, permeability, shaliness, water saturation) to
contribute to reserves and production
Net to gross, the ratio between the gross thickness of an interval and the
net pay or sand thickness
Natural gas liquids
Net present value
Oil down to
Oil-water contact
A value that has a 10% chance of being equalled or exceeded (high value)
A value that has a 50% chance of being equalled or exceeded
A value that has a 90% chance of being equalled or exceeded (low value)
Porosity
Parts per million
Petroleum Resources Management System
Production sharing agreement
Production sharing contract
Barrels at reservoir conditions
Cubic feet at reservoir conditions
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Risk Factor
RF
SCF or scf
So
Ss
Stbo
STOIIP
Sw
TSCF or
TCF
TD
TOC
TVDSS /
tvdss
US$

Chance of success, referring to the probability of success
Recovery factor
Standard cubic feet, referring to gas at standard conditions such as 14.696
psi and 60°F such as 14.696 psi and 60°F
Oil saturation
Sub-sea, referring to depths measured below a sea level datum
Stock tank barrels of oil
Stock tank oil initially in place
Water saturation
Trillions of cubic feet, referring to gas volumes at standard conditions such
as 14.696 psi and 60°F such as 14.696 psi and 60°F
Total depth of a well
Total organic carbon, an indicator of source rock quality
True vertical depth subsea
US dollars
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Appendix 3
Principal terms of PEDL 299 and P2235
Upland UK holds a 25% interest in a UK onshore Petroleum Exploration and Production Licence
("PEDL") denoted PEDL 299 covering one onshore block (SK46c) in the East Midlands and has
entered into a conditional agreement with Corallian Energy Limited (subject, inter alia, to the
approval of the Secretary of State) to acquire a 40% interest.in Seaward Production Licence P2235,
offshore north-east Scotland.
The terms of PEDL 299 include the 'model clauses' most recently updated in Schedule 2 to The
Petroleum Licensing (Exploration and Production) (Landward Areas) Regulations 2014 (which came
into force on 17 July 2014) (the "2014 Regulations"). The principal terms of the PEDL are as set out
below.
PEDL 299 is for an initial term of 5 years under the 2014 Regulations from the 'start date' set out in
the PEDL (the "Initial Term"). PEDL confer on the licensees the exclusive rights to "search and
bore for, and get, Petroleum" in the area covered by the PEDL, where 'Petroleum' as defined in the
Petroleum Act 1998 equates to naturally occurring, fluid hydrocarbons. These rights include the
ability to conduct seismic surveys and to drill wells, following the necessary submissions and receipt
of full approvals from the Minister and other relevant entities. There are two exceptions to these
exclusive rights - firstly, to undertake methane drainage from coal mines, typically undertaken to
render them safe. This is covered by the award of separate Methane Drainage Licences. Secondly,
the generation of methane by the process of underground coal gasification ("UCG"), for which no
licence is required from the OGA. Neither activities are contemplated by Upland UK and its coapplicants.
During the Initial Term and subsequent terms of the PEDL, the licensees commit to:• undertake the minimum work programme;
• at all times adhere to the environmental regulations in force;
• adhere to good oilfield practice;
• avoid harmful methods of working;
• pay the annual acreage fees – commencing at £25/km2/year for the Initial Term and
escalating annually thereafter in the case of PEDL 299;
• appoint an 'operator';
• comply with Ministerial directions on training;
• cooperate with the Ministry in matters of joint development of reserves with adjacent
licensees;
• keep records of drilling operations and produce maps and plans and deliver copies of these to
the Minister if requested;
• produce and deliver to the Minister annual records of activity;
• keep full accounts of the amounts of oil and gas produced, to whom sold and at what price;
and
• only assign an interest in the licence having first gained written consent from the Minister.
At any time not later than 1 month before the expiry of the Initial Term, the licensees may, having
complied with the above requirements, extend the PEDL for a second term of 5 years (the "Second
Term"). Prior to extension to the Second Term, the licensees are required to relinquish at least 50%
of the surface area of the PEDL of their choosing, but not if the remaining area would be less than 25
km2 in extent.
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Extensions to the Initial Term or Second Term may be granted by the Minister if applied for up to 1
month before the expiry of the relevant Term.
PEDL 299 dated 15th September 2016 started its Initial Term on 21st July 2016.
At any time prior to 3 months before the end of the Second Term, the licensees may submit a
development programme (including definition of the works to be undertaken and the area(s) to which
they apply) to the Minister in support of an application for a continuance of the PEDL past the
Second Term, typically when the licensees have made a commercial hydrocarbon discovery and wish
to exploit it. This continuance is typically for 20 years but this may also be extended.
Subject to the licensees' continuing commitments under the PEDL, they may at any time give the
Minister 1 month’s notice to determine the PEDL or surrender a part of the licensed area.
UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 dated 16 April 2015 (with a start date of 1 December 2014)
was originally entered into by The Secretary of State for Energy and Climate Change with Fyrd Energy
Limited in respect of UKCS Block 11/24b, but was assigned to Corallian Energy on (and with effect
from) 20 October 2016. The Licence incorporates the 'Model Clauses' for such a licence set out in
Schedule 1 to The Petroleum Licensing (Production) (Seaward Areas) Regulations 2008 and is for an
'Initial Term' of 4 years beginning with 1 December 2014, a 'Second Term' of 4 years following expiry of
the Initial Term and a 'Third Term' of 18 years following expiry of the Second Term.
The commitments entered into, the rights granted by the Seaward Production Licence, and the exceptions
thereto, are essentially the same as those granted under a PEDL. Similarly to PEDL 299, methane
drainage and UCG are not contemplated in P2235.
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PART XVII
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
1

RESPONSIBILITY

1.1 The Directors, whose names appear on page 34, and the Company accept responsibility for the
information contained in this document. To the best of the knowledge of the Directors and the Company
(who have each taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained
in this document is in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect its import.

Annex I
1.1 & 1.2

1.2 WK Corporate Finance LLP accepts responsibility for its accountants report set out Part XI of this
document. To the best of the knowledge of WK Corporate Finance LLP (which has taken all reasonable
care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in such accountants report is in
accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect its import.

Annex I
1.1 & 1.2

1.3 Blackwatch accepts responsibility for its competent persons report set out Part XVI of this document.
To the best of the knowledge of Blackwatch (which has taken all reasonable care to ensure that such
is the case), the information contained in each of such competent persons report is in accordance
with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect its import.

Annex I
1.1 & 1.2

2
THE COMPANY
2.1 The Company was incorporated on 14 March 2012 under the BVI Companies Act and with the name
‘Ribes Resources Limited’. On 3 September 2013, the Company changed its name to ‘Upland
Resources Limited’.

Annex III
1.1 & 1.2

Annex III
1.1 & 1.2

Annex III
1.1 & 1.2

LR 2.2.2(2)
Annex I
5.1.3, 5.1.2

2.2 The Company is not regulated by the FCA or any financial services or other regulator. With effect from
the date of the Original Listing, the Company has been subject to the Listing Rules and the Disclosure
Guidance and Transparency Rules (and the resulting jurisdiction of the UK Listing Authority), to the
extent such rules apply to companies with a Standard Listing pursuant to Chapter 14 of the Listing
Rules and, since 3 July 2016, has also been subject to MAR.
2.3 The principal legislation under which the Company operates, and pursuant to which the Ordinary
Shares have been created, is the BVI Companies Act.

Annex III
4.2

2.4 The Company’s registered office is at Ritter House, Wickhams Cay II, Road Town, Tortola VG1110,
British Virgin Islands. The Company’s managing office is at Unit 4, The Green Man, 10 St John Street,
Ashbourne, Derbyshire DE6 1GH. The Company’s telephone number is 01335 300337.

Annex I
5.1.4

2.5 On 12 October 2015, the Company adopted by a Special Resolution of Members the Memorandum
and Articles in substitution for and to the exclusion of the Company’s then existing memorandum of
association and articles of association, which were filed at the Registry of Corporate Affairs in the BVI
on 13 October 2015.

Annex III
4.6

2.6 As at 15 June 2018, being the latest practicable date prior to publication of this document, the
Company had the following wholly-owned subsidiaries:-

Annex I
7.1, 7.2

Name
Upland Resources
(UK Onshore) Limited
Upland (N Tunisia) Limited
Upland (S Tunisia) Limited
Upland (El Fahs) Limited
Upland (Ksar Hadada)
Limited

Date & Place of
Incorporation
13 January 2014 –
England & Wales
15 July 2014 –
England & Wales
17 July 2014 –
England & Wales
15 July 2014 –
England & Wales
17 July 2014 –
England & Wales
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Registered no.

Principal Activities

08843282

Oil and gas

09131907

Non-trading

09136031

Non-trading

09131981
09136208

Non-trading
Non-trading

3
SHARES
3.1 The Company’s issued share capital history during the period commencing on 1 July 2014 and ending
on 31 December 2017 (the last date in the period covered by the historical financial information on the
Company set out in Part X of this document) and since 31 December 2017 is as follows:(a)

On 26 October 2015, 130,000,000 Ordinary Shares were issued at 1p per share pursuant to the
placing carried out in connection with the Original Listing.

(b)

On 11 November 2016, 500,000 Ordinary Shares were issued to Highland Geology (in Depositary
Interest form) as a bonus payment in connection with the consultancy services provided by
Highland Geology to the Company and as a result of the execution by Upland UK of PEDL 299.

(c)

On 1 December 2016, 169,230,770 Ordinary Shares were issued at 1.3p per share pursuant to
the 2016 Placing.

(d)

On 21 February 2018, 74,074,074 Ordinary Shares were issued at 1.35p per share payable in
cash to Tune Assets Limited.

(e)

On 20 March 2018, 1,769,355 Ordinary Shares were issued at an effective price of 2.261p per
share to the ‘Facility Providers’ (Tune Assets Limited, Norza Zakaria and clients of Optiva
Securities) in satisfaction of commission of £40,005 (of an aggregate £105,000 commission) due
to them for their commitments to subscribe for an aggregate £3,500,000 of Convertible Loan
Notes (all as described in paragraph 12.3 below of this Part XVII).

Annex I
21.1.1, 21.1.7
LR 2.2.4(2)

3.2 The following table shows the issued shares of the Company at the date of this document:Class of Share

Number

Amount paid
(gross of share issue costs)

Ordinary

459,012,060

£4,791,836

3.3 Assuming that the Placing is fully subscribed, the issued shares of the Company immediately following
completion of the Placing and Admission is expected to be as shown in the following table:Class of Share

Number

Amount paid
(gross of share issue costs)

Ordinary

579,012,060

£7,791,836

3.4 Pursuant to a Special Resolution of shareholders of the Company passed at the Annual General
Meeting of the Company held on 14 December 2017, the Directors were authorised:(a)

to allot and issue new Ordinary Shares for an ‘Acquisition’ (as defined in the Prospectus issued
by the Company dated 28 November 2016) (including in respect of consideration payable for
any ‘Acquisition’) or in connection with the restructuring of any debt or other financial obligation
relating to any ‘Acquisition’ (whether assumed or entered into by the Company or owed or
guaranteed by any company or entity acquired);

(b)

to allot and to issue new ‘Equity Securities’ (as defined for the purposes of the Articles) for cash:(i)

for rights/pre-emptive issues to existing shareholders pro rata to existing shareholdings etc.,
but which may not comply in all respects with the requirements of the Articles regarding
pre-emptive offers to existing shareholders, up to an aggregate number equal to 200 per
cent. of the aggregate number of Equity Securities in issue on the date of passing of the
resolution (383,168,631 Ordinary Shares);

(ii)

for other purposes, up to an aggregate number equal to 200 per cent. of the aggregate number
of Equity Securities in issue on the date of passing of the resolution (383,168,631 Ordinary
Shares);

on the basis that Regulation 3 of the Articles was waived in respect of all and any such allotments
and issues of Equity Securities.
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The authorities contained in such resolution continue until the earlier of the fifth anniversary of the
passing of the resolution or the 2022 Annual General Meeting of the Company, subject as provided in
such resolution.
3.5 The Company has granted rights to subscribe for new Ordinary Shares in the Company:(a)

to Stephen Staley in the form of options to subscribe for a maximum of 9,000,000 Ordinary
Shares under the Share Option Scheme, as referred to in paragraph 7.2 of this Part XVII of this
document; and

(b)

to Optiva Securities in the form of warrants to subscribe for Ordinary Shares pursuant to the
warrant agreements referred to in paragraphs 12.2, 12.10 and 12.12 of this Part XVII of this
document.

Annex 1
21.1.6

3.6 The Company may elect:(a)

to satisfy all or any amount of any further commitment fee(s) payable to the ‘Facility Providers’
(Tune Assets Limited, Norza Zakaria and clients of Optiva Securities) in the form of new Ordinary
Shares, as referred to in paragraph 12.3 of this Part XVII of this document;

(b)

if the Company issues any Convertible Loan Notes, to convert all or any of such Convertible Loan
Notes into new Ordinary Shares, as referred to in paragraph 12.4 of this Part XVII of this
document.

Annex 1
21.1.6

3.7 Save as disclosed in this document:(a)

in the period covered by the historical financial information on the Company set out in Part X of this
document and since 31 December 2017, no share or loan capital of the Company has been issued
or (save for the 120,000,000 Placing Shares or the Conversion Shares) is proposed to be issued;

(b)

no person has any preferential subscription rights for any shares of the Company;

(c)

no share or loan capital of the Company is under option or agreed conditionally or unconditionally
to be put under option; or

(d)

no commissions, discounts, brokerages or other special terms have been granted by the
Company since its incorporation in connection with the issue or sale of any share or loan capital
of the Company.

3.8 All Ordinary Shares in the Company are in registered form.

Annex 1
21.1.6

Annex III
4.3

3.9 All of the Ordinary Shares comprised in the Existing Share Capital are at the date of this document
have been admitted to a Standard Listing on the Official List and to trading on the LSE’s Main Market,
but are not listed or traded on any other stock exchange or securities market and no application
therefor has been or is being made.
3.10 Applications will be made to the UKLA for the Placing Shares to be admitted to a Standard Listing on
the Official List and to the London Stock Exchange for the Placing Shares to be admitted to trading
on the LSE’s Main Market. It is expected that Admission will become effective and that dealings in the
Placing Shares will commence on the London Stock Exchange at 8.00 a.m. on 21 June 2018.
3.11 Applications will be made to the UKLA for any Conversion Shares (issued on conversion by the
Company of any Convertible Loan Notes that may be issued) to be admitted to a Standard Listing on
the Official List and to the London Stock Exchange for any such Conversion Shares to be admitted to
trading on the LSE’s Main Market.

4
MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION OF THE COMPANY
A summary of the terms of the Memorandum and Articles is set out below. The summary below is not a
complete copy of the terms of the Memorandum and Articles.
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4.1 Memorandum of Association
The memorandum of association of the Company provides that the Company has, subject to the BVI
Companies Act and any other British Virgin Islands legislation from time to time in force, irrespective of
corporate benefit, full capacity to carry on or undertake any business or activity, do any act or enter into
any transaction and full rights, powers and privileges for these purposes. For the purposes of Section 9(4)
of the BVI Companies Act, there are no limitations on the business that the Company may carry on.

Annex I
21.2.1

4.2 Articles
New Memorandum and Articles of the Company were adopted by Special Resolution of Members on
12 October 2015 and filed at the Registry of Corporate Affairs in the BVI on 13 October 2015. The
Articles contain, inter alia, provisions to the following effect:(a)

Variation of rights
The rights attached to any class of shares may only, whether or not the Company is being wound
up, be varied by a Special Resolution of the Members.
The rights conferred upon the holders of any shares or of any class issued with preferred, deferred
or other rights shall not (unless otherwise expressly provided by the terms of issue) be deemed
to be varied by the creation of or issue of further shares ranking pari passu therewith. There are
no express provisions under the BVI Companies Act relating to variation of rights of shareholders.

(b)

Depositary Interests and uncertificated shares
The Directors shall, subject always to any applicable laws and regulations and the facilities and
requirements of any relevant system concerned and the Articles, have power to implement and/or
approve any arrangement they may think fit in relation to the evidencing of title to and transfer of
interest in shares in the capital of the Company in the form of depositary interest or similar
interests, instruments or securities. The Board may permit shares (or interests in shares) to be
held in uncertificated form and to be transferred by means of a relevant system of holding and
transferring shares (or interests in shares) in uncertificated form in such manner as they may
determine from time to time.

(c)

Pre-emption rights
(i)
Section 46 of the BVI Companies Act (statutory pre-emptive rights) has been disapplied in
the Articles of the Company.

(d)

(ii)

Unless otherwise agreed by a Special Resolution of the Members or specifically provided
otherwise in the Articles, the Company shall not issue any ‘Equity Securities’ (as defined in
section 560(1) of the UK Companies Act 2006) to any person unless it has made a written offer
in accordance with the Articles to all Members on the date of the offer on the same terms and
at the same price as those Equity Securities are proposed to be offered to other persons.

(iii)

The above pre-emption rights shall not apply in relation to the issue of bonus shares, Equity
Securities in the Company if they are, or are to be, wholly or partly paid up otherwise than
in cash, and share options granted pursuant to any option scheme adopted by the
Company from time to time over Equity Securities equivalent to up to a maximum of 10 per
cent. of the issued shares in the Company.

Shareholder meetings
Not more than 15 months shall elapse between the date of one annual general meeting and the
date of the next.
Any Director may convene an annual general meeting or other meeting of members at such times
and in such manner and places within or outside the British Virgin Islands as the Directors
consider necessary or desirable. The Directors shall convene a meeting of members upon the
written request of members entitled to exercise ten (10) per cent. or more of the voting rights in
respect of the matter for which the meeting is requested.
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The Directors convening: (i) an Annual General Meeting shall give at least 21 clear days’ written
notice (ii) all other General Meetings shall give at least 14 clear days written notice, of the relevant
meeting to those members who are entitled to vote at the meeting and whose names appear in
the share register on the date notice is given.
A meeting of members may be called by shorter notice if members holding at least
90 (ninety) per cent. of the total voting rights on all the matters to be considered at the meeting
have waived notice of the meeting. The inadvertent failure to give notice of a meeting to, or the
non-receipt of notice of a meeting by, any person entitled to receive such notice shall not invalidate
the proceedings at the meeting.
(e)

Votes of Members
Holders of Ordinary Shares will have the right to receive notice of and to attend and vote at any
meetings of members. Each holder of Ordinary Shares being present in person or by proxy at a
meeting will, upon a show of hands or on a poll, have one vote for each Ordinary Share held by him.
In the case of joint holders of a share, if two or more persons hold shares jointly each of them
may be present in person or by proxy at a meeting of members and may speak as a member,
and if one or more joint holders are present at a meeting of members, in person or by proxy, they
must vote as one.

(f)

(g)

Share rights
Each Ordinary Share confers upon the holder (in accordance with the Memorandum):(i)

the right to one vote at a meeting of the Members of the Company or on any Resolution of
the Members;

(ii)

the right to an equal share in any dividend paid by the Company; and

(iii)

the right to an equal share in the distribution of the surplus assets of the Company on its
liquidation.

Notice requiring disclosure of interest in shares
The Company may, by notice in writing, require a person whom the Company knows to be, or
has reasonable cause to believe is, interested in any shares or at any time during the three years
immediately preceding the date on which the notice is issued to have been interested in any
shares, to confirm that fact or (as the case may be) to indicate whether or not this is the case
and to give such further information as may be required in accordance with the Articles. Such
information may include, without limitation: particulars of the person’s own past or present interest
in any shares; the identity of any other person who has a present interest in the shares held by
him; where the interest is a present interest and any other interest, in any shares, subsisted during
that three year period at any time when his own interest subsisted to give (so far as is within his
knowledge) such particulars with respect to that other interest as may be required by the notice;
and where a person’s interest is a past interest, (so far as is within his knowledge) like particulars
for the person who held that interest immediately upon his ceasing to hold it.
If any member is in default in supplying to the Company the information required by the Company
within the notice period prescribed in the notice, the Directors in their absolute discretion may
issue a notice of disenfranchisement which shall take effect in the manner set out in the Articles.

(h)

Untraced shareholders
The Company may sell the shares of a Shareholder or the shares to which a person is entitled by
virtue of transmission on death or bankruptcy or otherwise by operation of law at the best price
reasonably obtainable at the time of sale, if (and provided during the previous period of 12 years):(i)

no communication has been received by the Company from the Shareholder or the person
entitled by transmission;
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(i)

(ii)

no cheque or warrant sent by the Company to the above mentioned persons have been
cashed or other directed payment system has worked;

(iii)

at least three dividends in respect of the shares in question have become payable and no
dividend in respect of those shares has been claimed.

Transfer of shares
Subject to the BVI Companies Act and the terms of the Articles, any member may transfer all or
any of his certificated shares by an instrument of transfer signed by the transferor and containing
the name and address of the transferee.
Subject to the BVI Companies Act and the Articles, a transfer of shares in uncertificated form
may be effected by means of a relevant system and the operator of the relevant system shall act
as agent for the Shareholders for the purposes of the transfer of shares.
The Directors may, in their absolute discretion, refuse to register the transfer of a share in
certificated form (not being a fully paid share) provided that the exercise of such power does not
prevent dealings in partly paid shares or disturb the market in the shares.
The Directors may refuse to register the transfer of a share in uncertificated form (or interest in
such share) in any circumstances where refusal is permitted by the rules and practices of the
operator of the relevant system, provided that the exercise of such power does not disturb the
market in the shares.

(j)

Redemption of shares
The Company may, subject to the provisions of the BVI Companies Act (including satisfaction of
the solvency test pursuant to Section 56 of the BVI Companies Act), purchase, redeem or
otherwise acquire its own shares (with the consent of the member whose shares are to be
purchased, redeemed or otherwise acquired) and may hold such shares as treasury shares.
Sections 60, 61 and 62 of the BVI Companies Act (statutory procedure for a company purchasing,
redeeming or acquiring its own shares), which may be disapplied by a company’s memorandum
or articles of association, shall not apply to the Company.

(k)

Interests of Directors and Voting
A Director shall forthwith after becoming aware of the fact that he is interested in a transaction
entered into or to be entered into by the Company, disclose the interest to the other Directors,
except if the relevant transaction is between the Director and the Company and is or is to be
entered into in the ordinary course of business and on an arm’s length basis.
Disclosure to all other Directors to the effect that a Director is a member, director or officer of
another named entity or has a fiduciary relationship with respect to the entity or a named individual
and is to be regarded as interested in any transaction which may, after the date of the entry or
disclosure, be entered into with that entity or individual, is a sufficient disclosure of interest in
relation to that transaction.
Except as provided in the Articles, a Director may not vote at a meeting of the Board or of a
committee of the Board on any resolution concerning a matter:(i)

in which he has (either alone or together with any person connected with him, as provided
in section 252 of the UK Companies Act 2006) a material interest, other than an interest in
shares or debentures or other securities of or in the Company; and

(ii)

(subject to Regulation 15 of the Articles (which imports Chapters 22 and 3 of part 10 of the
UK Companies Act 2006)) which conflicts or may conflict with the interests of the Company.

A Director is not counted in the quorum at a meeting in relation to any resolution on which he is
debarred from voting.
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Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions and Regulation 15 of the Articles, a Director is entitled
to vote and be counted in the quorum in respect of any resolution concerning any of the following
matters:-

(l)

(a)

the giving of any security, guarantee or indemnity to him in respect of money lent or
obligations incurred by him or by any other person at the request of or for the benefit of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(b)

the giving of any security, guarantee or indemnity to a third party in respect of a debt or
obligation of the Company or any of its subsidiaries for which he himself has assumed
responsibility in whole or in part under a guarantee or indemnity or by the giving of security;

(c)

any proposal concerning an offer of shares or debentures or other securities of or by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries for subscription or purchase in which offer he is or is to
be interested as a participant as the holder of such shares, debentures or other securities
or in its underwriting or sub-underwriting;

(d)

any contract, arrangement, transaction or other proposal concerning any other company
in which he holds an interest not representing one per cent. or more of any class of the
equity share capital (calculated exclusive of any shares of that class held as treasury shares)
of such company, or of any third company through which his interest is derived, or of the
voting rights available to members of the relevant company, any such interest being deemed
for the purpose of this regulation to be a material interest in all circumstances;

(e)

any contract, arrangement, transaction or other proposal concerning the adoption,
modification or operation of a superannuation fund or retirement, death or disability benefits
scheme under which he may benefit and which has been approved by or is subject to and
conditional upon approval by HM Revenue & Customs in the United Kingdom;

(f)

any contract, arrangement, transaction or proposal concerning the adoption, modification
or operation of any scheme for enabling employees including full time executive Directors
of the Company and/or any subsidiary to acquire shares of the Company or any
arrangement for the benefit of employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, which
does not award him any privilege or benefit not awarded to the employees to whom such
scheme relates; or

(g)

any contract, arrangement, transaction or proposal concerning insurance which the
Company proposes to maintain or purchase for the benefit of Directors or for the benefit of
persons including Directors.

Remuneration and Appointment of Directors
(i)
The Directors may by Resolution of Directors fix the emoluments of Directors with respect
to services to be rendered in any capacity to the Company.
(ii)

The minimum number of Directors shall be two and there shall be no maximum number of
Directors.

(iii)

Without prejudice to the power of a General Meeting to appoint any person as a director,
the Directors shall have power at any time, and from time to time to appoint any person to
be a Director, either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director, but so that the total
number of Directors shall not exceed any maximum number fixed by or in accordance with
the Articles. Any Director so appointed shall only hold office until the vacancy is filled by the
earlier of a General Meeting or an Annual General Meeting.
Such a Director shall be eligible for re-election at that General Meeting but shall not be taken
into account in determining the Directors or the number of Directors who are to retire by
rotation at such General Meeting.

(iv)

There is no maximum limit on the age of a Director.
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(m) Retirement, Disqualification and Removal of Directors
(i)
A Director is not required to hold a share as a qualification to office.
(ii)

The office of a Director shall be vacated in any of the events following, namely:(a)

if (not being an Executive Director whose contract precludes resignation) the Director
resigns his office by notice in writing delivered to the registered office or tendered at a
meeting of the Board; or

(b)

if the Board resolves that he is through physical or mental incapacity or mental disorder
no longer able to perform the functions of a Director; or

(c)

if he fails, without leave, to attend (whether or not an alternate director appointed by
him attends) three successive Board meetings or four Board meetings in any
consecutive period of 12 months despite a notice being given to him prior to such
third or fourth meeting (as the case may be) that the provisions of this paragraph might
apply and not less than two-thirds of all the other Directors (excluding the Director
concerned and, in his capacity as such, any alternate director appointed by the
Director concerned) resolving that his office should be vacated; or

(d)

if he becomes bankrupt or insolvent or makes an arrangement or composition with
his creditors or applies to the court for an interim order under section 253 of the United
Kingdom Insolvency Act 1986 in connection with a voluntary arrangement; or

(e)

any event analogous to those listed in Regulation 9.16(d) under the laws of any other
jurisdiction occurs in relation to a Director; or

(f)

if he is prohibited by law from being a Director; or

(g)

if he ceases to be a Director by virtue of the Act or is removed from office pursuant to
these Articles.

In the case of clauses (b) to (g) above, the Director shall be removed from office.
A Resolution of Directors declaring that a Director has vacated office under foregoing
regulation shall be conclusive as to that fact and as to the ground of vacation as stated in
the resolution.
(iii)

(n)

Proceedings of Directors
(i)
Subject to the provisions of the Articles, the Directors may regulate their proceedings as
they think fit. A Director may call a meeting of the Directors. Questions arising at a meeting
shall be decided by a majority of votes.
(ii)

(o)

At every Annual General Meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being
(or if their number is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to and not exceeding onethird) shall retire from office and shall be eligible for re-election. In addition, any Director who
has been appointed to the Board other than pursuant to a Resolution of Members since the
last Annual General Meeting of the Company shall retire and shall be eligible for re-election.
The Directors to retire in accordance with the first sentence above shall be those subject to
retirement by rotation who have been longest in office since their last election, but as between
persons who became or were re-elected Directors on the same day, those to retire shall (unless
they otherwise agree amongst themselves) be determined by lot.

The quorum for the transaction of the business of the Directors shall be at least two Directors.

Alternate Directors
Any Director (other than an alternate director) may appoint any other Director or any other person to
be an alternate director to attend and vote in his place at any meeting of the Directors or to undertake
and perform such duties and functions and to exercise such rights as he would personally.
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(p)

Distributions
The Directors may, by sanction of a Resolution of Members, authorise a distribution if they are
satisfied, on reasonable grounds, that, immediately after the distribution, the value of the Company’s
assets will exceed its liabilities and the Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due.

(q)

Disposition of assets
Section 175 of the BVI Companies Act (any disposition of more than fifty per cent. in value of the
assets of a company (other than a transfer of assets in trust to one or more trustees pursuant to
Section 28(3) of the BVI Companies Act) if not made in the usual or regular course of the business
carried out by the company, requiring approval by a Resolution of Members) does not apply to
the Company.

(r)

Continuation
The Company may by Resolution of Directors or Resolution of Members continue as a company
incorporated under the laws of a jurisdiction outside the British Virgin Islands in the manner
provided under those laws.

(s)

Indemnification and Insurance
The Company may indemnify against all expenses, including legal fees, and against all judgments,
fines and amounts paid in settlement and reasonably incurred in connection with legal,
administrative or investigative proceedings, any person who is or was a party or is threatened to
be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed proceedings, whether civil, criminal,
administrative or investigative, by reason of the fact that the person is or was a Director or is or
was, at the request of the Company, serving as a director of, or in any other capacity is or was
acting for, another company or a partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise. This indemnity
only applies if the person acted honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the
Company and, in the case of criminal proceedings, the person had no reasonable cause to believe
that their conduct was unlawful.
The Company may purchase and maintain insurance in relation to any person who is or was a
Director, officer or liquidator of the Company, or who at the request of the Company is or was
serving as a director, officer or liquidator of, or in any other capacity is or was acting for, another
company or a partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against any liability asserted
against the person and incurred by the person in that capacity, whether or not the Company has
or would have had the power to indemnify the person against the liability as provided in the
Articles.

(t)

Disclosure of interests in shares
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Articles but always subject to the requirements of the law
of the BVI, the provisions of Chapter 5 of the UKLA’s Disclosure Guidance and Transparency
Rules (“DTRs”) or any successor or other regime (whether statutory or non-statutory) governing
the disclosure of interests in shares in the United Kingdom, which relates to the requirements of
persons holding securities conferring voting rights to disclose their total proportion of voting rights
(as defined in the DTRs) shall be deemed to be incorporated into these Articles and shall bind
the Company and its Members, and references to an issuer, but (for the avoidance of doubt) not
a non-UK issuer, in such provisions shall be deemed to be references to the Company.

5
SHAREHOLDER NOTIFICATION AND DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
5.1 Subject to the requirements of the law of the BVI, the provisions of Chapter 5 of the DTRs, which relate
to the requirement of persons to disclose their interests in shares, will apply to the Company on the
basis that its ‘Home State’ for the purpose of the DTRs is the United Kingdom, but that it is a ‘non-UK
issuer’ for the purpose of Rule 5 of the DTRs.
5.2 Shareholders are obliged to comply with the shareholding notification and disclosure requirements set
out in Chapter 5 of the DTRs. A Shareholder is required pursuant to Rule 5 of the DTRs to notify the
Company if, as a result of an acquisition or disposal of shares or financial instruments, the Shareholder’s
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percentage of voting rights of the Company reaches, exceeds or falls below 5 per cent., 10 per cent.,
15 per cent., 20 per cent., 25 per cent., 30 per cent., 50 per cent. or 75 per cent. of the nominal value
of the Company’s share capital.
5.3 Under Rule 5 of the DTRs and the relevant provisions of the Articles, each Shareholder who from time to
time, either to his knowledge holds, or becomes aware that he holds, voting rights (through his direct or
indirect holding of shares and financial instruments) in 5 per cent., 10 per cent., 15 per cent., 20 per cent.,
25 per cent., 30 per cent., 50 per cent. or 75 per cent. of the issued Ordinary Shares (or of any class of
shares in the Company carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company)
(the “Relevant Share Capital’’) is deemed to have a notifiable interest and must notify such interest to
the Company. Notification is also required when an interest (i.e. voting rights) falls below or rises above 5
per cent., 10 per cent., 15 per cent., 20 per cent., 25 per cent., 30 per cent., 50 per cent. or 75 per cent.
Each Shareholder is also required, to the extent that he is lawfully able to do so, to notify the Company if
any other person acquires or ceases to have a notifiable interest in Relevant Share Capital of which he is
the registered Shareholder, or, if unable lawfully to provide such notification, to use his reasonable
endeavours to procure that such other person makes notification of his interest to the Company.
5.4 The DTRs can be accessed and downloaded from the FCA’s website at
https://www.handbook.fca.org.uk/handbook/DTR.pdf. Shareholders are urged to consider their
notification and disclosure obligations carefully as a failure to make a required disclosure to the
Company may result in, inter alia, disenfranchisement as referred to in paragraph 4.2(g) above.
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SHARE INCENTIVE ARRANGEMENTS

6.1 Share Option Scheme
The key terms relating to the Unapproved Share Option Scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) are
as follows:(a)

Options to acquire Ordinary Shares in the Company may be granted at the discretion of the Board
or the remuneration committee of the Board (the “Board”) to directors whose services are
provided to the Company or any other company in the Group either pursuant to a contract of
service or a contract for services (whether entered into directly with the director or with a company
able to procure the provision of the director’s services) (an “Eligible Person”).

(b)

It is not intended to obtain the approval of HM Revenue and Customs in respect of the Share
Option Scheme.

(c)

Options may be granted at any time, subject to any restrictions which result from the application
of the Listing Rules or any comparable code which applies to the Company at the time options
are granted. Options may be granted from the date of such restrictions being lifted.

(d)

Options must be granted at a subscription price per Ordinary Share which is not less than the
market value of an Ordinary Share on the date of grant, unless the Board exercises its discretion
to determine otherwise. Whilst the Company’s shares are admitted to the Official List, the price
used for the market value of an Ordinary Share on the date of grant shall be the average middle
market quotation of an Ordinary Shares (as derived from the Daily Official List of the London Stock
Exchange) over the five dealing days immediately preceding the date of grant.

(e)

No consideration is payable for the grant of an option. Options are not transferable or assignable
(other than to a personal representative in the event that an option holder dies).

(f)

The exercise of an option may be made subject to the achievement of specific performance
targets or other conditions to be determined by the Board or the remuneration committee.

(g)

In the event that an Eligible Person is transferred to work in another country and the Board is
satisfied that due to the transfer the Eligible Person will either (i) suffer a tax disadvantage upon
exercising his option or (ii) the Eligible Person will become subject to restrictions on his ability
to exercise his option or deal in the shares obtained on exercise, the Eligible Person may
exercise all or part of his option in the period commencing three months before and ending
three months after the date of transfer (but so that any exercise before the date of transfer
shall be conditional upon such transfer taking place).
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(h)

The Company envisages that the number of Ordinary Shares which may be utilised under all
share schemes established by the Company shall not exceed 15 per cent. of the Company’s
issued share capital within any 10 year period preceding the date of the grant. This does not
include options which have lapsed or been surrendered or options granted prior to the date when
the Ordinary Shares were first admitted to listing on the Official List.

(i)

Options will vest (become exercisable) in whole or in part in accordance with the vesting date
set out in the Eligible Person’s option agreement and set by the Board at the date of grant of
an option.

(j)

In the event of a general offer to acquire the whole of the share capital of the Company as a
result of which the offeror obtains control of the Company, an Eligible Person may, with the
consent of the acquiring company, release each subsisting and unexercised option for a new
right which is equivalent to his option but relates to shares in a different company (generally,
the offeror). If another company obtains control of the Company, then options which are not
exercised within a restricted period thereafter will lapse.

(k)

The number and/or the subscription price of the Ordinary Shares subject to an option may be varied
by the Board in the event of a reorganisation of capital (such as a capitalisation or rights issue) subject
to an opinion of the auditors of the Company that the variations are fair and reasonable.

(l)

Ordinary Shares allotted under the Share Option Scheme will rank equally with all other Ordinary
Shares of the Company for the time being in issue.

(m) Unapproved options are afforded no special tax treatment and an Eligible Person may be liable
for any tax or social security which arises. Accordingly, the Eligible Person may be required to
enter into acceptable arrangements to meet any liability for tax and social security.
(n)

The Board will administer the Share Option Scheme. The Board may from time to time amend the
rules of the Share Option Scheme provided that no amendment may be made which would materially
affect the existing rights of an Eligible Person unless it has been approved by a majority of option
holders and no amendment may be made to certain key features of the Share Option Scheme (for
example any alteration which would extend the class of person eligible for the grant of options) which
is to the advantage of existing or future option holders except with the consent of the Company.

(o)

The Board may terminate the Share Option Scheme at any time with the effect that no further
options may thereafter be granted although in all other respects the Share Option Scheme will
remain in force.

(p)

No options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme after the seventh anniversary of the
date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme.

6.2 LTIP
The key terms relating to the Executive Long Term Incentive Plan (the “LTIP”) are as follows:Purpose
(a) The LTIP forms part of the general remuneration plan of the Company. The LTIP’s purpose is to
incentivise and reward executive directors and senior managers of the Company in achieving the
goals of the Company and aligning the long-term interests of the executives and shareholders.
General
(b) All executive directors and senior managers are eligible to participate in the LTIP.
(c)

The Company does not currently have a formal Remuneration Committee. In the absence of such
a committee, it shall be the decision of the Board of Directors if others may also join the LTIP.

(d)

Awards under the LTIP are determined by the non-executive directors (“NEDs”) of the Company,
following full consultation with the executive directors.
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(e)

Awards are to be made every year, measuring performance against goals in a year ending on
25 October. The NEDs shall use best endeavours to agree and issue LTIP awards before
25 December immediately following the LTIP year end.

Elements
(f)
The LTIP is to be composed of two elements:(i)

a share option plan

(ii)

an annual bonus plan.

(g)

For an award in any given year, the size of each element shall be determined by reference to the
performance of the LTIP participant against the targets set out in the Company’s business plan
for the year in question.

(h)

It is proposed that no maximum shall apply to the number of share options that may be awarded
annually. However a maximum annual cash bonus award of 75 per cent. of the participant’s
current base salary is proposed. This maximum may be waived at the discretion of the NEDs.

(i)

Share options shall be made under the existing Share Option Scheme or under a new company
scheme.

(j)

Cash bonuses shall be awarded without offset.

Targets
(k) It is proposed that in determining the level of LTIP award in a given year, performance against the
following targets is considered:–

share price appreciation

–

increase in market capitalisation

–

specific targets

(i)

Share price appreciation
This target seeks to align the executive’s goals closely with those of shareholders on an
annual basis. The starting reference point for this metric is a float price of 1.00p/share on
26 October 2015.
Two target levels for annual share price increase are proposed:-

(ii)

–

25 per cent. compound price increase (e.g. in the year to 25 October 2016,
1.25p/share; 1.56p/share in the year to 25 October 2017)

–

15 per cent. compound price increase in the year to 25 October 2016, 1.15p/share;
1.32p/share in the year to 25 October 2017)

Increase in market capitalisation
This target seeks to align the executive’s goals closely with those of shareholders, but on a
longer-term basis and so as to reflect the desire to grow the Company through capital
raisings, acquisitions etc. The starting reference point for this metric is a market capitalisation
of £2,134,378 at float on 26 October 2015.
Two target levels for annual market capitalisation increase are proposed:–

35 per cent. compound increase in capitalisation (e.g. in the year to 25 October 2016,
about £2.88 million; £3.89 million in the year to 25 October 2017); and
132

–

(iii)

20 per cent. compound increase in capitalisation (e.g. in the year to 25 October 2016,
about £2.56 million; £3.07 million in the year to 25 October 2017)

Specific targets
In addition to the above targets, due regard will be given to success in achieving project
specific targets. These will be set each year by consultation between the executives and
the NEDs and will reflect the goals set out in the agreed Upland business plan.

Awards
(l)
The level of annual LTIP award shall be made after due consideration of the level of attainment of
the above targets (i) to (iii) during the year, taking into consideration general market, and specific
oil industry, conditions pertaining over the year in question.
(m) An LTIP award of £37,065.98 was made to Steve Staley and paid on 30 May 2017. No other
awards have been made under the LTIP at the date of this document.

7
DIRECTORS’ AND OTHER INTERESTS
7.1 The interests of the Directors and members of their immediate families (all of which are beneficial), in
the existing share capital of the Company as at 15 June 2018 (being the last practicable date prior to
the publication of this document) and as expected to be immediately following completion of the
Placing/on Admission, are as follows:Interests immediately prior to and following completion of the Placing/on Admission

Director
Norza Zakaria
Stephen Staley
Bolhassan Bin Haji Di
Jeremy King
*

No. of Ordinary
Shares as at
15 June 2018

Percentage of
Issued Ordinary
Shares as at
15 June 2018

120,074,474*
19,749,102
12,634,620**
769,230***

26.16%
4.30%
2.75%
0.17%

No. of Ordinary
Shares following
completion of
the Placing/
on Admission
120,074,474*
20,549,102
16,634,620**
1,100,000***

Percentage of
Issued Ordinary
Shares following
completion of the
Placing/on
Admission
20.74%
3.55%
2.87%
0.19%

Includes 119,568,944 Ordinary Shares held through Acegroup Investments Limited, a company wholly owned by Norza
Zakaria and of which he is the sole director.

** Includes 5,788,460 Ordinary Shares held by his wife.
*** Whilst Jeremy King is a director and minority shareholder in Optiva Securities Limited which owns 34,382,460 Ordinary
Shares, he is not ‘interested’ in such Ordinary Shares for the purposes of section 823 (Interests in shares: corporate interests)
of the UK Companies Act 2006.

7.2 On 14 August 2014, the Company entered into an option agreement with Steve Staley pursuant to
which the Company granted options under the Share Option Scheme over a maximum of 9,000,000
Ordinary Shares – 3,000,000 at a subscription price of 1p per share, 3,000,000 at a subscription price
of 1.5p per share and 3,000,000 at a subscription price of 2p per share. The options may be exercised
at any time within 7 years of the date of the Original Listing (being the vesting date).
7.3 Save as disclosed in the table in paragraph 7.1 above and in paragraph 7.2 above, none of the
Directors nor any member of immediate families has or will have on or following Admission any interests
(beneficial or non-beneficial) in the shares of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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7.4 In addition to their directorships of the Company and its subsidiaries, the Directors are, or have been,
members of the administrative, management or supervisory bodies (“directorships”) or partners of
the following companies or partnerships, at any time in the five years prior to the date of this document:Stephen Staley
Current directorships and partnerships

Former directorships and partnerships

Derwent Resources Limited
Derwent Resources (Ksar Hadada) Limited
88 Energy Limited (Australia)
Predator Oil & Gas Holdings plc (Jersey)

Cold Gold Company Limited
Fastnet Oil & Gas plc (and predecessors)
Fastnet Ireland Limited (Ireland)

Norza Zakaria
Current directorships and partnerships

Former directorships and partnerships

Bintulu Port Holdings Berhad
Citaglobal Sdn Bhd
Citaglobal Engineering Services Sdn Bhd
Citaglobal Hospitality Sdn Bhd
Citaglobal Property Venture Sdn Bhd
Acegroup Investments Limited

Pelikan International Corporation Berhad
TH Heavy Engineering Berhad
Tropicana Corporation Berhad
TH Plantations Berhad
National Sports Institute of Malaysia

Jeremy King
Current directorships and partnerships

Former directorships and partnerships

Optiva Securities Limited
Boletus Resources Limited

United Oil & Gas plc (formerly Senterra Energy plc)

Bolhassan Bin Haji Di
Current directorships and partnerships

Former directorships and partnerships

Zecon Berhad
Jiwa Bakti Newspaper
Bomar Properties Ltd
Datajasa Plus Sdn Bhd
7.5 At the date of this document, none of the Directors:(a)

has any convictions in relation to fraudulent offences for at least the previous five years;

(b)

has been associated with any bankruptcy, receivership or liquidation while acting in the capacity
of a member of the administrative, management or supervisory body or of senior manager of any
company for at least the previous five years; or

(c)

has (save as referred to in paragraph 7.6. below) been subject to any official public incrimination
and/or sanction of him by any statutory or regulatory authority (including any designated
professional bodies) or has ever been disqualified by a court from acting as a director of a
company or from acting as a member of the administrative, management or supervisory bodies
of an issuer or from acting in the management or conduct of the affairs of any issuer for at least
the previous five years.

7.6 In December 2014, Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Malaysia Securities”) publicly
reprimanded TH Heavy Engineering Berhad (“TH Heavy”), a company of which Norza Zakaria was
(and until 7 October 2015) a director, for failing to ensure that the company’s announcement dated 28
February 2014 on the fourth quarterly report for the financial year ended 31 December 2013 took into
account the adjustments which were made in the annual audited accounts for the financial year ended
31 December 2013 announced on 30 April 2014.
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The failure to take into account the adjustments was in contravention of paragraph 9.16(1)(a) of the
Bursa Malaysia Securities Main Market Listing Requirements (“Bursa Malaysia Listing
Requirements”) where a listed issuer must ensure that each announcement made is factual, clear,
unambiguous, accurate, succinct and contains sufficient information to enable investors to make
informed investment decisions.
The public reprimand was imposed pursuant to paragraph 16.19(1) of the Bursa Malaysia Listing
Requirements after taking into consideration all facts and circumstances of the matter and upon
completion of due process.
TH Heavy was also required to review and ensure the adequacy and effectiveness of its financial
reporting function and carry out a limited review on its quarterly report submissions. The limited review
must be performed by the Company’s external auditors for four quarterly reports commencing no later
from the quarterly report for the financial period ended 31 December 2014. In addition, TH Heavy was
required to ensure that all its directors and relevant personnel attended a training programme on
compliance with the Bursa Malaysia Listing Requirements pertaining to financial statements.
While Bursa Malaysia Securities did not find any of TH Heavy’s directors to have caused or permitted
the breach by TH Heavy, Bursa Malaysia Securities highlighted that it is the duty of the directors to
maintain appropriate standards of responsibility and accountability in ensuring compliance of the Bursa
Malaysia Listing Requirements.
Bursa Malaysia Securities stated that it viewed the contravention seriously and reminded TH Heavy
and its Board of Directors of their obligation to uphold appropriate standards of responsibility and
accountability to shareholders and the investing public.
7.7 Norza Zakaria also holds official positions in a number of sports associations/institutes in Malaysia –
including the National Sports Institute of Malaysia (Ministry of Youth & Sports) (Chairman), the Olympic
Council of Malaysia (Deputy President), the Badminton Association of Malaysia (Deputy President), the
Football Association of Malaysia (Treasurer) and the Kuala Lumpur Badminton Association (President).
7.8 At the date of this document, each of the Directors has other private interests and duties, as detailed
in section 7.4 of this Part XVII. In the case of Stephen Staley, these include directorships of other
upstream oil & gas companies – Derwent Resources (Ksar Hadada) Limited, 88 Energy Limited
(an Australian-incorporated company whose shares are traded on the ASX and AIM) and Predator Oil
& Gas Holdings plc (a Jersey-incorporated company whose shares have very recently been admitted
to a Standard Listing). Derwent Resources (Ksar Hadada) Limited is a dormant company which until
recently held an interest (now relinquished) in the Ksar Hadada permit, Tunisia and 88 Energy Limited
is active solely in Alaska. Predator Oil & Gas Holdings plc is active only in Trinidad and offshore western
Ireland. Given the specific geographic focus of these upstream oil & gas companies, such directorships
do not therefore give rise to any conflict of interest for Steve Staley. In relation to the Directors’ private
interests and duties generally, these do not give rise to any conflict of interest.
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7.9 Save as set out below and in paragraph 7.1 above, the Directors are not aware of any person who,
directly or indirectly, had an interest in 5 per cent. or more of the voting rights of the Company as at
15 June 2018 (being the last practicable date prior to the publication of this document) and/or will
have an interest in 5 per cent. or more of the voting rights of the Company immediately following
completion of the Placing and Admission:Interests immediately prior to and following completion of the Placing/on Admission

Shareholder

No. of Ordinary
Shares as at
15 June 2018

Tune Assets Limited
Optiva Securities Limited

Percentage
of issued
ordinary share
capital as at
15 June 2018

Percentage of
ordinary shares
following
completion
of the Placing/
on Admission

Percentage of
issued ordinary
share capital
following completion
of the Placing/
on Admission

16.25%
7.49%

74,579,604
34,382,460

12,88%
5.94%

74,579,604
34,382,460
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7.10 As at 15 June 2018 (being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this document), the
Company was not aware of any person or persons who, directly or indirectly, jointly or severally, exercise
or could exercise control over the Company nor is it aware of any arrangements, the operation of which
may at a subsequent date result in a change in control of the Company.
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7.11 Those interested, directly or indirectly, in 5 per cent. or more of the issued Ordinary Shares of the
Company (as set out in paragraphs 7.1 and 7.9 above) do not now, and, following the Placing and
Admission, will not, have different voting rights from other holders of Ordinary Shares.
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8
WORKING CAPITAL
The Company is of the opinion that the working capital available to the Group, taking into account the Net
Placing Proceeds and the Company’s existing resources including cash held/cash resources and funding
arrangements, is sufficient for the Group’s present requirements, that is for at least the 12 months from the
date of this document.

9
NO SIGNIFICANT OR MATERIAL CHANGE
9.1 There has been no significant change in the trading or financial position of the Group since
31 December 2017, being the date as at which the latest unaudited interim financial information, as
announced by the Company on 23 February 2017, has been prepared.
9.2 No material changes have occurred since 24 April 2018, the date of the Competent Person’s Report,
the omission of which would make the Competent Person’s Report misleading.

10 LITIGATION
There are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are
pending or threatened of which the Company is aware) in the period of 12 months prior to the date of this
document which may have, or have had in the recent past, significant effects on the financial position or
profitability of the Company or the Group.

11 TAKEOVER CODE
Although the Existing Ordinary Shares are, and the Placing Shares and any Conversion Shares are intended
to be, admitted to the Official List by way of a Standard Listing and to trading on the LSE’s Main Market, as
the Company is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, the Takeover Code does not apply to the Company.
Accordingly, the Company will not be subject to takeover regulations in the UK under the Takeover Code.
Investors should therefore be aware that the protections afforded to Shareholders by the Takeover Code
which are designed to regulate the way in which takeovers are conducted will not be available.
12

Annex III
3.1

Annex I
20.9

ESMA/ CESR
para 133(i)(b)

Annex I
20.8

Annex III
4.9

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

The following are all of the contracts (not being contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business)
that have been entered into by the Company in the period of two years prior to the date of this document
which: (i) are, or may be, material to the Company; or (ii) contain obligations or entitlements which are, or
may be, material to the Company as at the date of this document:-

12.1 Placing Agreement
The Placing Agreement dated 12 June 2018 entered into between the Company (1) and Optiva
Securities (2) pursuant to which, subject to certain conditions, Optiva Securities has agreed to use its
reasonable endeavours to procure Placees at the Placing Price for the Placing Shares to be issued
pursuant to the Placing.
The Placing Agreement is conditional upon, inter alia, Admission occurring by 8.00 a.m. on 21 June
2018 (or such later date, not being later than 29 June 2018, as the Company and Optiva Securities
may agree).
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In consideration for its services under the Placing Agreement, Optiva Securities will receive from
the Company a commission, conditional on Admission, of an amount equal to between 1 per cent.
and 5 per cent. of the value at the Placing Price of the Placing Shares subscribed for by Placees
(depending on the identity of the Placee) (plus any applicable VAT) and will be entitled to be reimbursed
by the Company for all out-of-pocket costs, charges and expenses incurred in connection with the
Placing and Admission, together with any applicable VAT.
The Company has, in the Placing Agreement, given customary indemnities, warranties and
undertakings to Optiva Securities. The time period for Optiva Securities to bring any warranty claim
against the Company expires on the date being 3 months after the date of publication by the Company
of the audited financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 30 June 2018. Under
certain circumstances, including for material breach of warranty, Optiva Securities may terminate the
Placing Agreement (and any related arrangements) prior to Admission.

12.2 Warrant agreement (2018) – Optiva Securities
A warrant agreement dated 12 June 2018 entered into between the Company (1) and Optiva Securities
(2) pursuant to which the Company has granted to Optiva Securities 5,498,442 warrants to subscribe
for new Ordinary Shares (on the basis of 1 new Ordinary Share for each warrant) at a subscription
price of 2.5p per share (being the same as the Placing Price) and exercisable at any time until the 3rd
anniversary of the date of Admission.

12.3 Commitments to subscribe for Convertible Loan Notes
Written commitments received and accepted by the Company on 7 March 2018 confirming the
commitments of Tune Assets Limited, Norza Zakaria (Chairman of the Company) and clients of Optiva
Securities (corporate brokers to the Company) (together, the “Facility Providers”) to subscribe for an
aggregate £3,500,000 principal of Convertible Loan Notes (referred to in paragraph 12.4 below), as
may be called upon by the Company at any time(s) of the Company’s choosing at any time on or prior
to 31 December 2018.
If the Facility Providers are called upon by the Company to subscribe for any Convertible Loan Notes
and the Company exercises its right to convert all or any of such Convertible Loan Notes into Ordinary
Shares (“Conversion Shares”), applications will also be made in due course to the UKLA and to the
London Stock Exchange for any Conversion Shares to be admitted to a Standard Listing on the Official
List and to trading on the LSE’s Main Market respectively.
The Facility Providers have agreed with the Company that any Conversion Shares issued to them will
be subject to a 6-month lock in period (from the date of issue of the Conversion Shares), during which
time such Conversion Shares may not be sold or traded.
A 3 per cent. commitment fee was be paid by the Company to the Facility Providers as a result of
acceptance by the Company of their commitments and will be payable again on each anniversary of
that acceptance date (to the extent that the commitments or, following draw down, the Convertible
Loan Notes remain outstanding at such anniversary date).
The initial commitment fee, any commitment fee payable on an anniversary and any of the Convertible
Loan Notes (issued following any draw down by the Company of the Facility Providers’ commitments)
may, at the Company’s sole option, be satisfied by the issue of new Ordinary Shares, cash or any
combination of the two. For this purpose, Ordinary Shares will be valued at a 10 per cent. discount to
the volume weighted average price (“VWAP”) of the shares over the 5 trading days immediately prior
to the relevant date. The Company elected to satisfy the aggregate initial commitment fee of £105,000
as to £40,000 by the issue of an aggregate 1,769,355 Ordinary Shares and as to £65,000 in cash,
issued and paid (respectively) on 20 March 2018.
The 1,769,355 Ordinary Shares are subject to lock-in arrangements whereby the Facility Providers
have agreed not to transfer or agree to transfer any interest in any of such Ordinary Shares (or any
shares derived from such Ordinary Shares) during the period of 6 months following the date of their
issue, without the consent of the Company.
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12.4 Convertible Loan Note Instrument
A loan note instrument dated 7 March 2018 (the “Convertible Loan Note Instrument”) executed by
the Company creating £3,500,000 convertible unsecured loan notes (the “Convertible Loan Notes”)
, convertible at option of the Company (only) and by written notice given by the Company to the holders
of the Convertible Loan Notes (the “Noteholders”), in amounts or multiples of £1,000 into Ordinary
Shares at an amount per Ordinary Share equal to a 10 per cent. discount to the VWAP immediately
prior to the date of the conversion notice (subject to adjustment in accordance with the provisions of
the Convertible Loan Note Instrument). The ‘VWAP’ for this purpose is the volume weighted average
price of the Ordinary Shares as reported by Bloomberg (where the VWAP is to be found in UPL LN
under the Current Function ‘VWAP’ tab) for the 5 trading days immediately prior to the relevant date
(as confirmed by the Company’s broker).
No interest is payable by the Company on the principal amount of the Convertible Loan Notes outstanding
from time to time. The Company shall have the right, upon giving not less than twenty (20) days’ notice
in writing to the Noteholders (or such shorter period as the Company and the relevant Noteholder may
agree) to repay the Convertible Loan Notes at full nominal value on the early repayment date stated in
the notice. Any Convertible Loan Notes not previously converted by the Company in accordance with
the Convertible Loan Note Instrument or repaid earlier by the Company shall be repaid at full nominal
value on 30 June 2020 (or if such date is not a business day, the next following business day).
Any Ordinary Shares issued on Conversion of any Convertible Loan Notes will be subject to lock-in
arrangements whereby the Facility Providers have agreed not to transfer or agree to transfer any interest
in any of such Ordinary Shares (or any shares derived from such Ordinary Shares) during the period of
6 months following the date of their issue, without the consent of the Company.

12.5 Subscription by Tune Assets Limited
A subscription letter dated 27 January 2018 from the Company to Tune Assets Limited (“Tune Assets”)
(and countersigned by Tune Assets) in respect of the subscription by Tune Assets for 74,074,074 new
Ordinary Shares at 1.35p per share (and an aggregate subscription price of £1,000,000), completion
of which took place on 21 February 2018. Such new Ordinary Shares were issued to Tune Assets (in
depositary interest format) and were admitted to listing on the standard listing segment of the Official
List and to trading on the LSE’s Main Market on 21 February 2018.

12.6 Wick Farm-in Agreement
(a)

Terms of Wick Farm-in Agreement
The Wick Farm-in Agreement dated 29 November 2017 (as varied on 28 March 2018 and 27 April
2018) entered into between Corallian Energy (1) and Upland UK (2), for the farm-in by Upland UK
(by way of assignment from Corallian Energy) of a 40 per cent. interest in UK seaward production
licence P2235 (originally awarded in April 2015 to Fyrd Energy Limited) in respect of UKCS Block
11/24b (including the Wick Prospect). Completion of the Wick Farm-in Agreement (“Completion”)
took place on 24 May 2018.
The consideration for the transfer of the 40 per cent. interest (the “Farmed Interest”) by Corallian
Energy to Upland UK was Upland UK’s agreement to:(i)

pay its 40 per cent. interest share of all costs pursuant to the joint operating agreement
which was entered into on Completion between Corallian Energy (1) Baron Oil (2) Corfe
Energy (3) and Upland UK (4) as licensees under UK Offshore Production Licence P2235
(the “P2235 JOA”) attributable to the Farmed Interest with effect from 00.00 hours on
1 December 2015 (the “Economic Date”) and the proportion of the premium for the
Insurance Policies (as therein defined) attributable to the period from the Economic Date up
to the date of Completion (the “Economic Adjustment Period”); and

(ii)

with effect from 00.00 hours on 29 November 2017 (the “Farmout Date”) pay an additional
131/3 per cent. of the costs charged to the Joint Account under the P2235 JOA, in respect
of the Wick Well, commencing with (and including) the Wick Well environmental site survey,
and which would otherwise have been paid by Corallian Energy, up to and including the
point when such well has been permanently plugged and abandoned.
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In calculating the amount payable under (ii) above, (a) the applicable cost charged to the Joint
Account under the P2235 JOA excludes the uplift charged pursuant to paragraph 3.2.12
(Administrative overhead costs) of the Accounting Procedure to the P2235 JOA, and (b) is limited
to the applicable share of total costs of the Wick Well and related environmental site survey of up
to £4,200,000 (excluding the uplift referred to in (a) above) and any costs above that shall be
borne in the relevant percentage interests of the licensees under the P2235 JOA.
It is agreed in the Wick Farm-in Agreement that the costs of the Wick Well environmental survey,
which started before the Farmout Date, and any other costs attributable to UK Offshore
Production Licence P2235, will be included in the sums to which (ii) above applies. On completion
of the Wick Farm-in Agreement on 24 May 2018, Upland UK therefore made a payment to
Corallian Energy of £269,791.99 (plus VAT) in respect of agreed licence and well costs incurred
in the period up to the date of such completion.
In the Wick Farm-in Agreement, Corallian Energy has given various representations, warranties,
covenants and undertakings to Upland UK in relation to UK Offshore Production Licence P2235
and its activities under UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 and has agreed, subject to limited
exceptions, to reimburse Upland UK in respect of any costs, charges, expenses, liabilities and
obligations borne by Upland UK relating to the Farmed Interest which accrued in respect of any
period prior to the Economic Date.
– Assignment of Interest and P2235 JOA
On Completion of the Wick Farm-in Agreement on 24 May 2018:(i)

Corallian Energy together with (by way of giving its consent) the OGA entered into a deed of
licence assignment of UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 in favour of Corallian Energy,
Baron Oil, Corfe Energy and Upland UK; and

(ii)

Corallian Energy, Baron Oil, Corfe Energy and Upland UK entered into a deed of assignment
of interests for the assignment by Corallian Energy of interests in UK Offshore Production
Licence P2235 to Baron Oil, Corfe Energy and Upland UK resulting in the following interests:Party

Percentage/Participating interests

Corallian Energy
Upland UK
Baron Oil
Corfe Energy
(iii)

40%
40%
15%
5%

Corallian Energy, Baron Oil, Corfe Energy and Upland UK entered into the P2235 JOA in
respect of UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 (UKCS Block 11/24b).

– Existing net profit interest agreement
The Farmed Interest is subject to an agreement dated 20 October 2016 entered into between
Corallian Energy (1) and InfraStrata plc (2) pursuant to which Corallian Energy undertook to pay
a net profit interest amount of 1 per cent. of the profits arising from UK Offshore Production
Licence P2235 to InfraStrata plc (the “NPI Agreement”). Discussions with InfraStrata plc are
ongoing with a view to either terminating the NPI Agreement (with all licensees agreeing to share
the costs of any such termination payment in the relevant percentages) or to execute a novation
of the NPI Agreement on the basis that the licensees share the obligations under the NPI
Agreement in the relevant percentages and the licenses have all entered into a letter agreement
dated 24 May 2018 to this effect.
– Area of Mutual Interest
The Wick Farm-in Agreement includes provisions that if Corallian Energy or Upland UK submits
an application for the award of a petroleum licence over certain parts of the area surrounding the
licence area of UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 (the “Area of Mutual Interest”) or
acquires an interest in a licence within the Area of Mutual Interest, then Corallian Energy or Upland
139

UK (as the case may be) has agreed to invite all other licensees to join in such application or
acquisition on a ground-floor basis for a participating interest in the same ratio as the parties have
participating interests in UK Offshore Production Licence P2235. The Area of Mutual Interest
applies for a period expiring on 30 November 2020. Corallian Energy has agreed to procure that
these provisions are binding on all licensees under UK Offshore Production Licence P2235.
(b)

UK Offshore Production Licence P2235
UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 dated 16 April 2015 (with a start date of 1 December 2014)
was originally entered into by The Secretary of State for Energy and Climate Change with Fyrd Energy
Limited in respect of UKCS Block 11/24b, but was assigned to Corallian Energy on (and with effect
from) 20 October 2016. The Licence incorporates the ‘Model Clauses’ for such a licence set out in
Schedule 1 to The Petroleum Licensing (Production) (Seaward Areas) Regulations 2008 and is for an
‘Initial Term’ of 4 years beginning with 1 December 2014, a ‘Second Term’ of 4 years following expiry
of the Initial Term and a ‘Third Term’ of 18 years following expiry of the Second Term.
On 17 November 2016 and again on 23 November 2017, the OGA gave written confirmation to
Corallian Energy of the continuation of UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 past the 2 year
‘Promote Period’ into the 3rd and 4th years (respectively) of the ‘Initial Term’.
The ‘Licence Administrator’ in respect of UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 is Corallian Energy.
The ‘Work Programme’ under UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 includes at Part I (i) a
‘Promote Licence’ requirement that the licensee demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Secretary
of State the financial capacity of the licensee and the competence of the licensee (where the
licensee is one person) or any operator(s) exercising functions in accordance with the Licence
(where the licensee is 2 or more persons) to organise and supervise any of the operations of
searching, boring for and getting petroleum and (ii) a Firm commitment that the licensee shall
reprocess 100km2 of 3D seismic data. In addition, UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 includes
at Part II a ‘Drill-or-drop’ commitment that the licensee shall either drill one well to 1300m or 60m
below the top Beatrice sandstone (whichever is the shallower) or elect to allow the Licence to
automatically cease and determine at the end of the Initial Term.
The licensee is required during the ‘Promote Period’ to (a) take the actions described in Part I of the
‘Work Programme’ (b) undertake to complete, before the expiry of the ‘Initial Term’, the work
described in Part II of the ‘Work Programme’ and (c) demonstrate, to the satisfaction of the Secretary
of State the financial capacity of the licensee to meet the obligations in (b) in addition to all other
obligations imposed by UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 and the competence of the relevant
persons to organise and supervise any of the operations of searching or boring for petroleum.
On the start date (1 December 2014) of UK Offshore Production Licence P2235, the licensee(s)
was obliged to pay to the Secretary of State £15 multiplied by the square kilometres of the
licensed area rising to £7,500 multiplied by the square kilometres of the licensed area on the
12th anniversary of the start date and on every subsequent anniversary. The sum payable as from
the 3rd anniversary of the start date (i.e. 1 December 2017) is £150 multiplied by the square
kilometres of the licensed area. Such sums increase annually and may be increased or reduced
in line with movements in the Index of the Price of Crude Oil acquired by Refineries (published in
the Digest of UK Energy Statistics) if the Secretary of State so determines.

(c)

UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 Joint Operating Agreement
On completion of the Wick Farm-in Agreement on 24 May 2018, the P2235 JOA between
Corallian Energy (1) Baron Oil (2) Corfe Energy (3) and Upland UK (4) as licensees under UK
Offshore Production Licence P2235 was entered into (with deemed effect from 1 December
2014) and pursuant to which the participants have agreed to regulate operations under UK Offshore
Production Licence P2235 and define their respective rights, interests, duties and obligations in
connection with UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 and in connection with all petroleum
produced under the Licence. The participating interests of the participants under the P2235 JOA
are as shown in the table under the heading ‘Assignment of Interest and P2235 JOA’ above and
Corallian Energy has been designated as the ‘operator’.
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Under the P2235 JOA, the operator has conduct of operations subject to directions of a ‘joint
operating committee’, which has the authority to authorise operations to be carried out by the
operator and which comprises one representative from each participant. Each member of the joint
operating committee has a voting interest equal to its percentage interest in UK Offshore Production
Licence P2235 and all decisions of the joint operating committee are to be made by the affirmative
vote of 2 or more participants having an aggregate participating interest of not less than 66.6 per cent.
The P2235 JOA establishes the respective rights and obligations of the parties with regard to
operations under UKCS Block 11/24b including the exploration, appraisal, development,
production and disposition of hydrocarbons from the UKCS Block 11/24b licence area and sets
out the terms upon which the operator will interact with the other parties to the P2235 JOA. The
P2235 JOA provides that all rights and interests in and under UKCS Block 11/24b, all joint
property and any hydrocarbons produced from the UKCS Block 11/24b licence area are to be
owned by the parties in accordance with their participating interests under the P2235 JOA. All
liabilities and expenses incurred by the operator in connection with the joint operations are to be
charged to the joint account and shared by the parties in accordance with their respective
participating interests under the P2235 JOA.
The P2235 JOA continues for so long as UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 remains in force
and until all joint property has been disposed of, all decommissioning has been completed and final
settlement has been made between the parties in accordance with their respective rights and
obligations under the P2235 JOA.

12.7 Guarantee to OGA (UK Offshore Production Licence P2235)
A parent company guarantee dated 23 March 2018 executed by the Company in favour of the OGA
pursuant to which the Company has, inter alia, undertaken to provide sufficient funds where necessary,
to enable Upland UK (as licensee) to carry out its obligations in accordance with the terms of UK
Offshore Production Licence P2235 and guaranteed that, if any sums become payable by Upland
UK (as licensee) to the OGA under the terms of UK Offshore Production Licence P2235 and Upland
UK does not pay those sums on first demand, the Company will itself pay to the OGA on demand an
amount equal to all such sums.

12.8 Wressle Farm-in Agreement
The Wressle Farm-in Agreement dated 24 November 2016 (as varied on 21 February 2017 and
26 September 2017) entered into between Europa Oil & Gas (1) and Upland UK (2), for the farm-in by
Upland UK (by way of assignment from Europa Oil & Gas) of a 10 per cent. participating interest in each
of PEDLs 180 and 182 in respect of UK onshore Blocks SE90a and SE91b (including the Wressle Field
and Broughton North developments). Following failure of the conditions regarding the receipt of planning
consents, on 25 January 2018 Upland UK terminated the Wressle Farm-in Agreement (in accordance
with Upland UK’s rights set out in the Wressle Farm-in Agreement) and, as a result of such termination,
Upland UK’s deposit of £160,000 was repaid to it.

12.9 2016 Placing Agreement
A placing agreement dated 24 November 2016 entered into between the Company (1) and Optiva
Securities (2) pursuant to which Optiva Securities agreed to use its reasonable endeavours to procure
placees at 1.3p per share for the 169,230,770 new Ordinary Shares issued pursuant to the placing
carried out at that time.
The placing agreement was conditional upon, inter alia, admission of the 169,230,770 new Ordinary
Shares to trading on AIM occurring by 8.00 a.m. on 1 December 2016 (or such later date, not being
later than 16 December 2016, as the Company and Optiva Securities might have agreed). Completion
took place on 1 December 2016.
In consideration for its services under the Placing Agreement, Optiva Securities received from the
Company a commission of £82,370.00 (being an amount equal to 5 per cent. of the value at the issue
price (1.3p) of the aggregate 100,961,540 new Ordinary Shares subscribed for by Placees (other than
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those subscribed for by the Directors, Aimi Aizal Bin Nasharuddin and certain other existing
shareholders), 2 per cent. of the value at the issue price (1.3p) of the aggregate 60,538,462 new
Ordinary Shares subscribed for by Norza Zakaria, Bolhassan Di, Aimi Aizal Bin Nasharuddin and certain
other existing shareholders and 1 per cent. of the value at the issue price (1.3p) of the aggregate
7,730,768 new Ordinary Shares subscribed for by Stephen Staley, Jeremy King and Gerald Walsh
(plus in each case any applicable VAT) and was reimbursed by the Company for all out-of-pocket
costs, charges and expenses incurred in connection with such placing, together with any
applicable VAT.
In such placing agreement, the Company gave customary indemnities, warranties and undertakings
to Optiva Securities. The time period for Optiva Securities to bring any warranty claim against the
Company expired on 22 June 2017 (being 3 months after the date of publication by the Company of
the unaudited interim results of the Group for the six months ended 31 December 2016). Under certain
circumstances, including for material breach of warranty, Optiva Securities had the right to terminate
such placing agreement (and any related arrangements) prior to completion of such placing.
12.10 Warrant agreement (2016) – Optiva Securities
A warrant agreement dated 25 November 2016 entered into between the Company (1) and Optiva
Securities (2) pursuant to which the Company granted to Optiva Securities 6,336,154 warrants to
subscribe for new Ordinary Shares (on the basis of 1 new Ordinary Share for each warrant) at a
subscription price of 1.3p per share and exercisable at any time until 1 December 2019.
12.11 PEDL 299
(a)

PEDL 299
PEDL 299 dated 15 September 2016 entered into by INEOS Upstream (as operator), Europa
Oil & Gas, Shale Petroleum (UK) and Upland UK with The Secretary of State for Energy and
Climate Change in respect of Block SK46c. The licence is for an initial term of 5 years from the
start date (21 July 2016), a second term of 5 years beginning with the day after the initial term
ends and the ‘production period’ being the period of 20 years beginning with the day after the
second term ends. The parties originally agreed that Upland UK would have a 16.67 per cent.
participating interest in PEDL 299.
On 4 October 2016, Europa Oil & Gas (Holdings) plc agreed, subject to regulatory approval, to
assign Shale Petroleum (UK)’s 16.665 per cent. interest in PEDL 299 – as to 8.33 per cent. to
Upland UK, thereby increasing Upland UK’s participating interest in PEDL 299 from 16.67 per
cent. to 25 per cent. This was as part of a pre-existing arrangement should any member of the
original bid group withdraw from the bid consortium. The percentage/participating interests in
PEDL 299 are therefore now as follows (subject to the approval of the OGA):Party
INEOS Upstream (operator)
Europa Oil & Gas
Upland UK

(b)

Percentage/Participating interests
50%
25%
25%

PEDL 299 Joint Operating Agreement (Block SK46c – Deep)
A joint operating agreement dated 18 May 2017 entered into between INEOS Upstream (1),
Europa Oil & Gas (2) and Upland UK (3) pursuant to which the parties, as the licensees under
PEDL 299, have agreed to regulate operations under PEDL 299 and have defined their respective
rights, interests, duties and obligations in connection with PEDL 299 and in connection with the
prospecting and development of petroleum under PEDL 299 in relation to the ‘Deep Subarea’
(a defined) (the “PEDL 299 JOA”). Under the PEDL 299 JOA, INEOS Upstream has been
designated as the ‘operator’.
Under the PEDL 299 JOA, the operator has conduct of operations subject to directions of an
‘operating committee’, which has the authority to authorise operations to be carried out by the
operator, comprised of one representative from each party. Each member of the operating
committee has that number of votes as is equal to its participating interest in PEDL 299 and all
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decisions of the operating committee are made by the affirmative vote of 2 or more participants
having an aggregate percentage interest of at least 65 per cent.
The PEDL 299 JOA establishes the respective rights and obligations of the parties with regard to
operations under Block SK46c including the exploration, appraisal, development, production and
disposition of hydrocarbons from the Block SK46c area and sets out the terms upon which the
operator shall interact with the other parties to the JOA. The PEDL 299 JOA provides that all
rights and interests in and under Block SK46c, all joint property and any hydrocarbons produced
from the Block SK46c area shall be owned by the parties in accordance with their participating
interests under the PEDL 299 JOA. All liabilities and expenses incurred by the operator in
connection with the joint operations shall be charged to the joint account and shared by the
parties in accordance with their respective participating interests under the PEDL 299 JOA.
The PEDL 299 JOA continues for so long as PEDL 299 remains in force and until all joint property
has been disposed of, all decommissioning has been completed and final settlement has been
made between the parties in accordance with their respective rights and obligations under the
PEDL 299 JOA.
(c)

Trust deed
A trust deed dated 18 May 2017 between INEOS Upstream (1), Europa Oil & Gas (2) and Upland
UK (3) pursuant to which the parties have agreed that PEDL 299 shall be split stratigraphically
with INEOS Upstream defined as ‘operator’ and the 100 per cent. beneficial licensee of the
‘Shallow Subarea’ (as defined) and INEOS Upstream defined as ‘operator’ and the parties defined
as beneficial licensees of the ‘Deep Subarea’ (as defined) in their respective percentage interests
(INEOS Upstream – 50 per cent.; Europa Oil & Gas – 25 per cent. and Upland UK – 25 per cent.).

12.12Warrant agreement (2015) – Optiva Securities
A warrant agreement dated 14 October 2015 entered into between the Company (1) and Optiva
Securities (2) pursuant to which the Company has granted to Optiva Securities 6,500,000 warrants to
subscribe for new Ordinary Shares (on the basis of 1 new Ordinary Share for each warrant) at a
subscription price of 1p per share and exercisable at any time until 26 October 2018.
13 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
13.1 Since 1 July 2014 up to and including the date of this document, the Company has not entered into
any related party transactions other than as set out below and in paragraph 14 below:13.2 Fees have been paid to the Directors, or their connected companies, during the three financial years
ended 30 June 2017, as follows:-

Name of Director

Remuneration detail

M N B Zakaria
G H S Staley
G H S Staley
G H S Staley
J E S King
B B H Di
C G St J Dennis –
resigned 30 May 2015

Fee
Fee
Share-based payment
Award under LTIP
Fee
Fee
Fee

2017
£

2016
£

2015
£

25,000
143,750
–
37,066
23,752
19,703

16,667
104,381
23,711
–
17,333
–

–
60,000
–
–
12,000
–

–

––––––––––––

249,271

––––––––––––
––––––––––––

–

––––––––––––

162,092

––––––––––––
––––––––––––

12,000

––––––––––––

84,000

––––––––––––
––––––––––––

13.3 The Group was charged fees and commission of £102,370 in the financial year ended 30 June 2017,
£84,534 in the financial year ended 30 June 2017; and £Nil in the financial year ended 30 June 2015
by Optiva Securities Limited, of which a Director of the Company is also a director and shareholder.
Share-based payments have also been made to Optiva Securities as disclosed in this document.
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14

TERMS OF SERVICE OF THE DIRECTORS

14.1 Agreements in respect of the Executive Director’s services
(a) The Company has entered into a consultancy agreement dated 12 October 2015 with Derwent
Resources Limited (“Derwent”) under which Derwent is to provide the services of Stephen Staley
as Chief Executive of the Company, on a part-time basis (108 hours in each calendar month).
Under the consultancy agreement, Derwent is entitled to a fee of £150,000 per annum (as
increased from 1 October 2016) (plus VAT, if applicable) for the basic 108 hours per calendar
month, £1,200 per 8 hour day (plus VAT, if applicable) for each additional day or part day in excess
of the first 108 hours in any calendar month and reimbursement of all reasonable expenses. The
consultancy agreement may be terminated at any time by 3 months’ prior written notice served
by either party. Stephen Staley has entered into a side letter dated 12 October 2015 with the
Company confirming that the terms of this consultancy agreement will be binding on him as an
individual.
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As part of the agreed arrangements with Derwent, the Company has established a long term
incentive plan (providing for the annual award of cash and/or share options within 2 months of
each anniversary of Admission) which includes Stephen Staley as a beneficiary.
(b)

Stephen Staley has also entered into a letter of appointment dated 12 October 2015 with the
Company in respect of his continued appointment as a director of the Company with effect from
Admission, but with no additional fee payable to him over and above the fee referred to in the
consultancy agreement above. The continued appointment of Stephen Staley as a director of
the Company on the terms of such appointment letter is (subject to limited exceptions) for an
initial period of 12 months following Admission and thereafter subject to termination by either
party on 3 months’ written notice. In addition, the Company may forthwith terminate Stephen
Staley’s appointment as a director of the Company for, inter alia, a material breach by Derwent
of its obligations under the consultancy agreement referred to above and Stephen Staley may
terminate such appointment for a material breach by the Company of its obligations under the
consultancy agreement referred to above.

14.2 Appointment Letters and agreements in respect of the Non-Executive Directors’ services
(a) Each of the Non-Executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment dated 12 October
2015 (in the case of Norza Zakaria and Jeremy King) and 7 July 2016 (in the case of Bolhassan
Bin Haji Di) with the Company in respect of his continued appointment as a non-executive director
of the Company with effect from the date of the Original Listing (in the case of Norza Zakaria and
Jeremy King) and from 7 July 2016 (in the case of Bolhassan Bin Haji Di).
Under the terms of the appointment letters, Norza Zakaria is entitled to a fee of
£25,000 per annum and each of Jeremy King and Bolhassan Bin Haji Di is entitled to a fee of
£20,000 per annum. Fees will accrue on a daily basis and will be payable in equal quarterly
instalments in arrears on the last business day of each quarter (or as otherwise agreed).
The continued appointments of each of the Non-Executive Directors as a non-executive director of
the Company on the terms of such appointment letters was (subject to limited exceptions) for an
initial period of 12 months following the date of the Original Listing (in the case of Norza Zakaria
and Jeremy King) and is for an initial period of 12 months from 7 July 2016 (in the case of Bolhassan
Bin Haji Di) and is thereafter subject to termination by either party on 3 months’ written notice.
(b)

Bolhassan Di has also entered into a consultancy agreement with the Company dated 12 June
2017 to provide services with effect from 1 April 2017, including conducting the sourcing and
maintenance of potential oil and gas opportunities for the Company in the State of Sarawak,
Malaysia and its territorial waters (and any other geographical areas as may be agreed), liaising
with the relevant arms of the government of Sarawak co-ordinating with potential contractors,
partners and others as necessary, in each case in pursuit of such opportunities, acting as the
day to day representative of the Company in Sarawak and establishing an appropriate presence
for the Company in Sarawak through the establishment of an office or such other means as may
be approved by the Company. Under this consultancy agreement, he is entitled to a fee of
144

Annex I
16.2

£36,000 per annum, paid monthly in arrears. In addition, he was paid £5,000 on entering into
such consultancy agreement and is entitled to one-off success fees of (i) £10,000 on the
Company entering into a binding agreement with a Sarawakian entity to jointly assess oil and
gas opportunities in Sarawak and (ii) £25,000 on the Company entering into the first oil & gas
permit granting exclusive rights to the Company to explore for and produce hydrocarbons from
an area or areas in Sarawak. The consultancy agreement can be terminated by either party
giving to the other not less than 3 months’ prior written notice and may be terminated with
immediate effect by either party for various breaches by, or default events relating to, the other
party. The consultancy agreement also contains various confidentiality and 6 month posttermination ‘non-compete’ covenants and other 9 month post-termination restrictive covenants
on Bolhassan Di.

15 ACCOUNTS
15.1 The Company’s annual report and accounts will be made up to 30 June in each year and the next
annual report and accounts will be for the financial year ending 30 June 2018. It is expected that the
Company will make public its annual report and accounts within four months of each financial year
end (or earlier if possible) and that copies of the annual report and accounts will be sent to Shareholders
within six months of each financial year end (or earlier if possible).
15.2 The Company will also prepare its next unaudited interim report for the six month period ending
31 December 2017 and for each six month period ending 31 December thereafter. It is expected that
the Company will make public its unaudited interim reports within two months of the end of each
such interim period.

16 GENERAL
16.1 Wilkins Kennedy LLP whose address is Bridge House, London Bridge, London SE1 9QR, were (until
9 January 2018) the auditors of the Group and audited the accounts of the Group for the financial years
ended 30 June 2015, 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2017. Wilkins Kennedy LLP is registered to carry out
audit work by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and the Financial Reporting
Council. On 8 January 2018, Wilkins Kennedy LLP resigned as auditors of the Company (for commercial
reasons – and confirming that there were no circumstances connected with their resignation that needed
to be brought to the attention of members or creditors of the Company) and on 9 January 2018, Crowe
Clark Whitehill LLP of St. Bride’s House, 10 Salisbury Square, London EC4Y 8H were appointed by the
Board as the new auditors of the Company.
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16.2 WK Corporate Finance LLP has given and has not withdrawn its consent to the inclusion in this
document of its accountants’ report in section A of Part XI (Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information)
of this document and references to its name in the form and context in which they are included and
has authorised the contents of that report for the purposes of Rule 5.5.3R(2)(f) of the Prospectus Rules.
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16.3 Blackwatch Petroleum Services Limited has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the
inclusion in this document of its Competent Person’s Report in Part XVI of this document and
references to its name in the form and context in which they are included and has authorised the
contents of that report for the purposes of Rule 5.5.3R(2)(f) of the Prospectus Rules.
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16.4 The Company has not had any employees since its incorporation and does not own any premises.
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16.5 The total expenses incurred (or to be incurred) by the Company in connection with the Placing,
Admission are approximately £335,500. The estimated Net Placing Proceeds, after deducting fees
and expenses in connection with the Placing and Admission, are approximately £2,664,500.
16.6 The information in this document which is sourced from third parties has been accurately produced
and, as far as the Company is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by that third
party, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or
misleading.
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17 AVAILABILITY OF DOCUMENTS
17.1 Copies of the following documents may be inspected at the offices of Optiva Securities, 49 Berkeley
Square, London W1J 5AX during usual business hours on any day (except Saturdays, Sundays and
public holidays) from the date of this document until completion of the Placing and Admission:17.1.1 the memorandum and articles of association of the Company;
17.1.2 audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the three financial years ended
30 June 2015, 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2017 and the unaudited interim financial statements
for the six months ended 31 December 2016 and for the six months ended 31 December
2017;
17.1.3 the accountants’ report by WK Corporate Finance LLP on the pro forma financial information
of the Group set out in section A of Part XI (Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information) of this
document;
17.1.4 the Competent Person’s Report set out in Part XVI of this document; and
17.1.5 the consent letters of WK Corporate Finance LLP and Blackwatch Petroleum Services Limited
referred to in paragraphs 16.2 and 16.3 of this Part XVII of this document;
17.1.6 this document.
17.2 In addition, this document will be published in electronic form and be available on the Company’s
website at www.uplandres.com, subject to certain access restrictions applicable to persons located
or resident outside the United Kingdom.
17.3 A copy of this document is also available, for inspection only, from the date of this document from the
National Storage Mechanism (www.morningstar.co.uk/uk/NSM).

Date: 18 June 2018
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PART XVIII
DEFINITIONS
The following definitions apply throughout this document (unless the context requires otherwise):“13th Onshore Licensing Round”

the 13th Onshore Oil and Gas Licensing Round opened by BERR in
November 2007;

“14th Onshore Licensing Round”

the 14th Onshore Oil and Gas Licensing Round opened by DECC
in July 2014;

“2015 Placing”

the placing of 130,000,000 new Ordinary Shares by Optiva
Securities at 1p per share, which was completed on 26 October
2015;

“2016 Placing”

the placing of 169,230,770 new Ordinary Shares by Optiva
Securities at 1.3p per share, which was completed on 1 December
2016;

“Acquisition”

a Company/Business Acquisition or a Licence/Permit Acquisition,
as the context may require;

“Admission”

admission of the Placing Shares to the standard listing segment of
the Official List and to trading on the LSE’s Main Market becoming
effective in accordance with the Listing Rules and the LSE
Admission Standards, as the context may require;

“AIM”

AIM, the market of that name operated by the London Stock
Exchange;

“Articles” or “Articles of
Association”

the articles of association of the Company in force from time to
time;

“Baron Oil”

Baron Oil plc (formerly Gold Oil plc until June 2013), incorporated
in England and Wales with registered no. 05098776 and whose
shares are admitted to trading on AIM;

“BERR”

the former UK Department for Business Enterprise and Regulatory
Reform, whose responsibilities in relation to energy (including oil &
gas) were transferred to DECC in October 2008;

“Blackwatch”

Blackwatch Petroleum Services Limited, incorporated in Scotland
with registered no. SC150618, an independent provider of
geological, petroleum engineering, well testing and drilling
engineering services to the international petroleum industry;

“Blocks”

licence block areas in the UK pre-defined by DECC in various
Onshore Licensing Rounds conducted by the OGA and based on
an Ordnance Survey National Grid 10km by 10km grid squares (or
part of);

“Business Day”

a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which banks are open
for business in London and the BVI;

“BVI”

the British Virgin Islands

“BVI Companies Act”

the BVI Business Companies Act, 2004, as amended or re-enacted
from time to time;
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“certificated” or
“in certificated form”

in relation to a share, warrant or other security, a share, warrant or
other security, title to which is recorded in the relevant register of
the share, warrant or other security concerned as being held in
certificated form (that is, not in CREST);

“Change of Control”

following a Company/Business Acquisition, the acquisition of
Control of the Company by any person or party (or by any group of
persons or parties who are acting in concert);

“Company”

Uplands Resources Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI
under the BVI Companies Act on 14 March 2012, with company
number 1701436;

“Company/Business Acquisition”

the acquisition by the Company or by any subsidiary (which may
be in the form of a merger, capital stock exchange, asset
acquisition, stock purchase, scheme of arrangement, reorganisation
or similar business combination) of an interest in an operating
company or business in the oil and/or gas sector as described in
Part VI (The Company’s Strategy and Business) (and, in such
context, references to a company without reference to a business
and references to a business without reference to a company shall
in both cases be construed to mean both a company or a
business);

“Competent Person’s Report” or
“CPR”

the report dated 24 April 2018 by Blackwatch Petroleum Services
Limited as set out in Part XVI of this document;

“Control”

(i) the power (whether by way of ownership of shares, proxy,
contract, agency or otherwise) to: (a) cast, or control the casting of,
more than 50 per cent, of the maximum number of votes that might
be cast at a general meeting of the Company; or (b) appoint or
remove all, or the majority, of the Directors or other equivalent
officers of the Company; or (c) give directions with respect to the
operating and financial policies of the Company with which the
Directors or other equivalent officers of the Company are obliged
to comply; and/or (ii) the holding beneficially of more than 50 per
cent, of the issued shares of the Company (excluding any issued
shares that carry no right to participate beyond a specified amount
in a distribution of either profits or capital), but excluding in the case
of each of (i) and (ii) above any such power or holding that arises as
a result of the issue of Ordinary Shares by the Company in
connection with a Company/Business Acquisition;

“Conversion Shares”

any new Ordinary Shares which may be allotted and issued on
conversion by the Company of any of the Convertible Loan Notes
(if such Convertible Loan Notes are actually issued by the
Company);

“Convertible Loan Note Instrument” the loan note instrument dated 7 March 2018 creating £3,500,000
of Convertible Loan Notes;
“Convertible Loan Notes”

unsecured, interest free loan notes created by the Company
pursuant to the Convertible Loan Note Instrument (and convertible
into new Ordinary Shares at the sole option of the Company);

“Convertible Loan Notes Facility”

the facility available to the Company as a result of commitments in
writing obtained from the Facility Providers, to call upon the Facility
Providers at any time on or prior to 31 December 2018 to subscribe
for up to £3,500,000 of Convertible Loan Notes;
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“Corallian Energy”

Corallian Energy Limited, incorporated in England and Wales with
registered no. 09835991;

“Corfe Energy”

Corfe Energy Limited, incorporated in England and Wales with
registered no. 06030678;

“CREST” or
“CREST System”

the paperless settlement system operated by Euroclear enabling
securities to be evidenced otherwise than by certificates and
transferred otherwise than by written instruments;

“CREST Regulations”

The Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 (SI 2001 No. 3755),
as amended;

“DECC”

the UK Department of Energy & Climate Change (which became part
of the UK Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy in
July 2016);

“Deed Poll”

the deed entered into by the Depositary for the creation and issue
of DIs, a summary of which is contained in Part XV of this document;

“Depositary”

Computershare Investor Services plc of The Pavilions, Bridgwater
Road, Bristol BS13 8AE;

“DIs” or
“Depositary Interests”

the depositary interests representing an entitlement to Ordinary
Shares, created pursuant to the Deed Poll and further details of
which are contained in Part XV of this document;

“Directors”,
“Board” or
“Board of Directors”

the directors of the Company, whose names appear in Part VII (The
Company and the Board), or the board of directors from time to
time of the Company, as the context requires, and “Director” is to
be construed accordingly;

“Disclosure Guidance and
Transparency Rules” or
“DTRs”

the disclosure guidance and transparency rules of the UK Listing
Authority made in accordance with section 73A of FSMA as
amended from time to time;

“EEA”

the European Economic Area;

“EEA States”

the member states of the European Union and the European
Economic Area, each an “EEA State”;

“Enlarged Share Capital”

the aggregate 579,012,060 Ordinary Shares which will be in issue
on completion of the Placing and Admission (but, for the avoidance
of doubt, excluding any Conversion Shares);

“EU”

the Member States of the European Union;

“Euroclear”

Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited;

“Europa Oil & Gas”

Europa Oil & Gas Limited, incorporated in England and Wales with
registered no. 03093716, a wholly-owned subsidiary of AIM-listed,
Europa Oil & Gas (Holdings) plc;

“Executive Director”

Stephen Staley, the Chief Executive of the Company;

“Existing Share Capital” or
“Existing Ordinary Shares”

the 459,012,060 Ordinary Shares in issue at the date of this
document;

“Facility Providers”

Tune Assets Limited, Norza Zakaria (Chairman of the Company) and
clients of Optiva Securities;
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“FCA”

the UK Financial Conduct Authority;

“FSMA”

the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 of the UK, as
amended;

“general meeting”

a meeting of the Shareholders of the Company or a class of
Shareholders of the Company (as the context requires);

“Group”

the Company and its subsidiaries from time to time;

“IFRS”

International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union;

“INEOS Upstream”

INEOS Upstream Limited, incorporated in England and Wales with
registered no. 09121775, a wholly-owned subsidiary of INEOS
Group Holdings S.A.;

“Licence/Permit Acquisition”

the acquisition by the Company or by any subsidiary, or the award
to the Company or to any subsidiary, of a licence or permit (which
may be on a sole or joint bidder basis) or the conclusion of a farm-in
agreement in relation to any existing licence or permit, in any such
case to explore, appraise and/or develop oil and/or gas assets, as
described in Part VI (The Company’s Strategy and Business);

“Listing Rules”

the listing rules made by the UK Listing Authority under section 73A
of FSMA as amended from time to time;

“London Stock Exchange”

London Stock Exchange plc;

“LSE Admission Standards”

the admission and disclosure standards issued by the London Stock
Exchange for securities admitted or seeking to be admitted to
trading on the London Stock Exchange’s markets (other than AIM)
as amended from time to time;

“LSE’s Main Market”

the London Stock Exchange’s main market for listed securities;

“LTIP”

the Upland Resources Limited Executive Long Term Incentive Plan
approved and adopted by the Board on 5 July 2016, a summary of
the rules of which Plan are set out in paragraph 6.2 of Part XVII of
this document;

“MAR”

the Regulation (EU) No 596/2014 on market abuse;

“Memorandum”

the memorandum of association of the Company in force from time
to time;

“Net Placing Proceeds”

the funds received on closing of the Placing less any expenses paid
or payable in connection with the Placing and Admission;

“Non-Executive Directors”

Norza Zakaria, Jeremy King and Bolhassan Bin Haji Di;

“Official List”

the official list maintained by the UK Listing Authority;

“OGA”

the UK Oil and Gas Authority, the executive agency of DECC;

“Optiva Securities”

Optiva Securities Limited, financial adviser, broker and placing agent
to the Company, which is authorised and regulated by the FCA;

“Ordinary Shares”

no par value shares of the Company including, if the context
requires, the Placing Shares;
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“Original Listing”

admission of the 213,437,861 Ordinary Shares then in issue to the
standard listing segment of the Official List and to trading on the
LSE’s Main Market, which took place on 26 October 2015;

“PEDL”

a UK petroleum exploration and development licence granted by the
Secretary of State or the OGA, which confers on the licensee(s) the
exclusive right to explore for, appraise, develop and produce both
conventional and unconventional (including shale gas & oil) fluid
hydrocarbons within the PEDL licensed area;

“PEDL 180”

the PEDL dated 1 September 2008 (as varied on 31 March 2014)
entered into by Europa Oil & Gas and Valhalla Oil and Gas Limited
with The Secretary of State for Business, Enterprise and Regulatory
Reform in respect of Block SE90a;

“PEDL 182”

the PEDL dated 1 September 2008 (as varied on 6 November 2009
and 31 March 2014) entered into originally by Celtique Energie
Petroleum Ltd and Egdon Resources U.K. Limited (as operator) with
The Secretary of State for Business, Enterprise and Regulatory
Reform in respect of Block SE91b;

“PEDL 299”

the PEDL dated 15 September 2016 (and announced by the OGA
on 5 October 2016) entered into by INEOS Upstream (as operator),
Europa Oil & Gas, Shale Petroleum (UK) Limited and Upland UK with
The Secretary of State for Energy and Climate Change in respect of
Block SK46c;

“Placees”

those persons who have signed forms of confirmation attached to
Placing Letters;

“Placing”

the conditional placing of the Placing Shares by Optiva Securities at
the Placing Price pursuant to the Placing Agreement;

“Placing Agreement”

the conditional agreement dated 13 June 2018 between the
Company and Optiva Securities, a summary of which is set out in
paragraph 12.1 of Part XVII of this document;

“Placing Letters”

the letters dated 13 June 2018 from Optiva Securities (as placing
agent on behalf of the Company) to Placees inviting irrevocable
conditional applications for subscription for Placing Shares;

“Placing Price”

2.5p per Placing Share;

“Placing Shares”

the 120,000,000 new Ordinary Shares to be allotted and issued to
Placees pursuant to the Placing;

“Premium Listing”

a premium listing under Chapter 6 of the Listing Rules;

“Production Licence”

a UK petroleum production licence granted by the Secretary of State
or the OGA, which confers on the licensee(s) the exclusive right to
search for and bore for, and get, petroleum in the Production Licence
licensed area;

“Prospectus Directive”

Directive 2003/71/EC (and any amendments thereto, including
Directive 2010/73/EU, to the extent implemented in the relevant
member state and Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, to the extent in force
as at the date of this document), and includes any relevant
implementing measures in each EEA State that has implemented
Directive 2003/71/EC;
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“Prospectus Rules”

the prospectus rules of the UK Listing Authority made in accordance
with section 73A of FSMA, as amended from time to time;

“Registrar”

Computershare Investor Services (BVI) Limited or any other registrar
appointed by the Company from time to time;

“Resolution of Directors”

has the meaning specified in the Articles;

“Resolution of Members”

has the meaning specified in the Articles;

“Reverse Takeover”

a transaction defined as a ‘reverse takeover’ under section 5.6 of
Chapter 5 of the Listing Rules;

“Secretary of State”

the Secretary of State for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy
(and his predecessor the Secretary of State for Energy and Climate
Change and before that the Secretary of State for Business,
Enterprise and Regulatory Reform) as relevant;

“Securities Act”

the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended;

“Shale Petroleum (UK)”

Europa Oil & Gas (UK) Limited, until 5 September 2016 called Shale
Petroleum (UK) Limited, incorporated in England and Wales with
registered no. 09131600, since 15 August 2016 a wholly-owned
subsidiary of AIM-listed, Europa Oil & Gas (Holdings) plc;

“share register”

the register of members of the Company;

“Shareholder”

a holder of Ordinary Shares (including Depositary Interests), as the
context requires;

“Share Option Scheme”

the Upland Resources Limited unapproved share option scheme
adopted by the Board in August 2014 (as adopted in restated form
on 12 October 2015), a summary of the rules of which Scheme are
set out in paragraph 6.1 of Part XVII of this document;

“Special Resolution of Members”

has the meaning specified in the Articles;

“Standard Listing”

a standard listing under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules;

“Takeover Code”

the UK City Code on Takeovers and Mergers;

“UK Corporate Governance Code” the UK Corporate Governance Code issued by the Financial
Reporting Council in the UK from time to time;
“UKCS”

the UK Continental Shelf;

“UKCS Block”

an acreage sub-division of the UKCS measuring approximately
10 x 20 kms and forming part of a quadrant;

“UK Listing Authority” or
“UKLA”

the FCA in its capacity as the ‘competent authority’ for listing in the
UK pursuant to Part VI of FSMA;

“UK Offshore Production
Licence P2235” or
“Licence P2235”

the UK seaward production licence P2235 dated 16 April 2015
entered into originally by Fyrd Energy Limited with The Secretary of
State for Energy and Climate Change in respect of UKCS
Block 11/24b;

“uncertificated” or
“uncertificated form”

in relation to a share or other security, a share or other security, title
to which is recorded in the relevant register of the share or other
security concerned as being held in uncertificated form (that is,
in CREST) and title to which may be transferred by using CREST;
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“United Kingdom” or
“UK”

the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland;

“United States” or
“U.S.”

the United States of America;

“Upland UK”

Upland Resources (UK Onshore) Limited, incorporated in England &
Wales with registered no. 08843282, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company;

“VAT”

UK value added tax/(i) within the EU, any tax imposed by any Member
State in conformity with the Directive of the Council of the European
Union on the common system of value added tax (2006/112/EC),
and (ii) outside the EU, any tax corresponding to, or substantially
similar to, the common system of value added tax referred to in
paragraph (i) of this definition;

“Wick Deep Prospect”

the volume of rock in which hydrocarbons have been predicted to
exist known as the ‘Wick Deep Prospect’;

“Wick Farm-in”

the farm-in by Upland UK (by way of assignment from Corallian
Energy) to a 40% interest in UK Offshore Production Licence
P2235 (including the Wick Prospect) pursuant to the Wick Farm-in
Agreement;

“Wick Farm-in Agreement”

the agreement dated 29 November 2017 (as varied on 28 March
2018 and 27 April 2018) entered into between Corallian Energy
(1) and Upland UK (2) in respect of the Wick Farm-in by Upland
UK, a summary of which is set out in paragraph 12.6 of Part XVII of
this document and which was completed on 24 May 2018;

“Wick Prospect”

the volume of rock in which hydrocarbons have been predicted to
exist known as the ‘Wick Prospect’;

“Wick Well”

the well to be drilled on the licensed area of UK Offshore Production
Licence P2235 to explore the Wick Prospect;

“Wressle Farm-ins”

the proposed (but aborted) farm-in by Upland UK (by way of
assignment from Europa Oil & Gas) to a 10% interest in each of
PEDL 180 and PEDL 182 pursuant to the Wressle Farm-in
Agreement, which Upland UK terminated on 25 January 2018;

“Wressle Farm-in Agreement”

the conditional agreement dated 24 November 2016 (as varied on
21 February 2017 and 26 September 2017) entered into between
Europa Oil & Gas (1) and Upland UK (2) in respect of the proposed
(but aborted) Wressle Farm-ins by Upland UK, a summary of which
is set out in paragraph 12.8 of Part XVII of this document and which
Upland UK terminated on 25 January 2018;

“£” or
“UK Sterling”

pounds sterling, the lawful currency of the UK;

“US Dollar” or
“US$”

United States dollars.

References to a “company” in this document shall be construed so as to include any company, corporation
or other body corporate, wherever and however incorporated or established.
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PART XIX
GLOSSARY
“bbl”

barrel of oil

“bcf”

billion cubic feet

“boepd”

barrels of oil equivalent per day

“bopd”

barrels of oil per day

“CPR”

Competent person’s report

“EWT”

extended well test

“FDP”

field development plan

“MD”

measured depth

“MMbbls”

million barrels of oil

“MMboe”

million barrels of oil equivalent

“TD”

total depth

“TVDSS”

true vertical depth sub-sea
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